NEVADA STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS

IN THE MATTER OF CHARGES AND COMPLAINT AGAINST
GEORGE PETER CHAMBERS, JR., M.D.

ADJUDICATION

Case No: 22-27891-1
Date: September 15, 2023
PUBLIC COPY

INDEX

[EY

. COMPLAINT

2. HEARING OFFICER’S FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

3. HEARING TRANSCRIPT

4. EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE

5. DOCUMENTS FILED INTO THE DOCKET







9600 Gateway Drive
Reno, Nevada 89521
(775) 688-2559

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL
Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners

m AL N

~N o

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

BEFORE THE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS
OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* %k % %k %

In the Matter of Charges and Complaint Case No. 22-27891-1
Against: FILED
GEORGE PETER CHAMBERS, M.D. SEP 21 202

Respondent. NEVADA STATE BOARD OF

MEDICAb EXAMINERS
By: = s

COMPLAINT

The Investigative Committee! (IC) of the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners
(Board), by and through Brandee Mooneyhan, J.D., Deputy General Counsel and attorney for the
IC, having a reasonable basis to believe that George Peter Chambers, M.D., (Respondent) violated
the provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 630 and Nevada Administrative Code
(NAC) Chapter 630 (collectively, the Medical Practice Act), hereby issues its Complaint, stating the
IC’s charges and allegations as follows:

1. Respondent was at all times relative to this Complaint a medical doctor holding an
active license to practice medicine in the State of Nevada (License No. 10476). Respondent was
originally licensed by the Board on April 30, 2003, and specializes in obstetrics and gynecology.

2. As noted by the Committee on Ethics of the American College of Obstetricians and
Gynecologists (ACOG), the “relationship between obstetrician-gynecologists and their
patients . . . requires a high level of trust and professional responsibility,” because the practice of
this medical specialty “includes interactions in times of intense emotion and vulnerability for
patients and involves sensitive physical examinations and medically necessary disclosure of
private information about symptoms and experiences.” See AGOC Committee Opinion No. 796,

Sexual Misconduct (January 2020).

! The Investigative Committee of the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners, at the time this formal
Complaint was authorized for filing, was composed of Board members Victor M. Muro, M.D., Chowdhury H. Ahsan,
M.D., Ph.D., FACC, and Ms. Pamela J. Beal.
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3. Physician behavior, gestures, or expressions that are seductive, sexually suggestive,
disrespectful of patient privacy, or sexually demeaning to a patient constitute sexual impropriety,
and are a form of physician sexual misconduct. Id.

4. In professional settings, “obstetrician-gynecologists should strictly avoid sexual
innuendo, sexually suggestive humor, and sexually provocative remarks,” and even in nonclinical

communication with current patients, should maintain professional boundaries. /d.

PATIENT A
5. Patient A% was a thirty-six (36) year-old female at the time of the events at issue.
6. Patient A sought surgical repair of a damaged perineum, and Patient A’s regular

gynecologist referred Patient A to Respondent for consultation. Patient A presented to
Respondent’s medical office on November 17, 2020, for the desired consultation.

7. After telling Patient A to undress for a physical examination, Respondent told
Patient A to keep her personal cellular phone nearby, as he would be using it to take pictures
during the examination.

8. During the course of Patient A’s examination, Respondent used Patient A’s cellular
phone to take approximately twelve (12) photographs of Patient A’s vaginal and anal areas.

9. Among the photographs taken by Respondent on November 17, 2020, is a
photograph of him inserting four (4) fingers in Patient A’s vagina.

10.  Of the approximately twelve (12) photographs he took of Patient A on
November 17, 2020, Respondent directed her to send two (2) of the photos, which showed her
vulva, to his cellular phone via text message.

11.  The photograph of Respondent inserting four (4) fingers into Patient A’s vagina
was not one of the photographs he asked her to text to him.

12.  Patient A was uncomfortable texting the pictures to Respondent’s cellular phone, in
part because she had no assurances that the data was being exchanged securely, how the pictures
might be used, or who might have access to them once they were sent.

/11

2 Patient A’s true identity is not disclosed herein to protect her privacy, but is disclosed in the Patient
Designation served upon Respondent along with a copy of this Complaint.
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Nonetheless, Patient A did as Respondent directed and sent the two (2) photographs via text
message to the phone number Respondent provided.

13. In his medical record of the November 17, 2020, encounter, Respondent indicated
that he inserted two (2) fingers in Patient A’s vagina, stating: “On sizing the introital opening with
my two examining fingers, the vagina opened to a width of 7cm horizontally and vertically.”

14.  In his response to a request for information in the IC’s investigation of this matter,
Respondent repeated his assertion that he inserted only two (2) fingers in Patient A’s vagina
during the November 17, 2020, encounter, stating that he “inserted one finger into her vagina” in
his evaluation of her pelvic floor muscles, and “then inserted [his] two examining fingers to check
the tonicity of her pubococcygeus muscles by asking her to squeeze her vagina.”

15.  Respondent did not document in the medical record, nor inform the IC during its
investigation, that during the November 17, 2020, encounter with Patient A, he inserted four (4)
fingers into her vagina.

16.  After his physical examination of Patient A, Respondent informed Patient A that
during the examination, he had attempted to “fist” her, that is, insert his entire hand into her
vagina, see Artemie v. State, No. A-10463, 2011 WL 5904452, at *8 (Alaska Ct. App. Nov. 23,
2011), but had been unable to insert his entire hand, and he showed her how much of his hand he
had been able to insert.

17.  Respondent also showed Patient A the two (2) photographs that she had texted him,
which he had printed following the physical examination, and used them to explain the procedures
he proposed to perform on her. Respondent included the two (2) photographs in Patient A’s
medical record.

18. After her encounter with Respondent on November 17, 2020, Patient A suffered
pain and tenderness in her genital area.

19.  The other approximately ten (10) photographs Respondent took of Patient A’s
vaginal and rectal area, which he did not direct her to send to him, were not for purposes of
medical examination or treatment.

111
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20. Respondent’s action in taking numerous pictures of Patient A’s vaginal and rectal
areas that were not for purposes of medical examination or treatment, as well as using the
nonmedical term “fisting” and informing Patient A that he had attempted to do so, humiliated and
sexually demeaned Patient A.

21.  Respondent’s action in taking numerous photographs of Patient A’s vaginal and
rectal areas on an unsecured cellular telephone and directing Patient A to text some of those
photographs to him, in the absence of any assurance of how the photographs would be protected
from improper access, was disrespectful of Patient A’s privacy.

COUNT1
NRS 630.301(6) — Disruptive Behavior

22.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

23.  NRS 630.301(6) provides that disruptive behavior with patients that interferes with
patient care or has an adverse impact on the quality of care rendered to a patient is grounds for
initiating disciplinary action against a physician.

24.  Respondent’s behavior in taking approximately ten (10) photographs of Patient A’s
vaginal and rectal areas that were not for purposes of medical examination or treatment was
humiliating and sexually demeaning to Patient A and thus adversely affected the quality of care
rendered to her.

25. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

COUNT IT
NRS 630.301(6) — Disruptive Behavior

26.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

27.  NRS 630.301(6) provides that disruptive behavior with patients that interferes with
patient care or has an adverse impact on the quality of care rendered to a patient is grounds for

initiating disciplinary action against a physician.
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28.  Respondent’s behavior in telling Patient A that he had attempted to “fist” her was
humiliating and sexually demeaning to Patient A and thus adversely affected the quality of care
rendered to her.

29. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

COUNT 111
NRS 630.306(1)(b)(1) — Engaging in Conduct Intended to Deceive

30.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

31.  NRS 630.306(1)(b)(1) provides that “engaging in any conduct, which is intended to
deceive” constitutes grounds for initiating disciplinary action against a physician.

32.  Respondent’s statement in the medical record of his encounter with Patient A on
November 17, 2020, that he measured Patient A’s introital opening with “two examining fingers”
and his failure to otherwise document that he had inserted four (4) fingers into Patient A’s vagina
during that encounter was calculated to conceal that he had inserted four (4) fingers into Patient
A’s vagina.

33.  Respondent’s statement in his response to the IC’s investigative inquiry that he had
inserted no more than two (2) fingers into Patient A’s vagina during the November 17, 2020,
encounter was calculated to conceal that Respondent had inserted four (4) fingers into Patient A’s
vagina.

34. By knowingly making statements designed to conceal that he had inserted four (4)
fingers into Patient A’s vagina during his November 17, 2020, encounter with her, Respondent
engaged in conduct intended to deceive the Board or any other authority examining his record of
the encounter.

35. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

111/
iy
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COUNT 1V
NRS 630.3062(1)(a) — Failure to Maintain Accurate Medical Records

36. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

37.  NRS 630.3062(1)(a) provides that the “failure to maintain timely, legible, accurate
and complete medical records relating to the diagnosis, treatment and care of a patient” constitute
grounds for initiating discipline against a licensee.

38.  Respondent failed to maintain accurate and complete medical records relating to
the diagnosis, treatment and care of Patient A when he failed to document in the record of his
November 17, 2020, encounter with her that he had inserted four (4) fingers into her vagina during
the encounter.

39. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

PATIENT B

40.  Patient B® was a thirty-five (35) year-old female at the time of the events at issue.

41.  Patient B was a patient of Respondent for several years, and had an appointment
with him on October 29, 2018.

42.  During his October 29, 2018, encounter with Patient B, Respondent explained that
he would pay her or other patients one thousand dollars ($1,000) to allow him to take, or arrange
for the taking of, nude photographs of the patient(s), ostensibly to use in an advertisement for his
services.

43.  The nude photographs for which Respondent offered to pay Patient B or other
patients were not for purposes of medical examination or treatment.

44.  Telling Patient B during a medical encounter that he would pay her or other
patients one thousand dollars ($1,000) to pose for nude photographs that were not for purposes of
medical examination or treatment was sexually suggestive and/or sexually demeaning to Patient B

and violated the professional boundaries of a medical encounter between a doctor and a patient.

3 Patient B’s true identity is not disclosed herein to protect her privacy, but is disclosed in the Patient
Designation served upon Respondent along with a copy of this Complaint.
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COUNT V
NRS 630.301(7) — Engaging in Conduct That Violates the Trust of a Patient and Exploits the
Relationship With the Patient for Financial or Other Personal Gain

45.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

46. NRS 630.307(7) provides that “engaging in conduct that violates the trust of the
patient and exploits the relationship between the physician and the patient for financial or other
personal gain” constitutes grounds for initiating discipline against a physician.

47. In expressing to Patient B in the midst of a medical encounter that he would pay
her or other patients one thousand dollars ($1,000) to pose for nude photographs for Respondent
to use for purposes other than for medical examination or treatment, Respondent violated
Patient B’s trust and exploited his relationship with her in order to realize financial or other
personal gain for himself.

48. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

PATIENT C

49.  Patient C* was a twenty-seven (27) year-old female at the time of the events at
issue.

50.  Patient C visited Respondent’s practice in 2019 for routine gynecological care and
to address dysmenorrhea and pelvic pain.

51. At an encounter on or about October 15, 2019, Patient C mentioned to Respondent
that she was struggling financially.

52. After the October 15, 2019, encounter, Respondent told Patient C he was seeking
models to participate in a photography session in which photos would be taken of the model’s
vaginal area and nude body, ostensibly for inclusion in Respondent’s “portfolio” of work and/or

an advertisement. Respondent offered to pay Patient C one thousand dollars ($1,000) to

111

4 Patient C’s true identity is not disclosed herein to protect her privacy, but is disclosed in the Patient
Designation served upon Respondent along with a copy of this Complaint.
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participate in such a photography session, as well as give her a thumb drive with the “boudoir”
photos resulting from the session.

53.  Patient C thought it was odd that Respondent was soliciting photographs of her
vaginal area as representative of his work because he had never performed any cosmetic
procedure on her genitals.

54.  The nude photographs for which Respondent offered to pay Patient C were not for
purposes of medical examination or treatment.

55. Offering to pay Patient C one thousand dollars ($1,000) to pose for nude
photographs that were not for purposes of medical examination or treatment was sexually
suggestive and/or sexually demeaning to Patient C and violated the professional boundaries of a
medical encounter between a doctor and a patient.

COUNT VI
NRS 630.301(7) — Engaging in Conduct That Violates the Trust of a Patient and Exploits the
Relationship With the Patient for Financial or Other Personal Gain

56.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

57.  NRS 630.307(7) provides that “engaging in conduct that violates the trust of the
patient and exploits the relationship between the physician and the patient for financial or other
personal gain” constitutes grounds for initiating discipline against a physician.

58. In offering to pay Patient C one thousand dollars ($1,000) to pose for nude
photographs for Respondent to use for purposes other than for appropriate medical examination or
treatment, Respondent violated Patient C’s trust and exploited his relationship with her in order to
realize financial or other personal gain for himself.

59. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

PATIENTS A, B, AND C
60.  As set forth by the above-outlined facts, Respondent has demonstrated a pattern of

failing to use the reasonable care, skill, or knowledge ordinarily used by obstetrician-
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gynecologists in good standing by repeatedly engaging in sexual improprieties with more than one
patient.

61.  As set forth by the above-outlined facts, Respondent repeatedly exploited his
relationships with patients and violated patients’ trust by engaging in sexual improprieties that
constitute sexual misconduct.

62. Respondent’s repeated acts of sexual misconduct and violations of the Medical
Practice Act as set forth above undermine the public’s trust and respect for the medical profession
and thereby bring the medical profession into disrepute.

COUNT VII
NRS 630.306(1)(g) — Continual Failure to Practice Medicine Properly

63.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

64. NRS 630.306(1)(g) provides that “continual failure to exercise the skill or diligence
or use the methods ordinarily exercised under the same circumstances by physicians in good
standing practicing in the same specialty or field” constitutes grounds for initiating discipline
against a physician.

65. By repeatedly engaging in sexual misconduct with Patients A, B, and C, as set forth
above, Respondent has continually failed to exercise the skill and diligence and use the methods
ordinarily exercised under the same circumstances by physicians in good standing practicing in his
field of obstetrics and gynecology.

66. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

COUNT VIII
NRS 630.301(9) - Disreputable Conduct

67.  All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are hereby incorporated by
reference as though fully set forth herein.

68. NRS 630.301(9) provides that engaging in conduct that brings the medical

profession into disrepute constitutes grounds for initiating discipline against a physician.
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69.  As demonstrated by the above-outlined facts, by repeatedly engaging in sexual
misconduct and by repeatedly violating his patients’ trust and exploiting his relationship with
them, Respondent engaged in conduct that brings the medical profession into disrepute.

70. By reason of the foregoing, Respondent is subject to discipline by the Board as
provided in NRS 630.352.

WHEREFORE, the Investigative Committee prays:

L. That the Board give Respondent notice of the charges herein against him and give
him notice that he may file an answer to the Complaint herein as set forth in
NRS 630.339(2) within twenty (20) days of service of the Complaint;

2. That the Board set a time and place for a formal hearing after holding an Early
Case Conference pursuant to NRS 630.339(3);

3. That the Board determine what sanctions to impose if it determines there has been
a violation or violations of the Medical Practice Act committed by Respondent;

4. That the Board award fees and costs for the investigation and prosecution of this
case as outlined in NRS 622.400;

5. That the Board make, issue and serve on Respondent its findings of fact,
conclusions of law and order, in writing, that includes the sanctions imposed; and

6. That the Board take such other and further action as may be just and proper in these
premises.

DATED this Zﬁfday of September, 2022.

INVESTIGATIVE COMMITTEE OF THE
NEVADA STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS

By: )524/14(4:)’}/] WW_
BRANDEE MOONEYHAN, £D.
Deputy General Counsel
9600 Gateway Drive
Reno, NV 89521
Tel: (775) 688-2559
Email: mooneyhanb@medboard.nv.gov
Attorney for the Investigative Committee
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VERIFICATION

STATE OF NEVADA )
| 88
COUNTY OF CLARK )

Victor M. Muro, M.D., having been duly sworn, hereby deposes and states under penalty
of perjury that he is the Chairman of the Investigative Committee of the Nevada State Board of
Medical Examiners that authorized the Complaint against the Respondent herein; that he has read
the foregoing Complaint; and that based upon information discovered in the course of the
investigation into a complaint against Respondent, he believes that the allegations and charges in
the foregoing Complaint against Respondent are true, accurate and correct.

DATED this ! day of September, 2022.

INVESTIGATIVE COMMITTEE OF THE
NEVADA STATE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS

By: #ﬁl)_mgﬂlm
VIETOR M. MURO, M.D.

Chairman of the Investigative Committee
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS
OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

E I A

In the Matter of Charges and Case No. 22-27891-1

Complaint Against FE LE D

GEORGE PETER CHAMBERS, M.D., AUG 2 1 2023
NEVADA STATE BOARD OF

MED EXAMINERS
Respondent. By: W

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS/SYNOPSIS OF RECORD!

Introduction and History

This matter was heard on May 2, May 3, June 1, and June 2, 2023. This Hearing Officer
was present in the Reno office of the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners (the “Board”) along
with Donald White, J.D. on behalf of the Investigative Committee (the “IC”). Appearing and
present in the Las Vegas office of the Nevada Board of Medical Examiners Respondent, George
Peter Chambers, M.D. (“Respondent” or “Dr. Chambers”) and co-counsel for the IC, Brandee
Mooneyhan, J.D.

Patients A and B, and witnesses for the Board, were present and appeared from the Las
Vegas office of the Board. The remaining witnesses were present and appeared in the Board’s Reno
office, except for the IC’s witnesses Patient C and Ms. Casey Carden, and Respondent’s expert
witness, Michael Goodman, M.D., all of which appeared by Zoom videoconference.

The Complaint in this matter was filed by the IC on September 21, 2022, with the Answer
and Notice of Defense filed by Respondent’s former counsel on October 18, 2022. Both an Early
Case Conference and a Prehearing Conference were held. Attorneys for Respondent withdrew as

counsel of record on January 18, 2023, and requested a continuance of the hearing on behalf of the

! Incorporated herein by reference is the full Transcript of the Hearing Proceedings of the above dates, which
is provided herewith as Exhibit A and referred to herein under the designation “TR,” as well as the exhibits admitted
at the hearing, which are indexed and provided herewith as numbers for the IC Exhibits and letters for Respondent’s
Exhibits. 1




O 0 NN SN N AW N

NN N N NN N N N e e e e e e e e e
@ q & W A W N e S o 0NN NNt R W N= O

Respondent, which was granted by the undersigned Hearing Officer, and, in the interest of due
process, additional time was allowed for Respondent to retain counsel and to determine whether his
Errors and Omissions/Malpractice Insurance would cover his representation. Respondent
ultimately chose to represent himself in this proceeding.

Motions: Although other motions were filed in this matter, some were abandoned when
Respondent’s former counsel withdrew from representation. The motions of note that did reach
decision were as follows: (1) IC’s Motion to Protect Patient Likenesses, which was decided in the
IC’s favor. Exhibits 12, 19, 24, 26, and 28; and (2) Respondent’s Motion to Exclude Testimony of
Peer Reviewer Witness, which was decided in the IC’s favor. Exhibits 13, 16, 25, 29. Also of note
is the Stipulation and Order filed on February 22, 2023, addressing Pre-Hearing issues, such as the
requirement for chaperones to be present, when the hearing was continued. Exhibit 22.

Media: The undersigned Hearing Officer is aware that this matter has garnered media
attention but represents that she has no knowledge of the contents of any media reports outside any
statements made by those involved with these proceedings. In addition, the media attended these
hearings and was informed at the beginning of each session of Exhibit 28, the Order Granting
Investigative Committee’s Motion to Protect Patient Likenesses. The undersigned hearing officer
was also contacted twice regarding dates for hearings and these Findings.

Approach: Given the scope of this matter, including approximately 22 hours of hearing over
three days and 750 pages of hearing transcript, emphasis will be given to the summary of the
testimony. Also of note, some of the witnesses were taken out-of-order or witness direct and cross-
examination were broken up in order to be as efficient as possible and to accommodate witnesses’
schedules.

All witnesses were sworn. The rule of exclusion was invoked.

Allegations

The Complaint alleges, charges and are premised upon as follows:

Count I, NRS 630.301(6), Disruptive Behavior, premised upon the taking photographs of
Patient A;

117
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Count II, NRS 630.301(6), Disruptive Behavior, premised upon the allegation that
Respondent told Patient A that he attempted to “fist” her;

Count ITI, NRS 630.306(1)(b)(1), Engaging in Conduct Intended to Deceive, premised upon
the allegation that the Respondent used four fingers to examine Patient A but documented that he
used only two fingers in the medical record;

Count IV, NRS 630.3062(1)(a), Failure to Maintain Proper Medical Records, premised upon
the allegation that the Respondent used four fingers to examine Patient A but documented that he
used only two fingers in the medical record,

Count V, NRS 630.301(7), Engaging in Conduct That Violates the Trust of a Patient and
Exploits the Relationship of a Patient for Financial or Other Personal Gain, premised upon the
allegation that the Respondent offered to pay Patient B $1000 if she would pose as a nude model
while she was still in the examining room,;

Count VI, NRS 630.301(7), Engaging in Conduct That Violates the Trust of a Patient and
Exploits the Relationship of a Patient for Financial or Other Personal Gain, premised upon the
allegation that the Respondent offered to pay Patient C $1000 if she would pose as a nude model
while she was still in the examining room;

Count VII, NRS 630.306(1)(g), Continual Failure to Practice Medicine Properly, premised
upon the allegation that “[b]y repeatedly engaging in sexual misconduct with Patients A, B, and C,
as set forth above, Respondent has continually failed to exercise the skill and diligence and use the
methods ordinarily exercised under the same circumstances by physicians in good standing
practicing in his field of obstetrics and gynecology.” Complaint, p. 9, Il. 17-20; and

Count VIIL, NRS 630.301(9), Disreputable Conduct, premised upon the allegation that “by
repeatedly engaging in sexual misconduct and by repeatedly violating his patients’ trust and
exploiting his relationship with them Respondent engaged in conduct that brings the medical
profession into disrepute.” Complaint, p. 10, Il1-3.

Witnesses and Testimony

In relation to the IC’s case, the undersigned hearing officer heard from the following

witnesses:
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Johnna LaRue, Deputy Chief of Investigations and Compliance Officer of the Nevada State
Board of Medical Examiners (Vol. I, TR 39-54; Recalled Vol. III, 174-195);

Respondent George Peter Chambers, M.D. (Vol. I, TR 56-97; Vol. II, 198-207;

Patient A (Vol. I, TR 100-154);

Patient B (Vol. II, 9-44);

IC’s Expert Witness Richard Rafael, M.D. (Vol. II, 44-164),

Patient C (Vol 3, TR 163-172)

Casey Carden (Vol. 3, TR 128-160).

In relation to Respondent Dr. Chambers’ case, the undersigned hearing officer heard from
the following witnesses:

Respondent’s Expert Witness Michael Goodman, M.D. (Vol. 3, TR 74-120; TR 197-254);

Brittany Turner (Vol. II, TR 188-197);

Respondent George P. Chambers, M.D. (Vol.2, TR 198-207; Vol. 3, TR 11-71; Vol. IV, TR
33-53).

MAY 2. 2023 HEARING

IC’s Witnesses
NSBME Deputy Chief of Investigations Johnna LaRue

The first witness called by the IC was Johnna LaRue, the Deputy Chief of Investigations of
the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners, who the IC called to authenticate exhibits one
through ten. Vol. I, TR 27-31.

Cross-examination of Investigator LaRue was utilized primarily to demonstrate her limited
knowledge of the phrase “fisting,” at issue in the case, although Ms. LaRue stated that she knew
what it meant and based her answer on review of a photograph supplied by Patient A and her own
personal opinion. Vol. I, TR 53-54.

Investigator LaRue was called later in the proceedings as a rebuttal witness with regard to
Respondent’s testimony about producing advertisements in Adult Video Network (AVN)
publications. Vol. III, TR174-197.
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Respondent George Peter Chambers, M.D.

The second witness called and questioned by counsel Ms. Mooneyhan for the IC was
Respondent Dr. Chambers himself. Vol. I TR 56-97.

Respondent was questioned and testified as to his professional credentials, i.e., that he was
previously licensed in Colorado and New York in addition to being licensed in Nevada, but that he
allowed those licenses to lapse as he did not intend to practice in those states again. Vol. I TR 57.
Respondent also testified that he is both a fellow and Diplomat of the American College of
Obstetricians and Gynecologists and described the process of his certification in sexual health and
treatment by the American Academy of Antiaging, which training consisted of four to five days on
each module in four different cities. Vol. I TR 59-61. In addition, Respondent answered questions
about his professional affiliation and training with the National Society of Cosmetic Physicians.
Vol. I TR 62.

Respondent described his current medical practice as encompassing the whole scope of OB-
GYN including sexual health medicine which includes cosmetic gynecology. Vol. ITR 62-64. He
also described the differences in how an exam by a sexual health specialist may differ from a general
OB-GYN. Vol. I TR 64- 66.

When questioned about his encounter with Patient A, Respondent testified that she was
referred by another physician and arrived with pages of questions. Vol. I TR 66. He believed that
Patient A was there to be seen for cosmetic gynecological surgery. Vol. I TR 66, 69. He typed the
records the same day or within a few days of the exam, as he types notes if it’s a consult for another
provider but will generally handwrite exam notes that remain in his office. Vol. I TR 69-70.

Respondent testified that he did conduct a physical examination of Patient A, and took
photos of her examination, using her cell phone. He did so because he has always used illustrations
to help his patients understand what was happening, sometimes images he drew himself or prepared
illustrations. But when a patient suggested that he take a photo, he thought it was a good idea. Ifa
patient was just in for a consultation and had not decided about surgery, he would suggest using the
patient’s own phone camera so that she could do what she wanted with the photos, whether the
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patient would discard the photos or share with another physician. Vol. I TR71-72. He took twelve
photos of Patient A to get a good picture and then the others could be discarded. Vol. I TR72-73.

The initial meeting involves only verbal consent to take the photos during the exam. The
Respondent testified that if a patient returns, he has her complete six written consents which include
a consent for photography. Vol. I TR 73-74. He does not require written consent if the patient
takes the photos with her, and/or is shopping for a cosmetic surgeon, but only if he’s doing a
procedure on the patient and keeps the photos in his office. Vol. 1 TR 74.

The Respondent and Counsel for the IC engaged in a discussion about the security of the
photos of his patients and internet system as he does not trust technology and doesn’t upload photos
to “the cloud,” but he uses secured office Wi-Fi to send the photos to the printer. Vol. I TR 74-76.
Respondent has a policy of deleting the photos, usually the same day, that patients text to him if
they aren’t going to be used for surgery. Vol. I TR 76-78.

Respondent reviewed Exhibit 3, Patient A’s medical records, and agreed that he sized
Patient A’s vagina with two fingers although he agrees that the photos show that he used four
fingers. Vol. 1 TR78-79. He testified that he would sometimes use slang terms depending upon her
vernacular as he thought it would be inappropriate and condescending to correct the patient’s
terminology. Vol. I TR 79-80. He would usually use the type of anatomical terminology the patient
used. Vol. I TR 80. He would use slang terms with patients when describing sexual acts. Vol. I
TR 80-81. The Respondent stated that he would not use the term “fisting” unless the patient engages
in that activity. Vol. I TR 81.

Regarding the presence of a chaperone at Patient A’s visit, Respondent testified that his
office manager, Casey, stood in the doorway of the exam room and would move back to her
reception desk where the exam table was still in sight. Vol. I TR 82-83; Exhibit 6. That was Patient
A’s only visit and he did not perform gynecological cosmetic surgery on her. d

Patient B was a regular patient of the Respondent for seven or eight years, and Respondent
never performed gynecological surgery on her. Vol. I TR 84. According to Exhibit 7, Patient B
saw the Respondent in October of 2018 for blood and nipple discharge. Id. He testified that he
/11
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“probably did” offer Patient B money to pose in a nude photograph for an ad but does not know
when. Id.

Regarding placing ads in the Adult Video Network (AVN) ads, Respondent placed ads in
the AVN awards ceremony program three times beginning in 2012 with the last ad placed in 2020,
and he also placed ads in the industry magazine approximately twelve times. Vol. I TR 85; Exhibit
6. There were two ads that were used for both publications. One was a profile photo of a nude
woman in a prone position; the other was a profile of a (different) nude woman with her face
shielded. The second woman was a patient. Vol. I TR 86-88.

Respondent took the first photograph, and a professional photographer took the second of a
friend of a patient at Respondent’s office although Respondent was not present. Vol. I TR 88.
Respondent was trying to get an ad ready for the 2019 AVN ceremony but, although his office was
in contact with AVN, he was too late to get it in the program. Vol. I TR 89. Respondent has taken
photographs approximately five times and has had a professional photographer take photos
approximately twelve times of patients in his office for ads that have not been used. Vol. I TR 89-
90.

These photos were taken in Respondent’s office, stored on the same air cam iPad and locked
away, since approximately 2013 when he was trained in medical photography. Vol. I TR 91.
Respondent considers the vaginal photos, which are on the walls in the restroom and one in the
exam room, so he doesn’t bring up the topic directly with patients, to be medical photography. 1d.

Although the professional photographer who took these photos did not have training in
medical photography, Respondent explained to her what he wanted. Id at 92. Everyone who posed
for these photos had to sign a written consent, and they were paid $1000, usually in cash. Jd. The
nude photos are called “boudoir” photos, some of which included photos of genitals, some with
lingerie. Id. at 93. Respondent had the ads professionally done, and the ads for AVN were designed
by a company that Respondent was directed to use by AVN. Id. ar 94.

With respect to Patient C, she had been a regular patient, but Respondent could not
remember but thinks for approximately two or three times. Id. Respondent was aware that Patient

C was having financial issues and offered her the same arrangement for posing for photos for $1000.
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Id. Clarification that Exhibit 10, page 144 is a photo he took of a model who was not a patient for
an advertisement. Id. at 95-96.
PATIENT A
Direct Examination

Initially, Ms. Mooneyhan, counsel for the IC, established the identity of Patient A without
revealing her true name. Vol. I TR 99-101.

Patient A testified that she was referred to Respondent Dr. Chambers by her regular OB-
GYN for perineum discomfort and possible repair and had just one appointment with him on
November 17, 2020. Id. at 103-104. Patient A thinks that although her regular gynecologist did
perform perineoplasty surgery, she referred Patient A because Patient A had also asked about
labiaplasty. Id. at 105.

Patient A was well-prepared for her appointment and had researched and had looked at
Respondent’s website and thus knew that he performed all the procedures that could possibly help
with her issues. Id. Because she is a very thorough person and tends to get nervous at medical
appointments, she prepared notes with symptoms and questions. Id. Patient A didn’t remember
exactly how long the appointment was as it was two and a half years ago but estimates that both she
and Dr. Chambers were thorough, and it probably took 15 or 20 minutes. Id. at 107.

After the initial discussion, Respondent, Dr. Chambers, asked Patient A to wait to ask her
questions until after the exam when he gave her his opinion. Id. Respondent then asked Patient A
to keep her phone nearby and, although she wasn’t surprised about the photos, she thought it was
unusual and odd that he would be using her phone, but that is what he needed to address her health.
Id at 108.

Patient A expressed hesitation when Respondent then asked if could leave the door ajar, but
he reassured her that no one else was in the office and that the doors were locked. Vol. I TR 109.
Patient A testified that no one else was in the room and that she was aware of only the “office girl”,
who came to the room at one point to see if Respondent would be able to see another patient. d.

Patient A testified that the Respondent did not take her weight or blood pressure or any other

vital signs. Id at 110. She then described the exam, testifying that Dr. Chambers explained that
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he would be feeling around and assessing for nerve damage to try to determine if that was the cause
of her pain and discomfort, and she gave him her phone. Jd. Patient A does not remember Q-tips
on a nearby tray but recalls that he did not use a speculum. Id. at 111. Patient A again states that
since it has been two- and one-half years, she does not remember the sequence of events exactly
with respect to the exam and the taking of photos. Id.

She recalled that he did feel around with his fingers and asked her if she felt any pain and
that he took photos of her vulva from different angles with his fingers inserted. /d. She did not feel
“zinger” pain but felt a great deal of pressure and discomfort. Id. at 112. Patient A testified that “I
felt his knuckles inserted into my vagina,” and when she told him that it was very uncomfortable,
he pulled his hand out, and that Respondent also did a rectal exam. Id.

At that point, the exam was over, and the Respondent asked Patient A to show him the
photos, and he asked her to text two of them to him. Vol. ITR 113. Patient A was uncomfortable
with this as she was concerned that it may not be secure and the photos could be texted to someone
else, but that he was doing it for her medical care. Id. at 112-113.

Patient A testified that Respondent said to be very careful with the phone number and told
her a story about photos mistakenly sent to the wrong person. Id. at 113. When the Respondent
left the room so she could dress, she texted her husband that it was “weird” and her husband told
her that it was probably okay but that she could ask if she was worried about it, but she was too
embarrassed to do so and also still trusting that she was receiving medical care. Id. at 113-115.

Patient A testified that when Dr. Chambers returned to the exam room, he told her and
demonstrated that he engaged in “fisting” during the exam and indicated that he used his hand up
to between his knuckles and his fist, but that he indicated with two fingers the size of a man’s penis.
Id at 115. This information had a profound negative effect on Patient A’s sexual confidence,
leaving her humiliated and embarrassed, and she did not want to share the information with what
she perceived was wrong with her body with her husband. Id. ar 116. Patient A also testified that
Dr. Chambers used the term “lips” when referring to the labia when discussing labiaplasty, although
she uses only anatomically correct terms. Id. at 117.
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Patient A testified that the Respondent to keep the remaining ten photos of the exam in a
secure folder on her phone and not to let her husband see them or “they would mess with his head.”
Id.; see, Exhibit 4.

After the examination, Patient A described that she was in pain and that there was swelling,
and she felt like she had small tears and lumps around her vaginal opening. Id. at 118. Patient A
stated that the pain and discomfort lasted a couple of weeks. Id. Because of her discomfort after
the exam with Dr. Chambers, she made an appointment with her regular gynecologist, Dr. Lewis,
four days later which was scheduled for approximately a week after the appointment with the
Respondent, although she felt better at the time of the follow-up appointment with Dr. Lewis. Id

At the appointment with Dr. Lewis, she asked about the term “fisting,” and Dr. Lewis told
her that she had never heard of the term. Id at 119. Patient A also asked Dr. Lewis about
Respondent’s statement that he would be stimulating her clitoris during the surgery and “not to hold
back” because he wanted to make sure that he was not cutting any nerves. Jd. Patient A related to
Dr. Lewis that she asked him about it because he had previously assured her that the surgery would
not lead to any loss of clitoral sensation, but that he brushed off her question. Id. Patient A testified
that Dr. Lewis told her that “[t]here was no reason to ever do that during surgery.” Id.

Patient A related that the Respondent proposed to perform a perineoplasty, vaginoplasty,
rectocele, vaginal reduction, and labiaplasty. Id. at 119. She confirmed that she did not make an
appointment for cosmetic reasons but just to address the discomfort she was experiencing, but that
she had asked about labiaplasty. Jd. She was concerned about the risk of losing sensation, however,
and decided against labiaplasty. Id. at 120. Patient A testified that she had no concerns about her
clitoris, but that the Respondent commented that “[w]omen would kill for a clitoris like yours.” 1d.
She also testified that her “labia [is] bent on one side,” and she “thinks that [she] remembers” that
the Respondent proposed excising some tissue from one side of her labia to make it perfectly
symmetrical. Id. at 120-121.

Psychologically, Patient A stated that she “knew what had happened was wrong”, was
sexual assault and not for her medical care. Id. at 121. This had a profound effect on her in that

she believed that something was wrong with her vagina and that she was disgusting. Id. She stated
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that she suffers from PTSD and anxiety, and that she had counseling through the Rape Crisis Center.
Id. at 122. Due to this event, Patient A testified, she still hasn’t had any surgery to address her
perennial pain, but she hasn’t been able to go through with it although she has found a good doctor
at UCLA and will pursue it at some point. Id.

Cross-Examination of Patient A by Respondent

On cross-examination, the Respondent tried to ask what Patient A said to the media and to
the police, over objection by counsel for the IC, which was overruled, but the Respondent did not
follow-through with the question. However, with respect to a question from the Respondent about
possible contradictory statements to the media and/or law enforcement, Patient A did state “I'm just
trying to remember what I said to the police.” Vol. I TR 125.

The Respondent then asked Patient A, in respect to the allegation of “fisting,” whether she
screamed, whether she saw how he prepared his hands for her examination, or whether she saw how
many gloves he put on for her examination. Id. at 125-126. Patient A answered “No” to each of
these questions. Id. There was then some discussion about the amount of lubrication needed to
“fist” that was not resolved and the undersigned hearing officer explained that the testimony was
more appropriate and would be permitted in the Respondent’s case-in-chief. Id. at 1 27-128.

When the Respondent asked Patient A whether she had heard of the term “lips” when
referring to the labia, she replied, “probably.” Id. at 129.

Patient A confirmed that Exhibit 3 NSBME 0024 entitled “Vagina Repair Consultation”
was the document of questions and information she prepared for and gave to the Respondent at her
appointment, which addressed many matters including her history, pain, and sexual issues. Id. af
131. A discussion, objections and rulings occurred thereafter regarding the allowable scope of the
Respondent’s cross-examination. Id. 132-134.

The Respondent questioned whether a discussion of Patient A’s sexual function was not
unexpected considering the list of questions and statements Patient A supplied to him, and Patient
A replied that “discussing sexual matters wasn’t a problem for me.” Id. at 135; Exhibit 3 NSBME
0024. The Respondent then questioned Patient A whether she asked him about Dr. Red Alinsod,

whether she had heard of Dr. Alinsod’s techniques, and how many of these procedures the
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Respondent had himself performed, and Patient A responded that she did not recall, she may have,
she probably did since she wrote it down, she assumed she looked at Dr. Alinsod’s website, and she
didn’t know if she had looked at Dr. Alinsod’s photo gallery on his website. Id. at 136-137. When
Dr. Chambers asked whether he could introduce photos from Dr. Alinsod’s website to compare to
the photos taken of Patient A, all agreed that it would be more appropriate to introduce said photos
in Respondent’s case-in-chief and with his expert witness. Id. at 139-140.

Upon further questioning and review of the photographs, Patient A agreed that the photo
showed that his fingers were only partially inside her vagina. Id. at 141. Although Patient A does
not recall a Q-Tip being used during the examination, she recalls that the Respondent asked her if
she felt pain. Jd. She also recalls that he did an exam that included a finger in her anus. Id. ar 142.

The Respondent questioned Patient A about whether she remembered that he referred her to
a urogynecologist, and Patient A testified that she remembered, she did have an appointment with
urogynecologist Dr. Wasserman, that Dr. Wasserman examined her and recommended surgery for
perineal and posterior repair. Patient A recalled that the Respondent made the referral so that Patient
A’s insurance would cover the procedures, although Dr. Chambers recalled that Patient A would
return for the “outer stuff” and Patient A recalled that she didn’t want to have the labiaplasty of she
was going to lose sensation. Again, Patient A responded that “I'm trying to remember. Ihaven’t’
thought about this in—it was over two years ago.” Id. at 143-144.

Finally, Respondent asked Patient A about what happened after the appointment, and Patient
A testified that she did not immediately depart but talked with Casey, the receptionist about Dr.
Chambers, and recalls Dr. Chambers being present, didn’t say anything about pain except she did
about the discomfort during the exam itself, and agreed that the conversation between the three of
them was “probably” jovial. Id. at 145.

Re-Direct, Re-Cross, and Follow-up Questions of Patient A

Upon re-direct by Ms. Mooneyhan, counsel for the IC, Patient A clarified that she believed
that her discomfort was separate from the insertion of Respondent’s fingers during the examination
to be two separate events. Id. at 146-147. Patient A also answered that they discussed the questions

that she brought to the exam with her after the exam and when the Respondent told her his diagnosis
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and treatment recommendations. Id. at 147. When asked whether they had discussed questions
about lubrication and sex, Patient A stated three more times that she couldn’t remember. Id. at 147-
148.

Upon re-cross by the Respondent, Patient A clarified that she gave him the form of questions
at the very beginning of the appointment. Id. at 149.

In response to questioning by the undersigned Hearing Officer and follow-up questions by
the Dr. Chambers and Ms. Mooneyhan, Patient A stated that she returned to her regular gynecologist
Dr. Lewis about six days after her appointment with Dr. Chambers because of her pain but does not
recall the date that she saw Dr. Wasserman. Id. at 150. Patient A further explained that she saw
Dr. Wasserman on Dr. Chambers’ recommendation, that she questioned Dr. Chambers about the
referral if it was the exact same procedure and that Dr. Chambers replied that her insurance wouldn’t
cover it because he, Dr. Chambers, did the procedure in-office. Id. at 150-151. Patient A further
clarified that Dr. Wasserman could do the rectocele and perineal repairs but not the cosmetic
portions, and that her intention was not to seek a cosmetic procedure. Id. at 152. However, Patient
A recalls, and the Respondent directed her attention to her own list of questions, that a labiaplasty
procedure could help with her discomfort. Id. at 152-154.

MAY 3. 2023 CONTINUED HEARING
PATIENT B
Direct Examination

Dr. Chambers was Patient B’s physician for over seven years for her yearly exams and when
she was pregnant and after she had her son, with her last appointment in 2018. Vol. II, TR 10.
Patient B was aware that Dr. Chambers did cosmetic gynecological surgery as there were posters
in his office, although she never inquired about it. Id. ar 11.

Patient B testified that she discontinued seeing Dr. Chambers as her primary gynecologist
after her last appointment with him in 2018 for a couple of reasons, including that she felt that she
had trusted him with her personal history, and he had shared that information with medical students.
Id at 11-12.

111
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In addition, she had made the appointment for a second opinion about a lump in her breast
and need scans to be ordered. Id. at 13. The nurse also had her undress from the waist down, and
the nurse and the two students, both women, were in the exam room. Id..

Patient B had had breast implants since her last appointment with Dr. Chambers, and he
asked her to sit up so that he could look and asked her about them. /d. He then asked the students
to leave, and Patient B thought he wanted to talk to her about something privately, and she still
trusted him although she felt it was awkward as she was still exposed from the waist up. Id. ar 14.
At that point, the Respondent asked Patient B if she had ever posed nude before and that some of
his patients were models for him for his ads. Id. at 15. She knew immediately “that it was incredibly
inappropriate. It was crossing so many ethical boundaries”, and it was a very uncomfortable
situation to be in. Id.

Patient B stated that the Respondent went on and told her how he wanted real women and
that it would be empowering for her to do this because of her history. Id. at 15-16. He showed her
a photo on his phone that was filtered and that he said was one of his patients. Id. ar 6. The
Respondent also told Patient B that if she did pose for him, that she couldn’t tell her husband. Id
at 16-17. Patient B also testified that she told him that she had had laser hair removal in her genital
area and that he asked to see, stating that was even more perfect. Id. at 17. The conversation
continued, and Patient B testified how the Respondent described how his other patients who posed
as models enjoyed the process and became seductive with the camera, that he is the photographer
and paid $1000. Id. at 17-18. Patient B testified that it was a fairly short conversation, that she was
still naked, that she was nervous and uncomfortable and just kind of laughed, and that the
conversation ended, and he left the room when the Respondent told her and they agreed that she
would just to text a simple “yes” or “no” regarding the project without any details. Id. at 18-19.
Patient B then left the office, and it was a friendly goodbye, and she realized that was inappropriate
because he was her doctor that she trusted with personal details of her sex life and other personal
details. Id. at 19-20.

Patient B later discussed the incident with her sisters, friends, and her therapist, who agreed

that it was inappropriate and violating, and she texted her answer to the Respondent from her
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therapist’s office, which said that the project would be highly unethical and that she would be seeing
another gynecologist. Id. at 20, 21. Patient B stated that Dr. Chambers texted back that he did not
think that it crossed patient boundaries and that it was the only way he could recruit models, he was
worried that he may lose some patients because of this, and that he wished her well. Id ar 21.
Patient B added that she and Dr. Chambers had previously texted about medical matters and voting
for him for Top Doctor Awards, which she did. Id. at 21, 22. Subsequent to the incident there were
texts only about Patient B’s scans. Id. at 22.
Cross-Examination of Patient B by Respondent

Respondent asked which of them initiated the discussion about the photos, and Patient B
replied that Dr. Chambers asked, and she also implied that there may not have been ads for which
he was taking photographs. Vol. II TR 22-23.

During Patient B’s testimony, there was a great deal of interrupting each other, some
confusion and contradiction while the Respondent was attempting to ask Patient B about why he
was asking her about sexual matters, with Patient B stating that she never raised the issue but would
answer Dr. Chambers’ questions during appointments. Id. at 23-24. The Respondent attempted to
demonstrate that she contradicted herself as his exam notes on the date of one of her appointments
show that Patient B did in fact raise concerns about her sexual life. Id. at 24-32; NSBME Exhibit
7, p. 105, typewritten in NSBME Case File Pleadings 27, p. 3.

Upon being given some latitude, and although she was reluctant to agree or to answer in the
affirmative, Patient B testified that with respect to the statement and information recorded by
Dr. Chambers in his exam notes, “it was a long time ago, but I can’t say there’s not truth to this,”
and “there isn’t any untruth to this,” and “[i]t looks like something that I would have said, because
when I read it, it’s the truth,” and “I know that this is how I feel...about my sexual struggles,” and
“I would have not said any of this, just like I’'m saying this now. So, this is the truth I trusted you
with.” Id. 30-32.

The cross-examination continued back-and-forth between the Respondent and Patient B,
and Patient B testified that she did discuss with others about her discussions with Dr. Chambers

111
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about her sexual life, and that he did not wait for her to ask the questions, but he asked very personal
questions which made her feel awkward. Id. ar 34-35.

When the Respondent asked that, based on the notes and history, whether he had had a basis
for asking detailed questions about her sexual life, Patient B had difficulty answering. /d. ar 3 6-39.

Because of Respondent’s difficulty in asking and getting responses from Patient B during
her testimony, and because Respondent stated that he felt that it had become argumentative and that
he was in a detrimental “he said she said” position, he declined to cross-examine Patient B further.
Id. at 38-39.

On re-direct, IC counsel asked, and Patient B clarified that she had never seen the medical
record of Dr. Chambers’ notes and that she had no control about how he characterized her visit. /d.
at 39-40. On re-cross examination, Respondent asked, and Patient B testified that she had read
physician notes at the end of a medical appointment but did not look at any of Dr. Chambers’ notes
about her. Id. at 40.

IC’S EXPERT WITNESS RICHARD RAFAEL, MD

Direct Examination

Dr. Richard Rafael was called as the IC’s expert witness. Dr. Rafael was initially questioned
and testified about his education, training, practice, expertise, experience, professional affiliations
and descriptions of the organizations, current professional activities, and education and position as
chief resident, and affiliations to remain current in his chosen specialty. Vol. I, TR 44-58. Dr.
Rafael’s CV can be found at IC’s Exhibit 16. Dr. Rafael also described his work for ProAssurance
Indemnity Company claims underwriting committee, and a list of CMEs he had taken throughout
his career, and how he chose OB-GYN as his specialty. TR 58-61.

Dr. Rafael was asked about and discussed a series of hypothetical scenarios related to a
patient’s sexual health. TR 62-65. Dr. Rafael then testified about a sub-specialty and training in
sexual health, and whether an OB-GYN would be able to perform female genital plastic surgery or
whether that would require a specialty in plastic surgery. TR 65-67.

Regarding marketing, Dr. Rafael testified that his practice was marketed by word of mouth

and that he did not have models or use ads in his office. TR 67.
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Dr. Rafael further testified about the recommended use of chaperones, how that changed
over time, and his use of chaperones, how at times a chaperone wasn’t present and how that
declination was documented. TR 68-71; IC Exhibit 11, p. 160.

Dr. Rafael testified that the ACOG’s opinions and guidance are the accepted standard of
care in OB-GYN. Id. ar 72-72. After reviewing the paragraph entitled “sexual impropriety” in
Exhibit 11, Dr. Rafael opined that he believed that there was sexual impropriety in the cases of
Patients A, B, and C. TR 72; IC Exhibit 11, p. 160.

Dr. Rafael was then asked about IC’s Exhibit 3, which is Respondent Dr. Chambers’ medical
records and notes for Patient A, which he reviewed in preparation for testifying in the instant matter.
TR 74. When asked about his review of the records, Dr. Rafael responded, “Well, first I’d like to
state that this is a thorough history and physical performed by Dr. Chambers.” TR 74.

Dr. Rafael was further questioned and discussed Patient A’s presentation, history, questions,
and concerns when she saw Dr. Chambers. Id. at 74-76. Dr. Rafael testified that he had done two
labiaplasties during his career, and he did them with a colleague who had taken courses from Dr.
Red Alinsod, and he did them for functional rather than cosmetic purposes. TR 76.

Dr. Rafael was then asked about and testified about instances when labiaplasty could be
beneficial for a patient, and that insurance should cover the procedure. TR 77. He also was asked,
based on Patient A’s medical records, to analyze her case based on his review of the records and
how else he might have treated her, and gave a significant statement, which should be reviewed.
TR 77-83.

In his assessment, Dr. Rafael shared a generally positive impression of Dr. Chambers’
evaluation of Patient A. Id.

The questions and testimony then turned to Respondent Dr. Chambers’ use of Patient A’s
cell phone to photograph her vulva. TR 83-84. Dr. Rafael testified that he personally would never
do that, and that, without being an authority on this, he believes that the ACOG’s rules are, first, to
de-identify the patient and, second, that the phone is encrypted. TR at 84. He opined that the
patient’s cell phone was not encrypted and that was a way to identify someone. Id. In Dr. Rafael’s
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career, he would not use photos of his patients in preparation for surgery, but just his notes, and he
would use illustrations in his practice to inform patients. TR 85-86.

Dr. Rafael commented on the medical notes of Dr. Wasserman (to whom Dr. Chambers
referred Patient A following their appointment). After reviewing Dr. Wasserman’s notes, Dr.
Rafael testified that it appeared that Dr. Wasserman did not believe that Patient A needed labiaplasty
or a clitoral hood reduction. TR86-88; Exhibit 3, p. 26.

When asked to review IC’s Exhibit 4, a photo of Patient A’s vulva taken, Dr. Rafael states
that there appears to be a small hematoma, which could have been caused during an examination,
and compares the photo to an earlier photo taken four minutes earlier that did not show a hematoma.
TR 88-90; Exhibit 4, pp. 33, 38.

Regarding ten of the twelve photos that Respondent Dr. Chambers did not choose to keep if
Patient A proceeded with the surgeries, Dr. Rafael stated that “I want to be fair. Dr. Chambers has
taken a course from Dr. Red Alinsod, who’s a renowned—I don’t know if he’s a urogynecologist,
but he’s held in esteem within the cosmetic surgery community. And Dr. Alinsod teaches medical
photography, and Dr. Chambers has taken courses to improve his surgical technique and surgery in
this sexual gynecological female genital cosmesis. And in that course, Dr. Alinsod has papers and
recommendations to take photos.” TR 91.

When asked if it’s acceptable to use four fingers in a pelvic exam, Dr. Rafael testified,
“Yes.” Id.

When asked his opinion about the Respondent noting that he used two fingers in Patient A’s
pelvic exam but the photo using four fingers, Dr. Rafael responded that he would not have
documented using four fingers, and that “[c]ertain things are done on an everyday basis” and “this
exam, in my opinion, is a perfectly normal exam” and also “I don’t see anything abnormal with his
exam” and sometimes “these things are so common”, such as using a speculum, that not everything
is dictated into the notes. TR92-93.

Regarding the use of non-medical terms, Dr. Rafael testified that patients do use non-
medical terms, and he was trained not to use big words that could be confusing to patients. TR 94.
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Dr. Rafael would never use the term “fisting” or ever discuss his personal intimate life, nor
show photos of other patients. Id. Dr. Rafael testified that using four fingers is not referred to as
“fisting” in ACOG or anywhere else and he believes would be demeaning to a patient. TR 95.

Regarding labiaplasty, Dr. Rafael testified that it is useful to reduce pain and discomfort for
different patients, and that since the 1990’s, “there’s been a dramatic increase in interest and
demand” for cosmetic labiaplasty and it’s a matter of choice. TR 95-96. Dr. Rafael also discussed
an “O-shot”. Id. at 96.

Dr. Rafael testified that he did have a problem with the apparent lack of identification
encryption by using the patient’s phone and thought that could put the patient at risk. TR 98.

Dr. Rafael testified that he “is aware of the fact that in her allegation that he (sic) states that
Dr. Chambers talks about fisting or—it’s not clear whether—exactly what he said.” TR 98. Dr.
Rafael added, “[bJut she does mention the word ‘fisting,” and the way I read it was that, perhaps,
somehow he said, well, this isn’t fisting, because she was in pain during the time of exam. TR 98.

Dr. Rafael agreed that “fisting” would be an inappropriate term to use. TR 98-99. When
asked whether he thought that using the term “fisting” could lead to disruptive behavior by the
doctor or a disruptive exam, Dr. Rafael did not either agree or disagree but defined his concept of
“disruptive behavior” is whether it interferes with the patient-physician relationship or whether it
affects the patient’s perception of the physician’s integrity. TR 99.

Dr. Rafael was asked about “sexual impropriety” per ACOG Opinion 796, IC’s Exhibit 11,
and he agrees with counsel for the IC, again, that using the term “fisting” would be an inappropriate
comment and could be construed as making sexual comments and could be sexually demeaning;
and that taking photos of the patient’s cell phone and texting to her could be disrespectful of her
privacy. TR 99-100.

It is unclear whether he believes that they happened during the visit when asked specifically.
TR 100, 11. 9-13.

Additional IC Exhibits 14 and 15 that Dr. Rafael relied upon for review were then introduced
and admitted into evidence. TR101-102.
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The questions then turned to Exhibit 7 relating to Patient B and Dr. Rafael had difficulty
reading Respondent’s medical notes. Dr. Rafael answered questions that he has never used models,
would never offer to pay somebody to model for him, and would not post an advertisement in his
practice advertising for models as he thought it would be disrespectful and inappropriate, bring
disrepute to medicine, would be demeaning and violate the trust that a patient would have in him as
an ethical physician. TR 104-105.

Dr. Rafael stated that offering to pay Patient B $1000 for photos was “[u]nprofessional,
unethical, against the Code of Conduct, against society’s rules, in my opinion” and violate the trust
of a patient. TR 107-108; Exhibit 5. Dr. Rafael reviewed IC Exhibit 6, Respondent’s response
letter addressed to NSBME, and testified that there was no doubt that Respondent had offered to
pay $1000 for photos for an advertisement. TR 108; Exhibit 6.

Likewise, Dr. Rafael testified that there was no question that the Respondent offered Patient
C $1000 to model for an advertisement and that husbands and boyfriends were not allowed at a
photo shoot. TR108-109; Exhibits 8 and 9.

Finally, Dr. Rafael questioned whether NSBME’s allegation letter was exactly what Patient
A had stated, but he opined that it isn’t “particularly appropriate” or “particularly professional” to
tell Patient A that her vagina was too big for a man’s penis. TR 111-112.

In wrapping up direct examination, Dr. Rafael testified that he did not believe that Dr.
Chambers committed sexual violence, but that Dr. Chambers committed sexual impropriety with
all three patients because he fulfilled the criteria laid out in section 158 of the ACOG?’s definition.
TR. 112-113.

Cross-Examination of Dr. Rafael by Respondent

In answering questions posed by Respondent Dr. Chambers, Dr. Rafael testified that his
knowledge of sexual health was acquired post-residency and very little time was spent on it. Vol.
II, TR 115-116.

Dr. Rafael testified that a physician discussing sexual desires and fantasy is not a form or
sexual misconduct except under certain circumstances, and additional questions are appropriate if

a patient seemed to have persistent and recurrent sexual dysfunction. TR 116.
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Dr. Rafael also stated that he was aware that Patient A went to the urogynecologist that
Respondent Dr. Chambers referred her to, despite Patient A’s allegation that Respondent abused
her. TR 116-117.

Regarding chaperones, Dr. Rafael agreed with Dr. Chambers that ACOG opinion was a
recommendation rather than a mandate and that at times, such as an emergency or with the patient’s
permission, it is acceptable to examine a patient without the presence of a chaperone. TRI 19-120;
IC Exhibit 11, p. 160.

Dr. Rafael stated that he believed that a chaperone should be in the examination room despite
the risk of COVID-19 and Respondent Dr. Chambers’ safety protocols at the time of Patient A’s
examination. TR 120-125.

Regarding labiaplasties, Dr. Rafael answered that, as he had previously testified, he had
done just one labiaplasty and worked with an assistant/colleague who had trained with Dr. Red
Alinsod. Id at 125. Dr. Rafael agreed that his colleague was appropriately trained because she had
taken courses offered by Dr. Alinsod. TR 125-126.

Regarding examinations and the Respondent’s question of being trained to look at aesthetics
or for pathology, Dr. Rafael responded that the first thing is to look for aesthetics of the vulva, note
if something seems wrong and move to a functional evaluation. TR 126. Dr. Rafael agreed with
Dr. Chambers that there are many variations of a normal vulva and that a plastic surgeon and a
gynecologist looking at the same photo would probably not have the same impression. TR 126-
127.

Regarding the possible bruising in the photos of Patient A, Dr. Rafael only observed and
commented that it was not in a photograph from four minutes earlier and would not offer conjecture
about how much force would be required during an exam to create that bruising and agreed that
pain is not the same as discomfort. TR 129-130.

Dr. Rafael agreed that it is acceptable for plastic surgeons to have before and after photos
and that Dr. Chambers had taken courses in medical photography “and that I thought it was
acceptable for the photos that you took before and after” and that it is acceptable to use photos of a

patient’s vulva to teach and explain. TR 131.
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Dr. Rafael has sized his patients’ genitalia, and described the process, as an OB-GYN, and
thought that Dr. Chambers “did a thorough history and physical, and I thought your pelvic exam
was certainly appropriate.” TR 132-133.

Regarding the allegation of “fisting,” Dr. Rafael noted and agreed that Patient A made an
allegation of “fisting” but that there was no proof within the records. TR134-135.

Regarding the “Q-Tip test”, Dr. Rafael agreed that it is possible for a patient with chronic
pelvic pain, etc., to feel something and couldn’t identify exactly what it was, such as Respondent’s
four fingers, and using four fingers can be appropriate. TR 135.

Redirect, Recross, and Further Questions

On redirect, Dr. Rafacl was asked and answered questions already covered in earlier
testimony, and there was redundancy, including the following:

Dr. Rafael would discuss sexual fantasies if raised by the patient. TR136;

Dr. Rafael agrees that a chaperone should be in the exam room and that the ACOG does not
mandate, and it is a good idea for both patient and physician to have a chaperone in the room. TR
136-137,

Dr. Rafael would document if there wasn’t a chaperone in the room in an emergency
situation and did not see that documented in the Respondent’s medical notes. TR 137; Exhibit 3;

There is a range of normal in female genitalia. TR 138;

Dr. Rafael believed that the photos on Patient A’s phone could put her at risk and the
potential for abuse and could be disrespectful to patient privacy. TR 139;

Dr. Rafael stated that using the term “fisting” “in and of itself is lewd language.” I

On recross, Dr. Rafael defined his understanding of “fisting” and agreed that a great deal of
lubrication would be needed and a standard pack of lubrication that OB-GYN’s usually use during
an exam would not be enough. TR 140-141;

Dr. Rafael states that, based upon the definition of fisting and the amount of lubrication
needed, stated that, although it is speculation, “I would say, sir, do think it’s likely that you fisted
her? No, I don’t think it’s likely you fisted her.” TR 142;
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In answering questions from the undersigned hearing officer, Dr. Rafael reiterated his earlier
testimony and, in addition, stated that his greatest concerns were about “integrity, the code of
conduct, boundaries and unprofessional language, suggestive sexual language” and believes that
this behavior fulfills the requirements of “disruptive behavior” found in NRS 630.301(6). TR 147-
148.

Dr. Rafael again reiterated that he did not think that the four finger/two finger issue was a
problem as time is always a concern when seeing patients. TR 154-155. And, when invited by the
Hearing Officer to state his conclusions, Dr. Rafael stated the following:

1. Dr. Chambers did not commit medical malpractice (although that was not an
allegation). TR 156;

2. Dr. Chambers actions met the definition of sexual misconduct and sexual
inappropriateness. TR 157,

3. Dr. Chambers did not commit sexual violence, although that is not alleged in the
complaint. TR 157-158.

Dr. Rafael clarified that he did not think that Patient A was traumatized, but that Patient A
felt that she was traumatized. TR 159. Dr. Rafael’s opinion is that the Respondent’s treatment of
Patients A, B, and C brings the medical profession to disrepute and meets the definition of
“disruptive behavior.” TR 159-160. Dr. Rafael was more ambivalent about Count IV, Continual
Failure to Practice Medicine Properly, but stated that “I think each of these patients did not feel that
they were treated in a professional manner,” so agreed that Count IV was fulfilled. TR 160-161.
In response to the Respondent’s question, Dr. Rafael stated that it would not surprise him that Dr.
Chambers noted that he used two fingers in the exam because that was the photo that was in front
of him when he was charting his notes. TR162.

RESPONDENT’S EXPERT WITNESS MICHAEL GOODMAN, M.D.

Over IC’s objections that the offer of Dr. Goodman’s CV was untimely, this Hearing Officer
admitted Dr. Goodman’s CV. As counsel for the IC wished for additional time to review the CV,
and the complication of less-than-optimal video and audio connection, Dr. Goodman’s testimony

was rescheduled to June 1, 2023, a date already set aside for another witness.
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RESPONDENT’S WITNESS MS. BRITTANY TURNER

Ms. Turner is a patient of Respondent Dr. Chambers and is an adult film actress. TR 188.
Ms. Turner testified that Dr. Chambers has always used proper medical terminology at her
appointments. TR 189-190.

Ms. Turner is familiar with “fisting,” has fisted but has never been fisted herself and is “an
expert” with the practice. TR 190-191. Ms. Turner stated with conviction that the amount of
lubrication used in a normal pelvic exam is “no way” near enough to fist someone. TR 191.
Respondent Dr. Chambers then asks Ms. Turner to describe the practice of “fisting”, which was
allowed over objection that Dr. Chambers wasn’t actually accused of fisting, but that he was accused
of saying that he had “fisted” Patient A. In response, Respondent stated that “I'm trying to show
that, while T haven’t’ been accused, I have been accused of saying that I attempted to fist. So I'm
trying to be respectful and not say that it’s ridiculous--a ridiculous accusation. I'm trying to show
that it makes no sense that I would say something like that, if I didn’t attempt to do it or did it.” TR
192. Ms. Turner proceeded to answer Respondent’s questions and described the process of
“fisting”, including her testimony regarding lubrication. TR 193.

Regarding posing nude, Ms. Turner agreed that partners or husbands are not allowed on the
set because “they overstep boundaries or the model may not be comfortable doing certain things,
5o it’s a closed set.” TR 193-194. Ms. Turner further testified that how she is paid for modeling
nude depends on the job, and models could be on payroll for larger companies, but smaller
companies may pay a model by check or cash. TR at 194.

IC’s Cross-Examination

On cross-examination, Ms. Turner acknowledged that she wasn’t present at any of the
appointments of the patients in this matter and does not consider herself an expert in the ethical
behaviors of OB-GYNs. TR at 194. Ms. Turner was cross-examined and testified that she had been
a patient of Dr. Chambers since 2016 and she had had a good experience with his care-that he had
experience and knowledge treating her as an adult film actress. TR 195. Other than being his
patient, she has no other personal or financial relationship with the Respondent. Id.

1117
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Respondent Dr. Chambers delivered Ms. Turner’s daughter in 2017, did not perform any
surgeries on Ms. Turner, has never taken any photos of her, only used medical terms to describe
body parts. TR 196-197.

RESPONDENT DR. CHAMBERS’ SELF DIRECT EXAMINATION

Note: As Dr. Chambers did not have legal representation, he chose to give a statement as
his direct testimony at the end of the day on May 3, 2023 at approximately 4:35 p.m., with
knowledge that the hearing needed to conclude before 5:00 p.m. This statement/testimony is very
brief and should be reviewed as a whole by the Decision Makers/Board rather than summarized.
TR 198-207.

Dr. Chambers explained that the reason that he had his chaperone, receptionist Casey
Cardin, at the entry of the exam room was trying to protect his patients, his family, and himself
because he was very fearful of getting COVID-19 at the beginning of the pandemic;

At the time, his son was a year and a half, and his daughter was three; and

Dr. Chambers worked in the hospital at the beginning of the pandemic.

JUNE 1, 2023 (CONTINUED) ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING (via Zoom)
RESPONDENT DR. CHAMBERS (Continued Testimony)

IC’s Cross Examination

Respondent did not ask patients to take photos of their own genitalia but asked to use their
phones and he would take the photos if they were seeing him for a consultation (unless international
patients had to leave Las Vegas, then he would have them send post-operative photos to check
healing). TR 11-12.

Dr. Chambers typed his consultation notes if he knew they were going to other providers,
such as a referral. TR 12. Respondent Dr. Chambers’ practice is to have a patient text certain, not
all, photos to him to send to another provider without identifying them but without knowing if
they’re encrypted. TR 13-14. He testified that it could be difficult to trace the photos back to a
patient because they could also be downloaded and edited photos and has considered how bad it
could be if such photos ended up in the wrong hands. TR 14-15. Dr. Chambers does not recall
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having the conversation with Patient A that one of his patients had texted their pictures to the wrong
person. Id. Respondent has thought about how the photos could fall into the wrong hands. TR 15.

Respondent testified that spouses or boyfriends are excluded at nude photo shoots because
they could cause a disruption for the photographer and the models may be less relaxed, so closed
set, but at Respondent’s office. TR15-16. Respondent also stated that the only way he solicits
patients to be models is by posting an ad on the lavatory door and the patient herself inquires. TR
16.

Dr. Chambers testified that outside of the pandemic, family members were allowed in the
office for a consultation but that he was very careful during COVID-19 as no one knew what was
going on and so he, along with hospitals, made up their own rules in response. TR 17.

Dr. Chambers understood that he wasn’t being accused of “fisting” but of telling Patient A
that he tried to do something called “fisting” and that it made her uncomfortable, but questions
Patient A’s testimony that she had never previously heard that term. TR 18.

Dr. Chambers practices the full scope of OB-GYN with added sexual health medicine and
cosmetic gynecologist surgery. TR 19. A labiaplasty would have alleviated some of Patient A’s
pain and discomfort but not her perineal pain. TR 20. Dr. Chambers would have done the perineal
surgery. TR 21.

Reviewing Respondent’s Exhibit Q/17, ACOG Opinion 795 regarding consent, Dr.
Chambers testified that he went over the risks of cosmetic surgery with his patients on their second
visit, when they filled out three consent forms. TR24.

Patients of Dr. Chambers who choose to proceed with the surgery would receive the amount
of the consultation fee deducted from the surgery fee. TR 26. Most patients are well informed
about a cosmetic procedure when they arrive for their first consultation. TR 26-27. Reviewing
page 105 of Exhibit Q, Respondent Dr. Chambers agrees that the ACOG encourages OB-GYNs to
warn their patients that there may not be any benefits that outweigh the risks of cosmetic surgery.
TR 28.

Respondent answered the question that was he aware that his completion of the Master’s

course in 2013 “did not even qualify for CME’s for this board” by saying that the course was not
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meant to be a CME. TR 30-31; Exhibit 2. Dr. Chambers’ next training was “Sexual Health and
Treatment” with Dr. Jennifer Landa is not recognized by the American Board of Medical Specialty
by the Antiaging Board. TR 31; Exhibit C. Dr. Chambers also confirmed that he was a member
and received CMEs from the National Society of Cosmetic Physicians. TR 32-33; Exhibit D.
Respondent has not taken any more CMEs related to female genital cosmetic surgery since 2014.
TR 33.

Respondent Dr. Chambers joined the National Society of Cosmetic Physicians—a society
of doctors from different specialties-- to learn, educate, and to advance the field of cosmetic OB-
GYN surgery, and “to learn things that were already within my scope of practice of gynecology,”
rather than the other areas that were offered, such as Botox or liposuction, lip fillers, etc. TR 33-
34. It does not concern him that that society does not have a website as there are very reputable
and well-esteemed physicians that are a part of that group. Id. He didn’t join other organizations
because “we would be spending $50,000 a year” in fees, and he didn’t want to just join organizations
to them on his CV. TR 35.

Returning to the subject of chaperones, Dr. Chambers maintains that, with respect to Patient
A, he had a chaperone who stood in the doorway, and “I was not alone in a locked room with a
patient”, and “I’ve always used a chaperone...I deviated during the onset of COVID-19, and when
everybody got immunized via vaccine or natural immunity for the protection of people who are in
my office including myself.” TR 36. Dr. Chambers is very much aware that the ACOG
recommends that you have a chaperone present for all breast, genital and rectal examinations. TR
37; Exhibit 11, p. 156.

Respondent Dr. Chambers explained that he received his certification in sexual health from
the American Academy of Antiaging Medicine from attending four modules over a one-year period
at four different times for a total of 16 days. TR 37-38. However, he does not purport to be a sexual
health therapist, although he does in the matters in which he “was trained as a clinical sexual health
expert treating hormonal diseases of female sexual health, surgical treatment, counseling of sexual
health problems, and giving certain advice that’s within the scope of my training. Anything else
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gets referred out.” TR 38-39. He testified that he did it to help his patients and, although it has
been approximately ten years since his training, there have been very few changes. TR 39.

Upon questioning, Dr. Chambers explained his professional background with a group and
call groups and why he left. TR 39-42.

Upon additional questioning regarding the appointment with Patient A, Dr. Chambers
testified that he most definitely addressed her pain and again detailed how he did so, and her records
were again discussed. Dr. Chambers was asked why this wasn’t documented, and Dr. Chambers
replied that “no OB-GYN writes that down” and writing every exam process and discussion is
unrealistic. We just do our work and write our findings down. [There is extensive discussion about
Patient A’s appointment and his general approach to exams that should be reviewed]. TR42-49.

Regarding his office assistant, Ms. Cardin, Dr. Chambers testified that he gave her time off,
that she would test herself, she came down with COVID-19 more than once because of her daughter.
TR 50.

Regarding Patient B, Dr. Chambers testified that she saw the ad on the lavatory door,
inquired, and he told her how much it paid. TR 50-51. Dr. Chambers wouldn’t have done it if it
were illegal, and if a patient inquired while there were students in the room, he would answer her
question. TR 51-52. Dr. Chambers did not have a copy of the ad but described it. TR 52-53. Dr.
Chambers explained that he was “livid” by Patient B’s text in which she was angry that her
boyfriend couldn’t be present and that the Respondent might be up to no good. TR 54. In his
response to the letter from the NSBME about the ad and this text from Patient B’s, he testified that
she did not have to inquire or pose and most of his patients never even inquired about the ad. TR
54-55; Exhibit 6, pp. 45-46.

With respect to his response to the IC’s investigator Ms. LaRue, Dr. Chambers does not
want to change his accusation of Patient C of being a liar because he did not call her but tried to
leave a written message but did not call. TR 57-58. Dr. Chambers testified that, at the end of the
visit, Patient C asked him about being paid to pose nude after she saw the ad in the bathroom. TR
58-59.

/11
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On Respondent Dr. Chambers re-direct of himself, he made a brief statement addressing his
skills and training should be reviewed. TR 62-63.

The undersigned Hearing Officer then asked some questions of Dr. Chambers, who
answered as follows:

During the first six months to a year of COVID-19, Dr. Chambers lost much of his staff
because he could not compete with the payments from the government, so Ms. Cardin was his only
remaining staff member. When Ms. Cardin became ill, there was a nurse practitioner who sublet a
space in his office who filled in as a chaperone when Ms. Cardin wasn’t available. The nurse
practitioner also stood in the doorway during that time. When the nurse practitioner was not
available to assist him as a chaperone, Dr. Chambers would close his office and reschedule patients.
TR 63-64.

The nurse practitioner did aesthetic work such as facials, but she sometimes assisted Dr.
Chambers with certain procedures. The nurse practitioner was braver about COVID-19 and not as
strict about masks as Dr. Chambers. TR 64-65.

During COVID-19, his doors were locked and there would be at most two patients in his
office at a time and the person acting as chaperone. Prior to COVID-19, Dr. Chambers would have
all six exam rooms filled and would go room-to-room with his chaperone. TR 65.

Dr. Chambers eased his restrictions “once there was sufficient evidence from the CDC that
people were getting immunized, when I was confident and comfortable that most of my patients
were getting the vaccines.” TR 66. He started allowing chaperones back into the exam room after
Ms. Cardin left the practice but does not remember when that was. TR 67.

Because of the way his office was designed, a chaperone was able to see into the exam
rooms if the doors were open from up to 15 feet away and from the receptionist’s desk. TR 67-68.

The ACOG recommends that a chaperone is in the room; Dr. Chambers does not believe
that a chaperone must be in a certain position in relation to the patient, but he prefers them to be at
“the business end” in the event that there is an allegation. TR 69-70.

Everyone-doctor, patient, chaperones-were required to be masked in his office, and patients

were not seen if they did not mask. TR 69.
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Dr. Chamber of course took other CMEs to meet licensing requirements and also to satisfy
his curiosity, and although there were not courses in the areas that he was looking to learn, he had
plenty of CMEs and did not care. TR 71.

RESPONDENT’S EXPERT WITNESS DR. MICHAEL GOODMAN

Direct Examination by Respondent Dr. Chambers

Dr. Goodman’s education and training are explored, he is still practicing part-time, he is
board certified by the ABOG and a fellow of the ACOG; he’s a certified menopause clinician by
the North America Menopause Society; affiliate of the American Academy of Cosmetic Surgery,
an elected fellow of the International Society of the Study of Women’s Sexual Health; a published
author in peer-reviewed publications and gives examples of the publications, edited and contributed
to textbooks. Vol. II, TR 75-78.

Dr. Goodman’s trained specialty is obstetrics and gynecology, special training in endoscopic
surgery. TR 79.

Dr. Goodman reviewed cases for the California Medical Board for approximately ten years
in the ‘80s and ‘90s, presented in approximately 80 local and national medical conferences, taught
and proctored many gynecologists in advanced operative laparoscopy; received several professional
awards; and is considered to be one of the pioneers in cosmetic GYN surgery. TR 79-81.

Dr. Goodman testified that a cosmetic gynecologist is a general gynecologist who has
undergone additional training in the specific area of cosmetic gynecology. TR 81.

Dr. Goodman responded that cosmetic gynecology is not recognized by the American
Medical Boards because there are many boards that exist to regulate their subspecialties, and this is
one of them that is self-policing and training board. TR 81-82.

Dr. Goodman stated that it was his pleasure to train Dr. Chambers in cosmetic GYN surgery.
TR 82.

Dr. Goodman described at length the training that plastic and gynecologic surgeons receive
in his formal courses and what is covered. TR 82-87.

These procedures are done in the office under local anesthesia because they’re safer, it can

be a better procedure and be more cost effective. TR 86.
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Dr. Goodman describes his understanding of Dr. Chambers’ medical practice. TR 91.

Dr. Goodman believes that the training Dr. Chambers received from him was sufficient to
do cosmetic gynecology work and complemented Dr. Chambers as having good hands, intellect,
understanding and training, although he hasn’t seen Dr. Chambers’ recent work. TR 92.

Dr. Goodman describes how GYNs measure vaginas with their fingers in gynecology and
in cosmetic gynecology. TR 92-94.

Dr. Goodman states that it is standard for GYNs and cosmetic GYNs to ask a patient to do
Kegel exercises while the physician’s fingers are inside the vagina. TR 94.

Dr. Goodman states that the term “fisting” is used in cosmetic GYN as it applies to
measurement, and he could see a trainee might use the term, but he doesn’t deal with a patient
population that engages in fisting so does not expound further. TR 95.

Regarding preoperative and postoperative photos that are necessary in cosmetic GYN
surgery, Dr. Goodman states that he will note operate on women who do not allow photos, and that
is the case with most experienced cosmetic surgeons as preoperative photos are very important both
medically and legally as part of documentation and part of the medical record like office notes. TR
96.

Dr. Goodman testified that with permission, a signed disclaimer, it is appropriate to show
these photographs of other people as part of a gallery of the physician’s work as part of an initial
consultation, although some patients do not give permission to share the photos. TR 96-97.

Dr. Goodman sees nothing wrong with physicians marketing their services, although if may
differ depending on the type of practice or specialty. TR 98.

Regarding marketing of a traditional GYN practice versus a cosmetic GYN practice, Dr.
Goodman testified that sometimes the nature of the practice and how medicine has changed requires
a physician to market their services. TR 99-100.

Dr. Goodman, trained in sexual health medicine, discusses the term “sexual medicine” and
its place in GYN care and in medicine in general, how it has been stigmatized but is “creeping” into
mainstream medicine, and that is why he is a member and fellow of a multi-specialty organization,

“International Society for the Study of Women’s Sexual Health”. TR 100-101.
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Dr. Goodman testified about how physicians and patients rarely discuss sexual dysfunction
treatment and how he addresses it in his practice, and how he opens the door to discussion. TR
103-104.

Dr. Goodman explained the purpose of the cosmetic organizations that connect physicians
from different medical specialties including OB-GYN. TR 104-105.

Dr. Goodman assessed and was impressed and complimentary about Respondent Dr.
Chambers’ consultation notes of Patient A. TR 106.

Dr. Goodman discusses the use of fingers for measuring vaginas and how it varies and is
not exact and opines that much has been made of Dr. Chambers using two versus four fingers in his
exam and notes of Patient A is “a red herring, to be honest with you.” TR 106-107.

Dr. Goodman discusses the O-shot, platelet-rich plasma, and urinary incontinence. TR108-
114.

Dr. Goodman discussed his transition from general OB-GYN to cosmetic gynecologist and
the difference in how cosmetic GYNs view female genitals. TR 14-117.

Insurance doesn’t cover cosmetic gynecology so cosmetic GYNs do not accept insurance
unless there’s a functional issue, and Dr. Goodman thinks that is wrong. TR 117-119.

Dr. Goodman believes that Respondent Dr. Chambers should be judged as a general OB-
GYN but also as a sub-specialist who has made the effort to obtain additional training as a cosmetic
GYN that general OB-GYNs do not have just as a GYN Oncologist has additional training. “And
a general OB-GYN, as intelligent and well-meaning as well-trained as that individual may be, is ill-
suited to judge you in those areas in my opinion.” TR 119-120.

IC’S WITNESS/DIRECT EXAMINATION OF CASEY CARDEN

Respondent Dr. Chambers was Ms. Carden’s doctor for approximately eight to ten years,
until last year, and then she worked for him as a receptionist for less than a year, although she does
not remember the exact timeframe. TR 128-129.

Ms. Carden remembers wearing a mask during COVID-19; she spoke to Dr. Chambers in
the last few weeks to let him know that she would be a witness for the IC so he wouldn’t be

blindsided.
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Ms. Carden left her job with Dr. Chambers because she felt like she didn’t get paid consistently and
“it was just time.” TR 129-130.

Ms. Carden remembers acting as a chaperon for Dr. Chambers’ practice not every day, “but
I’d say like it was like semi-consistent like I don’t know. Not like terribly often, but not like, you
know, only like once a month. I’d say it was irregular, but I don’t know. Maybe like a couple of
times a month if there was like an underage patient or someone like he just wanted me to be in the
room.” TR 130-131.

Ms. Carden testified that she didn’t act as a chaperone with every patient as she was a
receptionist; that there was also someone “doing insurance stuff”; that there was another nurse doing
“her own plastic surgery practice” that was there towards the end of Ms. Carden’s employment; that
she worked “like—it was more part-time. Like maybe 30 hours a week...it varied because, you
know, he would leave if he got called to the hospital....”; that she didn’t have any training about
acting as a chaperone. TR 131-132.

Ms. Carden had COVID-19 multiple times but doesn’t remember whether she got it while
working for Dr. Chambers but “I think the first time I got it was after I was done working for him,
I think, but ’m—honestly, I don’t think so.” TR 132. Ms. Carden remembers a written COVID-
19 policy in the office, and “I remember he was strict about patients wearing masks, but I don’t—I
don’t know.” Id.

When she did act as a chaperone, she stood in the doorway or behind Dr. Chambers or off
to the side. Id.

Ms. Carden testified that when she chaperoned from the doorway, she had a view of what
was going on as if she were in the room—she would be inside the doorway. TR 133.

Ms. Carden remembers Patient A’s appointment but was doing charts and didn’t chaperone
during her appointment, and “I think the door was closed. Idon’t recall seeing into the room, but-
- [here Ms. Carden’s answer was cut off by IC counsel’s next question about whether she could
hear the conversation in the room]. TR 134. Ms. Carden could hear voices but not what they were
discussing. TR 133-134.
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Ms. Carden had conversations with Patient A both before and after Patient A’s appointment
and testified that after her exam, Patient A was very excited about doing the surgery and that “she
was finally going to do something for herself”. Ms. Carden does not believe that Dr. Chambers was
present during that conversation. TR 135-136.

Ms. Carden was surprised that she was not able to get in touch with Patient A after that and
thought it was “weird because she was so—she was like overly excited about the surgery and she
seemed really, you know, like she wanted to doit....” TR 136.

Dr. Chambers asked Ms. Carden if she would be interested in posing nude for pictures, she
thought for an adult porn convention, and she declined. TR 137.

Ms. Carden did see a couple of photos of patient’s genitals and the results of vaginal
reconstructive surgeries, but not that many. TR 137-138.

Cross-Examination of Casey Carden by Respondent Dr. Chambers

Ms. Carden read her email to Dr. Chambers about her conversation with Patient A after the
appointment and still could not recall whether Dr. Chambers was somewhere in the room or not- “I
mean, I think you were in the back area, but like you were always kind of underfoot...I can’t say
for certain if you were like there or you weren’t there....” TR 144-145; Exhibit 3, p. 28.

Regarding her recollection of dates, Ms. Carden did not have a text she purportedly sent to
Dr. Chambers about having COVID-19 and she had difficulty remembering dates that she was
employed by him and dates that she or her daughter had COVID-19, testifying that “to be very, very
honest with you, I don’t have a great memory, and like I am unsure about the dates that I worked
for Dr. Chambers. That’s the honest truth. So, the fact that I don’t recall, it doesn’t mean it wasn’t
sent.” TR 146-150.

Ms. Carden recalls having to reschedule patients because they had COVID-19; she does not
recall Respondent Dr. Chambers having to close the office because of COVID-19; she does not
recall Dr. Chambers having COVID-19; Ms. Carden recalls that not all patients needed an exam.
/11
/17
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Follow-Up Questions/Redirect Examination

Questions from the undersigned Hearing Officer attempting to narrow down date ranges
were only somewhat successful as Ms. Carden still seemed not to recall and was speculating. TR
152-153.

Ms. Carden was comfortable being a patient of Dr. Chambers. She did not recall why she
stopped being his patient and speculated as to the reasons, such as she had to wait and also that she
heard of another good doctor. TR 154.

Ms. Carden remembers that there was always a chaperone-his medical assistant or
receptionist- while she was Dr. Chambers’ patient for approximately nine years and doesn’t recall
if there was a time when there wasn’t a chaperone present at her exams. TR 155-156.

Ms. Carden testified again that both she and her daughter have had COVID-19 multiple
times but could not recall the dates. TR 157-158.

On Redirect examination, Ms. Carden testified that Dr. Chambers initiated the discussion,
and it was by text message, as many of their communications were even after she quit, as he gave
his number out to patients to text him if they had any medical issues. TR 159.

IC’S DIRECT EXAMINATION OF PATIENT C

Patient C’s name and identity was first authenticated.

Patient C testified that she was not sure but believes that Respondent Dr. Chambers was her
OB-GYN for approximately four to five visits, and reviews Exhibit 10, her medical records, which
show her visits between September and November of 2019. TR 163-164; Exhibit 10.

Patient C testified that she made an appointment with Dr. Chambers because she was having
extremely painful periods and chose him because she had looked online, and his reviews were
excellent, and he took her insurance. TR 165.

Patient C testified that Dr. Chambers always had a chaperone present during her visits with
him, was aware that he did cosmetic gynecological surgery but that she never inquired about it. TR
165. She believes that there was an ad in the bathroom but doesn’t remember anything specific, but
she did not see an ad about modeling for photos. TR 166.

/11
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Dr. Chambers called her at home once offering her $1000 to model for photos although he
did not say what kind of photos. She was concerned that they were for nude photos, but “I don’t
know exactly what was said, but I know that I was uncomfortable with it being somewhat implied
that it would be nude because I was worried about distribution and how I could protect myself....”
TR 167.

Patient C recalls that the phone call took ten to 15 minutes and occurred during the late
afternoon, and that afterwards she told her partner and a friend to whom she had recommended Dr.
Chambers and “I wanted her to be aware of his character as well.” TR 168.

Patient C described how Respondent Dr. Chambers’ call affected her at that time, especially
since she was struggling financially, which Dr. Chambers was aware of, and how it affected her
over time, including how her lack of trust in physicians has changed since then. TR 169-170.

RESPONDENT DR. CHAMBERS’ CROSS EXAMINATION OF PATIENT C

Patient C testified that she has never had any contact with Patient A or B. TR 171.

IC’S RECALL OF WITNESS MS. LARUE AS A REBUTTAL WITNESS

IC Counsel recalled their first witness, IC Investigator Ms. Janna LaRue, as a rebuttal
witness, offering it as evidence to possibly contradict Respondent Dr. Chambers testimony
regarding taking photos for ads to be placed in the Adult Video Network (AVN) program. Vol 111,
TR 181.

Note: there was an abundance of discussion and argument regarding the admissibility of IC
Exhibit 17 and Ms. LaRue’s testimony. TR 173-195. However, the crux of the matter is the
following:

Ms. LaRue’s testified that she inquired in June of 2022, first, on AVN’s portal and sent a
request for public information about their publications, and then she received an email back from
the vice-president of the AVN Media Network that more information was needed for AVN to
provide information about Dr. Chambers ads, which Ms. LaRue sent. TR 181-182.

Ms. LaRue testified that AVN’s VP, Ms. Newman, responded that Dr. Chambers had
inquired once in 2016 about an expo with AVN but never submitted any artwork. The email

111
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exchange is IC’s Exhibit 17. TR 182; Exhibit 17. Ms. LaRue inquired again in April of 2023 and
received the same response. Id. l

Respondent Dr. Chambers objected but was informed and chose to raise the information
behind his objections during his re-direct that would occur later in the proceeding. TR 183.

CROSS-EXAMINATION OF RESPONDENT’S EXPERT WITNESS,

DR. MICHAEL GOODMAN

Dr. Goodman completely agrees and does not like that his training was referred to as a mini-
fellowship was previously referred to on an earlier version of his website. Vol. III, TR 200.

However, Dr. Goodman testified that he—and other experts agree-that a two-to-three course
would work for someone who is already savvy in this field if they aren’t in over their heads. TR
200-201. The master’s course is AMA category one accredited for 14.5 hours and they worked
hard to get that accreditation. TR 201-202.

Dr. Goodman has mixed feelings that these procedures are not and would like to see some
covered by insurance, but they are cosmetic and are not. TR 204-205.

A cash-only business is more profitable, and Dr. Goodman does not accept insurance. TR
205.

Dr. Goodman agrees that he hopes those he trains to be properly trained, successful, safe,
competent, etc., but also stated that different types of words may be used in sexual medicine for the
patient’s understanding, including the word “fisting” and other phrases that he describes as
“semantics” and understands that there are such allegations against the Respondent. TR206-209.

Counsel for the IC continued to ask questions about the appropriate use of fisting which Dr.
Goodman could not answer. TR 210-212.

Dr. Goodman wasn’t aware one way or another whether Dr. Chambers performed surgery
on any of the three patients in this case, and he never checked to see if Dr. Chambers knows how
to do labiaplasty or any of Dr. Chambers’ charts or records at his office, just what he was provided
to review for this case, the same way someone who trains a resident or educates doesn’t follow that
person into their practice and look over their shoulder. TR 212.

111/
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Dr. Goodman testified that he was a member of ACOG until approximately two years ago
when he went inactive and agrees that it is the preeminent organization that provides guidelines for
general OB-GYNs but not at all for cosmetic gynecology. TR 215.

Dr. Goodman agrees with ACOG committee opinion 795 discussing risks, etc., with and
making sure women considering cosmetic gynecology are properly informed, but Dr. Goodman got
into research and publishing because “ACOG has their head in the sand.” TR 215-217; Exhibit Q.

Dr. Goodman’s testimony on pages 216-217 regarding why he quit paying dues should be
read in full. TR 216-217.

Dr. Goodman testified that he does not agree with the ACOG’s continuing statement in its
opinion regarding cosmetic gynecological procedures and should likewise be read in full. TR 218-
219.

Dr. Goodman’s published work is cited in ACOG Opinion 795, “Effective Female Genital
Cosmetic Surgery,” TR 220; Chambers Exhibit Q.

Discussion with Dr. Goodman testified that an opinion published by the ACOG critical of
one of his studies misstated and editorialized, and he “a hundred percent disagree[s] with that
because it did have a control group,” another reason he stopped paying dues to the ACOG. TR 222-
224,

Dr. Goodman believes that it is wonderful and exemplary when a physician continues
medical education, and he encourages it. TR 224.

Dr. Goodman offers “brush up” training, and only three—not including Dr. Goodman—
have returned. Dr. Goodman himself went back for extra training after learning these procedures.
TR 224-226.

Dr. Goodman testified that it would concern him if any doctor might propagate body
dysmorphia by telling vulnerable patients that see them for medical advice and possibly surgery
that they have a problem, but that he sees no evidence that Dr. Chambers acted in such a way. TR
229-230.

Regarding the taking of preoperative photos, Dr. Goodman testified that some physicians,

including experts in the field such as Dr. Alinsod, take as many as 20 photos with a black velvet
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background, but Dr. Goodman takes a minimum number of photos unless, with the patient’s
consent, he’s taking more for teaching or publishing purposes, he codes them, and he takes them
himself most of the time, and now uses his cell phone and transfers them to his computer, but he
likes Dr. Chambers’ approach and thinks it may be more secure. TR 232-233. Dr. Goodman
discusses whether there’s a right or better approach to taking photos, and surmises that there may
be some literature on the subject, possibly with plastic surgeons, but he does not know what is right
and proper. TR 234.

Dr. Goodman testified that he wouldn’t solicit patients to pose nude while they’re still
gowned, but that doesn’t necessarily mean it’s inappropriate, nor would he use a poster in the
bathroom to solicit models for nude photos because that is not his patient population nor his style.
He would not do it, but that doesn’t mean it’s improper. TR 236.

Dr. Goodman agrees that most doctors don’t have the same kind of knowledge as a sexual
therapist, and he testified that he does indeed refer patients to a sexual therapist. TR238-239.

Dr. Goodman agrees that his courses are nowhere like a hand fellowship for an orthopedic
surgeon, a comparison he used earlier in his testimony, but he educates his trainees in many areas
related to sexual medicine, and it’s “the best we can do in the circumstances. It’s better than nothing.
TR 240-241.

Dr. Goodman has never practiced in Nevada and is not familiar with the statutes and
regulations. TR 241.

Respondent Dr. Chambers’ Redirect of Expert Witness Dr. Goodman

Dr. Goodman does not know how many OB-GYNs have been dual trained in sexual health
medicine and cosmetic GYN surgery, but he doesn’t believe that there are many. TR242.

Dr. Goodman describes his practice of treating patients that come from a distance to see
him, including using photos, telephone calls, videoconferencing, local physicians to see if there’s a
problem. TR 243-244.

Hearing Officer’s Questions
With acknowledgement that Dr. Goodman did not hear testimony from any of the patients

and is not a Nevada physician, and over objection, Dr. Goodman was afforded the same opportunity
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as IC’s expert witness to render his opinion of the instant matter after his review of the allegations
and the records. His statement, like Dr. Rafael’s, with follow-up questions from the IC’s counsel,
should be reviewed in its totality. TR 247-254.

RESPONDENT DR. CHAMBERS’ REDIRECT EXAMINATION

In response to rebuttal testimony about Respondent Dr. Chambers’ interactions with AVN,
Dr. Chambers testified that he never dealt with Ms. Beth Noonan, AVN VP in his other dealings
with AVN. Vol. IV; TR 26.

Dr. Chambers testified that there was “a plethora of communication between me and AVN
dating back to 2013.” Id.

Dr. Chambers testified regarding emails exchanged with representatives of AVN, including
the following: dated January 4 and 5, 2016, from Ms. Jessie Dena, graphic designer for the AVN,
regarding a copy of the ad to be used; a January 29, 2016, that he exchanged with Ms. Sara Harter,
AVN Media director of sales, regarding sending Dr. Chambers his copy of the 2016 show guide
featuring his ad; a contract he signed for the AVN adult entertainment expo dated December 30,
2015; a photo of his ad of the 2014 awards show program; and more. TR 26-28.

Responding to earlier questions about the National Society of Cosmetic Physicians not
having a website, Dr. Chambers testified that he had not been a member since 2015; that he met
Drs. Goodman, Alinsod, and Plastic, founders of and highly published in their subspecialty of
cosmetic GYN surgery, at the 7" Annual Congress on Aesthetic Vaginal Surgery in 2012, sponsored
by the National Society of Cosmetic Physicians, so their lack of a website was of no importance to
him. TR 28-29.

Dr. Chambers testified that his staff has seen his gallery of work, before and after photos,
that have been de-identified. TR 29.

Dr. Chambers testified that he has not gone back for a repeat course in cosmetic GYN
surgery, as he has not gone back for a review course in how to perform a hysterectomy, a Caesarian
section, or advanced operative laparoscopic surgeries because he is competent in those areas, and
he’s not inventing a surgical technique. /d.
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In response to the IC’s previous questions about whether Dr. Chambers promoted body
dysmorphia with the suggestion that Patient A gave Dr. Chambers her list of questions at the end
of her exam, Dr. Chambers clarified that Patient A gave him the list of questions at the very
beginning of her appointment and does not promote body dysmorphia. Vol. IV, TR 33; Vol. I,
TR149.

Dr. Chambers restated and summarized Patient A’s physical complaints and opines that it
caused her significant physical and psychological trauma, which is why she was referred to him,
stating “I turn away more patients than I operate on because they do not need surgery or they’re
depressed or they’re, in fact, having body dysphoria, given the numerous cosmetic surgeries they
have yet still dissatisfied with their body image. Istay clear of those people...this is the reason for
my multiple office visits before the actual surgery....” Vol. IV, TR34.

Dr. Chambers testified that he is proud that he was elected to the Alpha Omega Alpha Honor
Medical Society as he believes that there are not too many of such physicians working in Nevada.
TR 35.

During COVID-19 in 2020 and 2021, Dr. Chamber experienced the impact on his practice,
but he did not take money from the government to support his business, suffered through it and
survived, making payroll even if it was difficult, even affecting his receptionist, Casey Cardin, and

that is why she left. TR 35.

1C’s Recross-Examination of Respondent Dr. Chambers

Counsel for the IC had questions about the timing of AVN ads in relation to the
appointments of Patients A, B and C, regarding communication between Respondent Dr. Chambers
and representatives of AVN, and Dr. Chambers responded to questions about the ads, testifying that
he had contact with AVN, particularly emails with Sara Harter, regarding submitting ads almost
every year. He responded to an ad from AVN for program submissions in 2020, but he testified
that by the time he had the money and do the things to get his ad in, it was too late for the 2020
program. TR 38-40.

111

111
41




(Y- T - RN B - L7 LD NV B O B

NNNNNNNNNH)—BHHHHHHMH
OO\IG\UIAMNHQ\OOO\IQ\UIA!&NHQ

Dr. Chambers testified that everyone that used the lavatory would have seen his ad offering
$1000 for nude models but that he does not remember how many people talked to him about it. TR
40-41.

Counsel for the IC and the Respondent engage in discussion about Respondent Dr.
Chambers’ preparation of ads for various AVN publications and communications regarding the
same. TR 41-47.

FINDINGS and VERACITY OF WITNESSES

It is noted that, clearly, the very nature of the facts surrounding this proceeding could indeed
be upsetting and inflammatory. However, these same facts could also be interpreted differently by
reasonable minds, as the experts in this matter did, and still give the utmost respect and sensitivity
to the facts as described by Patients A, B, and C.

However, this must be balanced with the requirement that the facts gleaned from these
proceedings are viewed without an inflammatory lens in order for all to experience a fair hearing
without bias despite the nature of the allegations.

With that observation, the undersigned finds that Respondent gave credible and factual
testimony and explanations for the actions leading to the allegations in the IC’s Complaint.

Likewise, regarding the credibility of the expert witnesses, the undersigned found both
experts to be informative and surprisingly in concert in some of their testimony, although, not
surprisingly, each came to different conclusions as to Respondent’s culpability as to some of his
actions leading to the current allegations, as discussed in more detail below.

Regarding Patient’s A, B, and C’s testimony, the undersigned found each witness to be
credible and compelling, yet it is noted that some of their testimony was affected by the passage of
time and each witnesses’ unique circumstance and subjective perception of her own experience.
Indeed, and as noted before, the IC’s expert witness, Dr. Rafael, clearly stated that he did not believe
that Patient A had been traumatized, but that she felt (emphasis added) that she had been
traumatized. Vol. II, TR 159.

The undersigned will make the following findings about the core issues with references to

the record to be found in the transcript summary, above:
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Chaperones: Much of the testimony and evidence dealt with whether the Respondent’s use
of a chaperone was lacking and/or insufficient. After hearing a great deal of testimony and
reviewing the exhibits, the undersigned finds that, although not ideal, Respondent’s use of a
chaperone was adequate. Indeed, I found Respondent’s testimony about the circumstances
surrounding his office practice during the early days of the pandemic to be compelling and
convincing in that he attempted to thread the needle to keep his patients, staff, and family -via
himself- as safe as possible while adhering to a practice of having a chaperone present, or he would
reschedule his patients. IC’s witness Patient C testified that the Respondent always had a chaperone
present during her exams. IC’s witness Ms. Carden was the only witness other than the Respondent
who was familiar with the regular operation of Respondent’s medical practice, and, although she
had difficulty remembering many things she was asked about, her testimony was mostly consistent
with his. She did remember, among other things, that there were COVID-19 policies in place; that
patients were rescheduled if ill; that, although not trained as a chaperone, she stood in the doorway
or in the exam room; that a nurse practitioner was present toward the end of her employment as a
receptionist; and that there was always a chaperone present when she had exams as a patient.

Photographs for Ads: The IC offered evidence to prove as untrue Respondent’s position

that he used models for nude photos to create ads for various AVN publications. To that end,
evidence was offered that he hardly had contact with representatives of AVN that could lead to the
conclusion that the solicitation of models for nude photos was for other reasons. However, in light
of Respondent’s testimony of ongoing contact with AVN throughout an approximate seven-year
period that was corroborated by evidence of ads, drafts of ads, and email communication, the
undersigned cannot reach the conclusion that Respondent’s pursuit of models for nude photos was
for nefarious purposes other than for ads promoting his practice in AVN publications, although
reasonable minds can differ whether that is appropriate or not.

Solicitation of Patients B and C for nude photographs: The testimony is consistent that

Respondent placed ads in the bathroom at his practice informing those who read them about his
cosmetic GYN practice and procedures and his offer to pay $1000 for a nude photo shoot. The

testimony is inconsistent about who raised the modeling question, with Respondent testifying that
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he put the posters up in the bathroom and answered questions if posed by his patients. In contrast,
Patients B and C’s both testified that Respondent raised the issue of modeling for nude photos. In
Patient B’s case, she testified that she was still in the exam room in an examination gown and
partially disrobed. There is no question that any patient in this position would feel vulnerable and
exposed, both literally and figuratively. In Patient C’s case, she testified that Respondent posed the
question of modeling nude during a later phone call. In either case, any patient would find this to
be highly unexpected and inappropriate in a regular exam situation that would undermine her trust
and confidence in her physician. Although Respondent’s expert Dr. Goodman stopped short of
calling this practice inappropriate, stating that it depended upon how it was presented, he did testify
that he would not do it in his own practice. Once again, these are “he-said-she-said” situations.
However, regarding this specific issue, the undersigned found that the testimony of both Patient B
and C was clear, unequivocal, and convincing.

“Fisting”: There was an abundance of testimony and evidence offered on the issue of
“fisting”, the likelinood of fisting, and in numerous instances there was clarification that
Respondent was not accused of “fisting” but of saying to Patient A that he “fisted” her, as set forth
in the summary, above. The undersigned agrees with IC’s expert witness Dr. Rafael, that he is
aware of Patient A’s allegation that she “states that Dr. Chambers talks about fisting or—it’s not
clear whether—exactly what he said....[bJut she does mention the word “fisting,” and the way I read
it was that, perhaps, somehow he said, well, this isn’t fisting, because she was in pain during the
time of exam.” Vol. II, TR 98.

Photos Taken During Exams: Neither expert, Dr. Rafael nor Dr. Goodman, were too

concerned with the taking of “before-and-after” photographs, with consent. Both testified that it has
become common in many specialties, but especially in cosmetic practices. Dr. Rafael testified that
he did not use photos when he had an active practice. However, both experts testified about the risk
of personal photos being misused or inadvertently shared and the importance of proper encryption
and safeguarding of such personal photos. Dr. Goodman testified that taking multiple photos and
choosing a few was accepted practice in his field.
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Thus, based on the credibility of the witnesses and the testimony rendered, I find as follows:

Count I, NRS 630.301(6), Disruptive Behavior, premised upon the taking photographs of
Patient A: Based on the evidence and testimony given, the undersigned finds that the IC did not
meet its burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent’s taking of
photographs for purposes of establishing documentation of before and after patient conditions
amounts to Disruptive Behavior as described in NRS 630.301(6).

Count II, NRS 630.301(6), Disruptive Behavior, premised upon the allegation that
Respondent told Patient A that he attempted to “fist” her: As stated above, Patient A’s testimony
was compelling, yet there was a great deal of conflicting testimony—a classic “he-said-she-said”
situation—regarding this issue. As such, with the IC having the burden of proof, the undersigned
finds that with the elements of this allegation have not been met by a preponderance of the evidence.

Count ITI, NRS 630.306(1)(b)(1), Engaging in Conduct Intended to Deceive, premised upon
the allegation that the Respondent used four fingers to examine Patient A but documented that he
used only two fingers in the medical record; both expert witnesses Dr. Rafael and Dr. Goodman
agreed separately that the Respondent’s medical notes were thorough, and that physicians generally
do not document everything during a busy day seeing patients, this appears to be a non-issue, thus
the burden of proof demonstrating that Respondent engaged in conduct that intended to deceive that
would violate NRS 630.306(1)(b)(1) is not met.

Count IV, NRS 630.3062(1)(a), Failure to Maintain Proper Medical Records, premised upon
the allegation that the Respondent used four fingers to examine Patient A but documented that he
used only two fingers in the medical record: likewise, for the same reasons stated above in Count
IV, the testimony did not support a finding that Respondent failed to maintain proper medical
records by a preponderance of the evidence that would violate NRS 630.3062(1)(a).

Count V, NRS 630.301(7), Engaging in Conduct That Violates the Trust of a Patient and
Exploits the Relationship of a Patient for Financial or Other Personal Gain, premised upon the
allegation that the Respondent offered to pay Patient B $1000 if she would pose as a nude model
while she was still in the examining room; based on the evidence and testimony presented, the
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undersigned finds that the IC met its burden of proof and meets the requirements of
NRS 630.301(7).

Count VI, NRS 630.301(7), Engaging in Conduct That Violates the Trust of a Patient and
Exploits the Relationship of a Patient for Financial or Other Personal Gain, premised upon the
allegation that the Respondent offered to pay Patient C $1000 if she would pose as a nude model
while she was still in the examining room: based on the evidence and testimony presented, the
undersigned finds that the IC met its burden of proof and meets the requirements of
NRS 630.301(7).

Count VII, NRS 630.306(1)(g), Continual Failure to Practice Medicine Properly, premised
upon the allegation that “[b]y repeatedly engaging in sexual misconduct with Patients A, B, and C,
as set forth above, Respondent has continually failed to exercise the skill and diligence and use the
methods ordinarily exercised under the same circumstances by physicians in good standing
practicing in his field of obstetrics and gynecology.” Complaint, p. 9, ll. 17-20.

Initially, the undersigned hearing officer notes that there is not a separate allegation of
“sexual misconduct.” The question becomes, then, even if the basis of “sexual misconduct” is
removed from consideration, did the IC prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent’s
actions in offering $1000 to Patients A, and B while at their appointments, some still in an
examination gown and partially disrobed, and Patient C later by telephone, enough to demonstrate
that his “continual failure to exercise the skill or diligence or use the methods ordinarily exercised
under the same circumstances by physicians in good standing practicing in the same specialty or
field”? Respondent’s expert witness, Dr. Goodman, testified in the affirmative and, although he
did not believe it violated the standard of practice, he would not have engaged in that practice
himself. That is enough to tip the scales to find that the burden of proof has been met as to Count
VIIL

Count VIIL, NRS 630.301(9), Disreputable Conduct, premised upon the allegation that “by
repeatedly engaging in sexual misconduct and by repeatedly violating his patients’ trust and
exploiting his relationship with them Respondent engaged in conduct that brings the medical

profession into disrepute.” Complaint, p. 10, I11-3.
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A similar analysis is appropriate regarding Count VIII, and the result is likewise that the IC
has met its burden of proof.

CONCLUSION

As required of a hearing officer, I have provided a synopsis of the testimony and have made
recommendations on the veracity of witnesses if there is conflicting evidence, or the credibility of
a witness is a determining factor. Accordingly, I submit that it is within the purview of the Board
to determine if the charges have been established by a preponderance of the evidence. To the extent
my authority allows me to weigh in on that via a determination of credibility, I submit such a burden
has not been met in this matter as to Counts I-IV but has been met in Counts V-VIII alleged in the
Complaint against Respondent for the reasons set forth herein.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 21* day of August 2023.

VWAL bans

Nancy Moss Ghusn, Esq.

Hearing Officer for the

Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners
675 West Moana Lane Ste. 170.

Reno, NV 89509
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Page 5
RENO, NEVADA -- MAY 2, 2023 -- 1:00 P.M

- 00o0-

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: We're on the record.
And for those of you who don't know ne, |'m
Adm nistrative Hearing O ficer Nancy CGhusin, and this is
the time and pl ace --

THE REPORTER. |I'msorry, ma'am |'mgoing to
get alittle closer to you. The road noise is too
di stracting for ne.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Well, we can close it
if youd like. 1'd prefer to |eave it open.

W're trying to get sone fresh air in here.
So, we'll make sone adjustnents.

MR WH TE: W can trying closing this one and
opening this door.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Thank you.

Al right. So, nostly for your benefit,
Dr. Chanbers, | know Ms. Mooneyhan has been through this
numerous tinmes, in an admnistrative hearing, we have
rel axed rules of evidence, and I'll get to that in just a
monent .

W were just having a discussion on howto
swear the witness. W have witnesses siting in the back;

that is correct, Ms. Mooneyhan?

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F
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1 M5. MOONEYHAN: We do.
2 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. We could swear
3 every one at once. How would you prefer? O one at a
4 time?
5 M5. MOONEYHAN: | do have a plan for
6 addressing -- one at atinme. | do have a plan for having
7 themverify their identity on the record using the
8 patient designation that was filed under seal.
9 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Okay. Al right.
10 Then just a few prelimnary matters, | won't
11 worry about swearing. As | was nentioning up here,
12 sonetimes in hearings, we sware all at once.
13 | s anyone invoking the rule of exclusion?
14 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes, Your Honor. The |IC does
15 invoke the rule.
16 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Thank you.
17 A couple other matters, Dr. Chanbers, since
18 <clearly you're not represented, if you have any
19 questions, if technology's ever a problem if you cannot
20 understand any of the witnesses as well, please feel free
21 to interrupt and let nme know.
22 |'d rather stop any questioning than pl ow ahead
23 and have to go back and start over again.
24 Do you understand, Dr. Chanbers?
25 DR. CHAMBERS. | do.
Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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Page /
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N. kay. Thank you.

Also, | don't know if this has been expl ai ned
to you, but as the IC has the burden of proof by a
preponderance of the evidence, the IC gets to go first
and gets to go last. And so the first and |ast bite of
the apple in questioning and in opening and cl osing
st at enent s.

Do you understand that, Dr. Chanbers?

DR CHAMBERS: | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. Ckay. Perfect.

You w Il have the opportunity to nmake an
openi ng statenment at the conclusion of Ms. Moneyhan's
openi ng statenent.

Ms. Mooneyhan, | am pronouncing it correctly --
right? -- after all of our status conferences.

M5. MOONEYHAN: Yes. Thank you very much.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

She will make her opening statenent on behal f
of the IC. At that point, you have the opportunity
either to make on opening statenent at that tine or
reserve the right to make an opening statenment before
your case the chief. That will be your call

Do you understand, Dr. Chanbers?

DR CHAMBERS: | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Okay. Do you have any

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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1 questions at this point, Dr. Chanbers? rage 8
2 DR CHAMBERS: | do not.

3 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

4 Ms. Mooneyhan, any questions?

5 M5. MOONEYHAN: | would like to nake a couple
6 of points of order, Your Honor.

7 First of all, | wanted to know for the record
8 that -- well, also | want to bring attention to your

9 record, protecting patient |ikenesses.

10 You have sone caneras in the hearing office in
11 the south, so | just wanted to nake a point -- point it
12 out that that is in effect, and our general counsel,

13 Deonne Contine, is here to ensure clients maintain order
14 and maintain decorumin the hearing --

15 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And that --

16 M5. MOONEYHAN: -- room

17 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And that -- excuse ne
18 -- order has been shared?

19 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes.
20 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  So -- and the nedia is
21 aware of the existence of the order; is that correct?
22 Everyone's nodding | see. Okay. Perfect.
23 All right. Go ahead, Ms. Moneyhan.
24 M5. MOONEYHAN: Al so, a second point or order,
25 one of our designated wi tnesses, Dr. Richard Rafael, he

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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. — Page 9
| et us know that he believes he may, very tangentially,

maybe, have net you, maybe knows a famly menber of
yours, Ms. Ghusin, and --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And | wanted to --
yeah, thank you for brining that to ny attention. |
think I brought that up early on. | don't know him |
recogni ze hi s namne.

Yeah, | though about it, and | thought maybe
it's because of Reno, and people you know.

And al so for full disclosure, ny brother is a
retired physician, and he may know ny brot her.

So, | don't knowif 1'd recognize him | do
recogni ze his nane, and | do renenber brining that up
early on in the case.

M5. MOONEYHAN: | just want to nmake a record of
t hat .

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Yes. R ght.

M5. MOONEYHAN: We do not have any objection to
you continuing, but we wanted to put it on the record.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Well, 1'd want to know
if Dr. Chanbers -- should be aware of that.

DR CHAMBERS: | have no objection

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. And, again, |
recogni ze his nanme, and | think that's all. But there

may be a nutual friend, patient, fam |y nenber because of

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

1 physicians inny famly. GCkay? | think we're all E?%%r}o
2 Ckay, Ms. Mboneyhan, next order?

3 M5. MOONEYHAN: | think that's it. Al though

4 this exchange does highlight the fact that, for the sake
5 of the court reporter, we should probably all take a

6 pause after each statenment that we make. ['mas guilty

7 of violating that as anybody, but | just wanted to rem nd
8 all of us that we need to --

9 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

10 MS. MOONEYHAN: -- wait a second --

11 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes.

12 MS. MOONEYHAN: -- before --

13 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And | agree. Let ne
14 know if we start speaking too quickly. | know | don't

15 have the | oudest voice also. | think I'"'mgoing to do a
16 lot of listening.

17 So, Dr. Chanmbers, howit's going to go is

18 Ms. Mooneyhan --

19 And possibly you too, M. Wite.
20 MR VWH TE: Yes.
21 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  -- wi Il have questions
22 for the wtnesses.
23 Dr. Chanbers, you'll have an opportunity to
24 cross-exam ne at the conclusion of their questioning.
25 And it'll go back and forth like that. Okay?
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. ] . Page 11
bj ections, we may hear sone. Like | said, we

have the rel axed rul es of evidence. You nmay hear ne
aski ng some questi ons.

My purpose here is to gather information, and I
need -- | need what | need as far as witing decisions
and maki ng recomendati ons.

So I'lIl probably ask some questions too. Both
the 1C, and you, Dr. Chanbers, wll have the opportunity
to follow up any of questions as well.

Do you understand, Dr. Chanbers?

DR CHAMBERS: | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

Ms. Mboneyhan, anythi ng?

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Not hing further. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. Did we decide
to swear one at a tine?

M5. MOONEYHAN: Yes. And are we going to nake
openi ng remarks before --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | was going to al so
ask M. Wite -- I'msorry.

Do you have anything el se to add?

MR WHTE | don't. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

Yes, please go ahead.

M5. MOONEYHAN:. Thank you.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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Page 12
OPENI NG STATEMENTS

BY M5. MOONEYHAN: Keep your cell phone nearby so |
coul d take photos of your body during your
gynecol ogi cal exam During your gynecol ogi cal exam
| try to do sonething called "fisting." Wuld you
all ow nme take photos of your nude body for $1,0007?

In this hearing, three patients will explain
how they heard statenents |like this fromthe respondent,
Dr. Chanbers. Al three patients were receiving
gynecol ogi cal care fromDr. Chanbers. A situation that
necessarily engenders trust and vul nerable on the part of
t he patients.

You w ||l hear the affect that Dr. Chanbers'
behavi or had on these patients and their nedical care,
and how such behavior reflects on the medi cal profession.

You will al so hear how Dr. Chanbers naintained
his records of one of those encounters in a way that was
desi gned to conceal his m sconduct.

Johnna LaRue, the Deputy Chief of
| nvestigations for the Board of Medical Exam ners,
conducted an investigation of the three patients'
encounters with Dr. Chanbers.

Patient A who needed a physical to help her
address unconfortabl e changes to her body arising from

childbirth, primarily perineal pain, will explain that

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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_ Page 13
her normal gynecol ogi st referred her to Dr. Chanbers, and

what happened at the resulting visit.

Patient A was nervous about neeting with the
doctor regarding potentially having surgery. She was
worried that she mght forget the questions that she had
that arose fromthe extensive research that she did.

She didn't want to forget them so she
carefully wote out those questions so she would renenber
to ask themduring her neeting with Dr. Chanbers.

She was primarily there to address pain, not
anyt hi ng cosnetic.

After some di scussion about her pain, Dr.
Chanmbers told her to undress for a physical examand to
keep her cell phone nearby so that he could use it to
take pictures of her body with it.

She wondered why he didn't have his own canera
for such purposes, but she deferred to himbecause he's a
doct or.

So she did so.

He returned to the room Even though he was
going to be performng a pelvic exam nation on Patient A,
Dr. Chanbers did not close the door to the exam ning
room

When patient A questioned himabout this,

Dr. Chanbers assured her that the exam woul d be private.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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Page 14
He proceeded to performthe exam and use the

patient's cell phone to take twelve photos of her vagi nal
and rectal areas. One of those pictures shows him
inserting four fingers into her vagina.

By itself, a gynecologist inserted four fingers
during a pelvic exam nmay be appropriate; however, this
detail's inportant in this case because it's closely
related to comments Dr. Chanbers made after he exam ned
her, which we will get to.

But first, addressing the taking of photos.

You know Dr. Chanbers took twelve photos of
Patient A s vaginal and rectal areas. He asked her to
text himonly two pictures of her vulva so that he could
show her the surgery he proposed to performon her.

She was sonmewhat hesitant to text the photos
because they were extraordinarily intimte pictures, and
Dr. Chanbers did not explain any neasures he was taking
to ensure that they woul d remain secure and confidential.

He sinply said, "Text these two pictures to
this nunber, and be careful when you do, because | had
anot her patient m sdirect such photos once."

It begs the question what the other ten photos
were for?

The investigator, Ms. LaRue, wote Dr. Chanbers

a letter inquiring about this encounter with Patient A

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
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. Page 15
In his response to that letter, Dr. Chanbers

stated, in part, that his exam nation of Patient A showed
that she had a rectocele and used his left hand to take a
picture of it so, quote: "I could explain what it was
and how it could be repaired.”

However, this was not one of the photos he had
her text him He did not use the other ten photos or ask
for that, and it's quite clear that the other ten photos
were not for purposes of diagnosis for treatnent.

Again, Patient Ainitially thought that
Dr. Chanbers had to take these photos for her treatnent,
but when it | ater dawned on her that he never used the
ot her ten photos, Patient A was humliated and felt
sexual | y demeaned that he took them for no apparent
reason, related to her nedical care, and they were |eft
on her phone.

After he was done taking photos and her
physi cal exam was conplete, Dr. Chanbers left the room
whil e Patient A dressed and then returned for nore
di scussi on.

Upon his return, he infornmed Patient A that
during her exam he had attenpted to do sonething called
"fisting."”

Fisting is a non-nedical termfor a sexual act

in which a person inserts and entire hand into a person's
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: Page 16
vagi na.

Patient A did not know what fisting meant, but
Dr. Chanbers said, "That's what | tried to do," and
expl ained that he was only able to get his hand, quote,
this far, and he showed her with his hand how he was able
to insert a significant part of his hand into her vagi na.

He foll owed up his extrenely inappropriate
commentary by stating that a man's penis i s approxi mately
two fingers wide, |leaving Patient A feeling that her
vagi na was abnormal ly | arge.

She wal ked in believing that the pain in her
peri neum m ght be addressed, and all of a sudden, she was
worried that her vagina was too large for a nman's penis.

In her letter to Dr. Chanbers about this
matter, Ms. LaRue asked if Dr. Chanbers had nade these
conmrents about fisting to Patient A

In his response, Dr. Chanbers ignored that
preci se question and instead m sdirected by vehenently
denying that he had fisted Patient A

We trust that you will carefully | ook at
el evations of the conplaint. The |IC does not accuse
Dr. Chanbers of fisting Patient A, it accuses hi m of
using the sexual termin a way that humliated and
denmeaned her, and interfered with the care she was there

to received.
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Careful review of his responses to Ms. LaRue's

letter also shows that Dr. Chanbers repeatedly notes the
number of fingers inserted into Patient A s body, and he
repeatedly states that it was one or two.

He stated that during his exam of Patient A, he
inserted one finger into her vagina while pal pating parts
of her anatony and asking her whether she felt pain or
pressure, then inserted a second finger to check her
nmuscl e tone.

He al so states that prior to her exam nation,
he used a single packet of lubricating jelly to, quote,
| ubricate nmy two fingers.

Simlarly in his record of the encounter,

Dr. Chanbers stated that he sized Patient A's introital
opening with, quote, my two exam ning fingers.

Dr. Chanbers stated repeatedly, again, had
inserted one or two fingers into Patient A s vagi na
during the encounter. He never nentioned that he
inserted four fingers.

However, the photos he took with Patient A's
cell phone show that he did, indeed, insert four fingers.
This is consistent with what he told Patient A when he
brought up trying to fist her, but only being able to
insert part of his hand into her vagi na.

There woul d be no reason for a gynecologist to
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have to hide the insertion of four fingers if such

insertion was part of a normal pelvic exam nation.

However, there may, indeed, be a reason to hide
it if doing so coincides to an extrenely inappropriate
comment to a patient that the doctor had tried to fist
her .

Dr. Chanbers's record of the encounter and this
expl anation to Ms. LaRue were inaccurate and deceptive
and in order to conceal the highly unprofessional part of
t he encounter.

Just like with the unnecessary pictures or her
cell phone, Patient A was hum liated and sexually
deneaned at being told the doctor had tried to fist her
and was able to insert a significant part of his hand to
her vagi na.

She felt enbarrassed and deneaned by what he
told her.

Anot her notabl e el enent of Dr. Chanbers'
response to Ms. LaRue was hi m nmentioning the presence of
a chaperone. He alleged that a chaperone was present and
that she could refute Patient A s description of the
encount er.

However, the alleged chaperone will testify
that she not in the roomduring the examwhile she was

nearby working on files, and, again, he did | eave the
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door open during the exam

The al |l eged chaperone did not hear the
particulars of the conversation between Dr. Chanbers and
Patient A

You'll also hear fromPatient B, who was a
patient of Dr. Chanbers for several years until their
| ast encounter in October of 2018.

Patient B wll explain that after that exam
with Dr. Chanbers, he asked other staff there that were
present to | eave the room |eaving just she and
Dr. Chanbers in the room

Wiile it was just two of them Dr. Chanbers
asked her if she would nodel nude for photos to be taken
by him and that he would pay her $1,000 if she did so.

He offered to give her a copy of the phot os,
but that she should not tell her husband that he was the
one that took the photos.

While Dr. Chanbers refutes the details of how
this offer was presented to Patient B, he does not
di spute that he offered $1,000 to a patient to nodel for
an ad he allegedly hoped to create.

Patient Cwll explain a very simlar encounter
when Dr. Chanbers also offered her $1,000 to nodel for
one of his ads.

Again, Dr. Chanbers refutes the details, but,
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agai n, he does not dispute the key fact that he offered

the patient $1,000 to nodel nude for an ad.

Maki ng such offers in the mddle of medica
encounters violated the patient relationship with these
patients, it violated these patients' trust in their
doctor, and it was done in order to realize a personal
gain for hinself.

Finally on behalf of the IC, you will hear from
Dr. Richard Rafael, who has been a |icensed gynecol ogi st
in Nevada since 1985, and who will testify about his
review of the records in these cases and his famliarity
with what is appropriate in a patient encounter with a
gynecol ogi st, as well as his study of authorities on
sexual m sconduct by physicians in general and
gynecol ogi sts in particular, and the conclusions that he
draws when applying that know edge to what happened to
these three patients.

As an OB-GYN, Dr. Chanbers encounters patients
in an especially vul nerable position. Doctors and
patients have a special relationship. Patients trust
physicians with their health. They are dependent on
doctors to use their extensive education and experience
to keep them healthy or help address any threats to their
health. There is an inherent inbalance of power.

ACOG which is the American Coll ege of
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Gynecol ogi sts, is the prestigi ous, professional

associ ation for OB-GYNs. Both Dr. Chanbers and
Dr. Rafael are menbers.

ACOG has issued a formal opinion stating that
the relationship between OB-GYNs and their patients
requires a high level of trust and responsibility because
the practice of gynecol ogy, quote:

"I ncludes interactions in tines
of intense enotion and

vul nerability for patients,

I nvol ves sensitive physica
exam nation, and nedically
necessary disclosure of private
I nformati on about sexual
experience."

I n that sane opinion, ACOG explains that sexua
I mproprieties, such as behavi or, gestures, or expressions
that are sexual ly suggestive, disrespectful of patient
privacy, or sexually deneaning are a form of sexua
m sconduct .

Dr. Chanbers' behavior with Patient A, Patient
B, and Patient C was sexual |y suggestive, disrespectful
of their privacy, and sexually deneaning, and he
t herefore engaged in sexual m sconduct as defined by

ACOG
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In so doing, he also violated several of the

patients under Nevada's Medical Practice Act.

Dr. Chanbers identified his w tnesses as
Dr. Mchael Goodman, who was designated in part as being
expected to testify as an expert in female genital
pl astic and cosnetic surgery.

Not abl y, none of these patients in these
matters has genital plastic or cosnetic surgery, and that
is not what we're tal king about in this case.

Dr. Goodman is also going to apparently testify
about Dr. Chanbers' training and his character.

Dr. Chanbers also identified three patients who
apparently had better experiences with himthan did
Patient A Patient B, and Patient C

However, these patients were not present during
his encounters with Patient A Patient B, and Patient C,
and they likely cannot shed nuch |ight on those
encount ers.

The evidence will show that Dr. Chanbers
fundanmental |y di sregarded the boundaries between a
physi cian and patient that are required. Not suggested,
not strongly encouraged, but required by his profession.

We are confident that the evidence in this
matter will support an eventual finding that Dr. Chanbers

viol ated the Medical Practice Act in each of the ways
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alleged in the formal conplaint.

Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

Dr. Chanbers, do you choose to nake an opening
statenment at this time, or do you reserve it until later?

DR. CHAMBERS: Now.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Okay. Thank you.

BY DR CHAMBERS: (Good afternoon, Ms. Ghusin,
menbers of Board, and counsel for the Board.

The conplaint filed against ne by the Board on
Sept enber 21, 2022, contains allegations of rape.
Al'though it may read as if facts have established, they
have not.

Pl ease consider that |I'minnocent until proven
guilty, and just |ike any other American, | deserve the
benefit of the doubt until proven otherw se.

Vagi na whi sperer OB- GYN accused of sexual
m sconduct by the nedical field.

This is what nedia wants people on the
wor | d-wi de web to believe about ne. The nicknane "vagi na
whi sperer” was given to ne 16 years ago by a
wel | -respected, |ocal perinatologist in response to a
nurse who jokingly conplained that | had taken two hours
to repair ny patient's extensive obstetrical |aceration.

My response to the nurse was that the tinme |
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took was to ensure that there would be no scarring or

sexual disfunction

Al t hough the conplaint did not charge ne with
any sexual m sconduct, it incrimnated nme in having been
seductive, sexually aggressive, and sexually deneani ng
toward Patients A B, and C

In the eyes of the Investigative Commttee, ny
role as a cosnetic gynecol ogi cal surgeon was seen as a
depraved nmeans to allegedly sexually victimze wonen.

Sexual deviance just don't form over night.

| have served the wonen of this conmmunity for
over two decades. In all those years, the main conplaint
about me was the long wait time in nmy office, with those
sane patients conplinmenting ny skills as an OB- GYN.

The Investigative Committee order me to go for
psychiatric evaluation. The psychiatrist, who was chosen
by the Board said, quote:

"It is my professional opinion to
a reasonabl e degree of

psychi atric probably that

Dr. Chanbers does not suffer from
a psychiatric condition which
woul d inpair his ability to
reasonably and safely practice

medi cine within his specialty of
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1 choi ce. "

2 | am not the nonster that they want you to

3 believe | am | am George Peter Chanbers, Jr., nedica

4 doctor, fellow of the American Coll ege of Cbstetrician

5 and Gynecol ogi sts.

6 | am here to proclaimny innocence so that |

7 may continue to work as physician in ny chosen

8 specialties. So | may continue to give ny children the

9 life and education that prom sed themon the day of their

10 birth.

11 |'mhere to clear ny nane, which was given to

12 me by nmy late father, and whose nane | passed on to ny

13 son.

14 | received the calling to beconme a physician

15 when | was ten years old. |'ma board-certified OB GYN,

16 with a quarter century of experience. And for alnost a

17 decade, |'ve been a certified sexual health clinician, as

18 well a trained cosmetic GYN surgeon.

19 | am not an abuser of wonen.

20 | am the doctor who picked up a patient who

21 started having a mscarriage in ny office and still

22 henorrhaging with a liter of blood whilst in nmy bathroom

23 ny office lavatory.

24 After the 911 operator told nme that an

25 anbul ance would arrive in ten mnutes, | thought that was
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1 absurd, as there were anbul ances in the parking | ot bel ow
2 ny office window. Ten mnutes would be |ong, too | ong,

3 for an actively henorrhagi ng patient.

4 In front of ny fornmer enployer, Dr. Nader

5 Abdel sayed, | picked up ny patient into ny arns, carried
6 her down a flight of stairs, then ran with her in nmy arns
7 across the parking lot into the ER at North Vista

8 Hospital, where she stabilized. | then perforned an

9 energent dilation and curettage.

10 | am the doctor who persuaded paranedi cs who

11 had brought in a |aboring, pregnant woman who was 25

12 weeks pregnant into North Vista Hospital to take her to
13 Valley Hospital Medical Center for a higher |evel of

14 prenatal care.

15 They were afraid, but | promsed to drive

16 behind the anbul ance and that | would pull over with them
17 on the side of the freeway to deliver the baby if

18 necessary. Dr. Ravi Krishnan, neonatol ogist, agreed to
19 follow behind ne. W delivered her baby safely at Valley
20 Hospital an hour after we had arrived.
21 | amthe doctor who rescued a pregnant patient
22 who came into ny office freshly battered and bruised. |
23 protected her froman abusive partner by escorting her
24 out of ny office private entrance, took her to the
25 hospital where her |abor was induced. | then hel ped her

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112

www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

© o0 ~N o o b~ w N

N N NN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO0 0o b~ wWw N +—» O

_ _ Page 2/
to make arrangenents to return to her famly in Puerto

Ri co.

| amthe man who has sponsored the Cup Cake
Grls. This is a local group that helps individuals in
all rounds of the sex industry, including those who have
been sex trafficked.

| am the doctor who, after delivering ny
patient's baby, | was we getting into my car at 0200
house one night, when | noticed the |abor nurse running
towards me in the parking lot whilst yelling out ny nane.
Apparently, | was in only OB-GYN in the hospital at said
hour of the night, another OB-GYN s patient that
experienced an unbilical cord prol apse, there was no
anest hesi ol ogi st in house, and the patient's OB- GYN was
20 m nutes away, | perforned an energency cesarean
section, using |local anesthesia. The baby was saved.

| didn't do it for the noney or glory; | did it
because it was the right thing to do. And | did it
wi t hout fear.

There are countl ess exanpl es of ny good deeds
as a physici an.

Dedicating ny life to the service of wonen's
health was ny way of honoring nmy heros. They are ny late
great grandnot her who taught nme courage, ny 99-year-old

grandnot her who continues to teach me perseverance, ny
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not her who continues to teach me about the power of

forgi veness and generosity, as well as ny undergraduate
advi ser, Dr. (indubible), chair of the chem stry
department at the American University in Washi ngton DC
who opened many doors of opportunity for ne.

At a certain points during ny tenure here in
Las Vegas, | started getting patients who wanted their
vagina restored to their pre-childbirth status.

My research showed that this was becom ng a
worl d-wi de trend. These patients reported sexual
dysfunction fromtheir sensation of having vaginal laxity
or alifelong problemw th enlarged or asymetric |abia
m nor a.

| even had patients who were requesting hynenal
restoration for cultural reasons. And for sone, it was a
matter of life or death.

There's a plethora of data that shows that a
woman's confort with the appearance of her breasts,
vul va, vagina, and buttocks directly correlates with her
confort with sexual intercourse.

| saw the Iink between cosnetic GYN surgery and
sexual health. | decided | would pursue a subspeciality
in this niche market.

As a board-certified OB-GYN, | was al ready

trained in pelvic neuroanatony and surgery. But |
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1 realized in residency training, OB-GYNs got little to no
2 training in plastic surgery techniques or femal e sexua

3 health.

4 The Anerican College of Qostetricians and

5 Gynecologists, inits practice bulletin nunber 213,

6 published July, 2019, stated, quote:

7 “Al though femal e sexua

8 dysfunction is relatively

9 preval ent, wonen are unlikely to

10 discuss it with their healthcare

11 provi ders unl ess asked, and many

12 heal t hcare providers are

13 unconfortabl e asking for a

14 variety of reasons, including

15 | ack of knowl edge and training."

16 At great financial expense, | went for

17 post-residency training. Firstly, | attended the Seventh
18 Congress on aesthetics of vaginal surgery, sponsored by
19 Dr. Red Alinsod, one of the pioneers in cosnetic GYN
20 surgery, and the National Society of Cosnetic Physicians
21 on Cctober 20 and 21 of 2012.
22 | attended | ectures by Dr. Alinsod and
23 Dr. Mchael Goodman, ny expert w tness and anot her
24 pioneer in cosnmetic GYN surgery.
25 Secondly, | enrolled in the sexual health
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certification programthrough the Anmerican Acadeny of

Antiagi ng Medicine, on July 2nd, 2012. The training
concl uded on Decenber 14, 2013.

Thirdly, in Novenber of 2013, | enrolled in
Dr. Goodman's female genital plastic cosnetic surgery
masters course to learn plastic surgery techniques to
close the skin, options in |abiaplasty, safe ways to
performclitoral reduction, appropriate suture selection,
and how to do these surgeries under |ocal anesthesia.

Dr. Goodman has edited one of the two -- or the
only two avail abl e textbooks in cosnetic GYN surgery. He
has witten many articles in peer review journals on the
topic, and has witten two chapters in a plastic surgery
t ext book.

He will describe his training course, the
fundamental differences between cosnetic GYN surgery and
general gynecol ogical surgery, as well different ways in
whi ch we size or neasure patients in the tw fields.

It has been alleged that had | attenpted to
fist Patient A. Fisting is a sexual kink in which a
person inserts his or her entire hand in a woman's
vagi na.

| don't do this in ny personal life. [I'min
t he busi ness of vaginal restoration and preservation.

Fisting has the potential of harmng a woman's pelvic
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floor.

In fact, in nmy 25 years as an OB-GYN, the only
time that |'ve ever inserted by entire hand in a wonan's
vagi na professionally is to renove or retain placenta
after vaginal delivery of a baby.

The procedure is a one that | absolutely detest
because failing is not an option. Failure could be
catastrophic. Failure could lead down a path to an
emer gency hysterectony or maternal death due to
post part um henor r hage.

My notes, which were handwitten in shorthand
during the consultation with Patient A were typed either
| ater that day or a couple of days after the
consul tati on.

Wien | typed the consultation note, | used the
two photographs that Patient A had texted ne to describe
t he exam nation and ny findings.

Wien | appeared before the Investigation
Conmttee, well over a year after the consultation, | was
asked if | had inserted four fingers into Patient A's
vagina. | said, "No." Not because | was willingly
m sl eading the 1 C, but because | genuinely could not
recal | doing so.

| should have taken sonme tine to think about

t he question before answering. But | said "no" because
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attenpted fisting was the accusation agai nst ne.

| only had two phot ographs, one of which showed
ny fingers separating her vaginal introitus or opening.
It wasn't until the discovery phase of this case that |
saw t he phot ograph showing ny four fingers in Patient A's
vaginal introitus that | recalled doing so.

It was alleged that | took 12 photographs for

sel f-serving reasons. | took those photos the way | take
pictures of ny famly, that is, | pressed the shutter
rel ease button in rapid succession, thereafter, | |ook at

t he photos, and keep the best ones. And | take the
pi ctures while noving nmy hand fromside to side across
the targeted area.

My second witness, Ms. Brittany Turner, who's
an adult entertainer, wll address this kink. | wll
show t hrough her testinony that | did not attenpt to fi st
Patient A, had | tried to do so, ny chaperone woul d have
seen and heard her screamin pain.

Ms. Mooneyhan and her cocounsel will tell you
that ny exam nation of Patient A was not chaperoned. W
exam nation was chaperoned. The chaperone m ght not have
been standi ng inside the room but the exam nation was
chaper oned.

Hi storically, it has been taboo for an OB- GYN

to market his or her nedical practice while I also
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subspecialize in cosnetic GYN surgery.

If it is legal or ethical for a plastic surgeon
to market his or her practice, why is it that the same
privilege is not afforded a cosnetic GYN surgeon in
Nevada?

If you walk into a plastic surgeon's office,
you will see a gallery of before and after surgica
phot ographs. Yet the IC nade it appear as if the
phot ographs that | have taken were pornographic.

Pre- and post-operative photographs are
necessary for nedical, |legal, educational, and marketing
pur poses. This was not pornography, as the public has
been led to believe. The photographs were taken after
consent is obtained.

It is not illegal or unethical to pay a wonman
or nodels to pose for ny marketing materials. | did not
hire nodeling for nmy marketing photos with exchange for
any nedi cal favors.

Sex is at the core of our existence. Sex is at
the core of our evolution. Sex is necessary for us
havi ng good envotional, nmental, and physical health.
Therefore, when there is a sexual health problem it is
significant.

The questions that nust be asked of a patient

seeki ng consultation for sexual dysfunction and sexual
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pain may be perceived as intrusive. They may be seen as

t aboo, especially when asked by a mal e OB- GYN.
But these patients are referred to nme because
their OB-GYNs are not trained to treat these problens.
According to the textbook, Fenale Genital

Pl astic and Cosnetic Surgery, published in 2016 and
edited by Dr. Goodman, quote:

“Proper preoperative eval uation

Is a vital process for a patient

who presents with an interest in

surgery to repair what she

conceives is a |l oose or rel axed

vagi na, and would like it

tightened for sexual enhancenent

and to correct the feeling of

havi ng a w de-open vagi na.

"This includes proper nedical

hi story, psychosocial eval uation

for sexual dysfunction and

overal | sexual satisfactions

prior to any of the anatom cal

changes she may have noted since

chil dbirth.

“"Marital or relationship issues

or concerns and an eval uation of
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her expectations of surgery and a

reason why she's interested in
t he procedure shoul d be di scussed
as wel|.
" An adequat e urogynecol ogi cal
hi story and physi cal exam nation
nmust be conpl eted. "
Am | allowed to give you an exhibit at this
time during the opening --
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers --
DR. CHAMBERS: -- statenent?
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Dr. Chanbers, this is
just the opening.
So it will be ICs turn to put on their case in
chief. And then it will be your turn, and you can
I ntroduce exhibits then
DR. CHAMBERS. Thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Anything to add,
Ms. Mooneyhan?
M5. MOONEYHAN: No. Thank you.
BY DR. CHAMBERS: | do not ask these questions for
ny personal pleasure. They are asked so that | may
devel op proper differential diagnoses and treatnment
pl ans.

Li kew se, the pelvic exam nation that is done
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to examne a patient with sexual dysfunction and pelvic

pain is nore thorough than the usual pelvic exam nation
done at a gynecol ogical visit for an annual.

In general, | talk to ny patients before |
touch themto avoid any surprise reaction. | educate
t hem about why |'m doing what | do.

| should not be penalized nor have ny name and
character besm rched for doing what | am supposed to do
to help ny patients.

In 2014, after A four M had nade the online
training an option for sexual health certification
program | tried to convince a couple fenmale OB-GYNs to
do the program because not every wonman woul d be
confortable seeing a mal e sexual health clinician.

One, whom | will not nane, had a nervous
| aughter. The other, Dr. Joana Fol ayan, expressed
Interest, and | gave her the A four M contact
information. | don't knowif she did the course.

It is ny hope that you'll see that this has
been one bi g m sunderstandi ng, one that has tarnished ny
once-stellar reputation, and has cost ny dearly.

My medi cal practice has been decimated. | was
fired froma lucrative nighttine | aborious job with
I nt er rount ai n Heal t hcar e.

One |l ocal nedia outlet even has a Ti kTok vi deo
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on its website, soliciting nmy patients to conme forth to

say | sexually abused them

| have been interviewed by detectives fromthe
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Departnment, yet | have not
been arrested.

|*ve been the subject of a grand jury subpoena,
yet |'ve not been indicted.

My Iife has been hell for the past seven
nonths. | believe in the American justice system |
believe in this Board. Before for these proceedings are
over, and after all the facts in this case are known, |
believe that you will see that |I'minnocent of charges
agai nst ne.

Thank you for your tine and attention.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

Ms. Mooneyhan?

M5. MOONEYHAN:.  Thank you. The IC would call
Johnna LaRue.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And we had spoken
previously about the rule of exclusion, and | should
explain that to Dr. Chanbers.

Ms. Mooneyhan, do you have any comments on
t hat ?

M5. MOONEYHAN: No. Ms. LaRue is not currently

inthe room So we will need a second for sonebody to go
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1 get her. rage S8
2 Just so Dr. Chanbers knows, if any his

3 wtnesses are in the room they should --

4 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | don't know who's in
5 room Are there any witnesses in the roonf

6 MS. MOONEYHAN: None of the IC s witnesses are
7 in the room

8 DR. CHAMBERS: None of mne are here.

9 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  (kay. Let's go ahead
10 and get your first wi tness, then.

11 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Thank you.

12 MS. FUENTES: Can you hear okay? | know

13 there's a lot of planes.

14 THE REPORTER  When the planes go over, it's
15 difficult.

16 MS. FUENTES: Just let us knowif it's too

17 nuch.

18 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Is it okay?

19 THE REPORTER:

20 Not when the planes go over.

21 MS. FUENTES: | worried when the anbul ance went
22 by.

23 THE REPORTER:  Yes. That was difficult.

24 M5. FUENTES: Well, just let us know, because
25 we need our record.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. Do you need it cl osed?

THE REPORTER. | would prefer for it to be

cl osed, yes.

HEARI NG OFFICER GHUSIN: | will have to wear a

mask if that's the case.
MS. MOONEYHAN: Ms. LaRue's here, Your Honor.
Ms. CGhusin, can you hear us?
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes.
MS. MOONEYHAN: Okay. Ms. LaRue is here and
ready to be sworn in.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Okay. She's in the
roonf?
MS. MOONEYHAN: Yes. At the end of the table.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N. kay. Thank you.
(The oath was adm ni stered.)
THE WTNESS: | do.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q Ms. LaRue, for the record, will you please
state and spell your first and |ast nane.
Johnna LaRue. J-OHNNA L-Acapital RUE

Ms. LaRue, how are you enpl oyed?

> O >

Q What is your title at the Nevada State Board of

Medi cal Exam ners?
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1 A Deputy Chief of Investigations and Conpliance
2 Oficer.
3 Q How | ong have you worked for the Board of
4 Medi cal Exam ners?
5 A Sevent een years.
6 Q Can you describe, in general, the process when
7 an investigation, howit |ands on your desk?
8 A We get conplaints either in paper or through
9 our website. They come in. As deputy chief, |I'mone of
10 the people that reviews those conplains to determ ne
11 violations. Then they get assigned to an investigator
12 where we go through process of review ng the allegations,
13 sending out a letter to the physician of the allegations
14 that were based in the conplaint, we require a response.
15 | f medical record are required based on
16 whatever the allegations are in the conplaint, then we
17 ogather the nedical records.
18 W get all the information and then put that
19 forward for our Investigative Commttee to nake a
20 deci sion.
21 There's a lot nore to it, but that's in
22 general.
23 Q Are you famliar in the formal conplaint that
24 was filed in this matter regarding Dr. Chanbers?
25 A Yes.
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1 Q Did you conduct the underlying investi ga??%en -
2 wth respect to Patient A?
3 A Yes.
4 Q |"mgoing ask you to turn to Exhibit 1 in that
5 binder in front of you.
6 A (Wtness conplied).
7 Q Do you recogni ze that docunent?
8 A Yes.
9 Q Can you describe what it is?
10 A This is the allegation letter that | prepared
11 based on the conplaint that | received.
12 Q Just is to clarify, with respect to Patient A?
13 A Wth respect to Patient A yes.
14 Q What is the date of that docunent?
15 A Sept enber 2nd, 2021.
16 Q And who signed the docunent?
17 A | did.
18 Q Is this docunment that's in your binder a true
19 and correct copy of the letter sent?
20 A Yes.
21 MS. MOONEYHAN: Your Honor, | nove to admt
22 Exhibit 1.
23 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.
24 Dr. Chanbers, any objection?
25 DR. CHAMBERS: None.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: |C s Exhibit 1 wl be

admtted into evidence.
(1Cs Exhibit 1 was admtted.)
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q On page NSBME 2, will you please review -- and
you don't need to read it out loud, will you please
review itens that you noted on that page 13 and 14.

A Yes.

Q Did you ask Dr. Chanmbers -- accuse Dr. Chanbers

of fisting Patient A?

A Yes.

Q Did you accuse himof using the term"fisting"?
A Yes.

Q And that -- it appears that -- did that appear

to have actually happened or sonmething |ess than that
t hat he was accused of that day?

A Based on the evidence that we gathered, it
appears that that's the case.

Q Can you turn to Exhibit 2, please?

This is a response to ny letter.

A (Wtness conplied).

Q Do you recogni ze that docunent?
A Yes.

Q What is it?

A

Q

VWhat is the date of this docunent?
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January 20, 2022.

A

Q | s that a docunent on |etterhead?

A Yes.

Q And what does the |etterhead say?

A Chanmbers and Associates. Do you want me to
read the rest?

Q No. Who sign the docunent?

A. George Chanbers, M.

Q Is that a true and conplete copy of the letter
you received regarding the allegations?

A Yes.

MS. MOONEYHAN: | nove to admit Exhibit 2.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, any
obj ection?

DR CHAMBERS: No objecti ons.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: I C s Exhibit 2 is
admtted into evidence.

(1Cs Exhibit 2 was adm tted.)
BY M5, MOONEYHAN:

Q Ms. LaRue, in this letter, did Dr. Chanbers
admt to taking nore photographs of Patient A than he
actually printed out that day?

A Yes.

Q And how many photographs did -- do you believe

that Dr. Chanbers took of Patient A's vaginal rectal area
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t hat day? a0¢

A Twel ve.
Q And how many did he ask her to text, according
to his letter?
A Two.
WIl you please turn to Exhibit 3.
(Wtness conplied).
Do you recogni ze Exhibit 3?
Yes.

What does Exhibit 3 appear to be?

> O > O >

These are Patient A's nedical records.
Q And how did you becone famliar with these
records?
A They were submtted with Exhibit 2 from
Dr. Chanbers.
Q And does this appear to be a conplete copy of
what you received fromDr. Chanbers regarding Patient A?
A This is a conplete copy of what | received from
Dr. Chanbers, yes.
MS. MOONEYHAN: Move to admt Exhibit 3.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, any
obj ecti on?
DR CHAMBERS: | have no objection
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  Okay. |IC s Exhibit 3

is admtted into evi dence.
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1 Thank you. rage 4o
2 (ICs Exhibit 3 was admtted.)
3 BY M5, MOONEYHAN:
4 Q | ask you to turn to Exhibit 4.
5 A (Wtness conplied).
6 Q Do you recogni ze what Exhibit 4 is?
7 A Yes.
8 Q And can you briefly describe what Exhibit 4 is?
9 A These are the 12 phot ographs that were taken.
10 Q That were taken?
11 A On the patient's cell phone by Dr. Chanbers.
12 Q How did you cone into this evidence?
13 A Patient A sent themto ne directly.
14 Q Do those appear to be true and correct copies
15 of the photos that she provided to you as part of this
16 investigation?
17 A Yes.
18 MS. MOONEYHAN:. Move to admt Exhibit 4.
19 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, sane
20 question, any objection to the --
21 DR. CHAMBERS:. | have no objection.
22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: 1 C s Exhibit 4 is
23 admtted into evidence.
24 (1Cs Exhibit 4 was admtted.)
25
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1 BY M5, MOONEYHAN:

2 Q Ms. LaRue, are you famliar with Dr. Chanbers'
3 ex-wfe?

4 A Vell, "famliar" wouldn't be the appropriate
5 word.

6 Q Are you -- have you ever spoken to her?

7 A Once.

8 Q Did you speak to her about our investigation of
9 his encounter -- Dr. Chanbers' encounter with Patient A?
10 A No.

11 Q Did she have any input at all into your

12 investigation of Patient A?

13 A No.

14 Q Did you al so conduct the underlying

15 investigation with respect to Patient B?

16 A Yes.

17 Pl ease turn to Exhibit 5.

18 A (Wtness conplied).

19 Q Do you recogni ze Exhibit 57
20 A Yes.
21 Q What does it appear to be to you?
22 A This is the allegation letter that | conpiled
23 based on the conplaint that | received fromPatient B.
24 Q And what is the -- on that docunent, what is
25 the date?
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Q

Page 4/
February 3rd, 2022.

And who signed this docunent?
| did.

Does this appear to be a true and conpl ete copy

of the letter to Dr. Chanbers regarding the investigation

with respect to Patient B?

A

Yes.
M5. MOONEYHAN. Move to admit Exhibit 5.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Any obj ecti on,

Dr. Chanbers?

DR. CHAMBERS: None.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Thank you.

IC s Exhibit 5is admtted into evidence.
(1Cs Exhibit 5 was admtted.)

BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

A

o >» O > O

Let's turn to Exhibit 6.

(Wtness conplied).

Do you recogni ze that docunent?

Yes.

What is Exhibit 6?

This is Dr. Chanmbers' response to Exhibit 5 in

regards to Patient B.

Q
A

Q

And what is that date of that response?
March 17th, 2022.

And what indicia do you have that it cane from
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1 Dr. Chanbers? rage 48
2 A It's letterhead is Chanbers and Associ ates, and
3 Dr. Chanbers' signature is on it.

4 Q Does this letter appear to be true and conplete
5 copy of the letter you received fromDr. Chanbers

6 regarding -- in response to your letter about Patient B?
7 A Yes.

8 M5. MOONEYHAN: Move to admt Exhibit 6.

9 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?

10 DR CHAMBERS: | have no objection.

11 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. 1 C s Exhibit 6 is

12 admitted into evidence.

13 (I1Cs Exhibit 6 was adm tted.)

14 BY M. MOONEYHAN:

15 Q Ms. LaRue, in Exhibit 6, does Dr. Chanbers

16 admt to offering Patient B noney for nude photographs?
17 Yes.

18 Q Did you ever speak to Dr. Chanbers' ex-wfe

19 about your investigation of his encounter with Patient B?
20 A No.

21 Q Did she have any input at all into that

22 investigation?

23 A No.

24 Q Pl ease turn to Exhibit 7.

25 A (Wtness conplied).
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Do you recogni ze Exhibit 77

Yes.

And what does it appear to be?

> O > O

These are Patient B's nedical records.
Q Just to clarify, are those Patient B s nedica

records fromDr. Chanbers?

A Yes.

Q How di d you cone into possession of those
records?

A Dr. Chanbers sent themto ne with his response

in regards to Patient B.
Q And what in Exhibit 7 -- does that appear to be
a correct and conplete copy of the records you received
from Dr. Chanbers regardi ng Patient B?
A Yes.
MS. MOONEYHAN: Move to admt Exhibit 7.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?
DR CHAMBERS: | have no objections.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: I C s Exhibit 7 is
admtted into evidence.
(1Cs Exhibit 7 was admtted.)
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q Ms. LaRue, did you al so conduct the
i nvestigation -- the underlying investigation with

respect to Patient C?
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Yes.

WIl you please turn to Exhibit 8.
(Wtness conplied).

Do you recogni ze that docunent?
Yes.

And what is it?

> O >» O >» O >

Page 50

This is the allegation letter that | conpiled

based on the conplaint that was received in regards to

Patient C.
Q And what is the date of letter?
A. February 17th, 2022.

Q And does this appear to be a true and correct

copy of the letter you sent to Dr. Chanbers regarding the

i nvestigation of Patient C?
A Yes.
MS. MOONEYHAN:. Move to admt Exhibit 8.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?
DR CHAMBERS: | have no objections.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. 1C s Exhibit 8

is admtted into evidence.
(I1Cs Exhibit 8 was admtted.)
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q "Il ask you now to turn to Exhibit 9.
A (Wtness conplied).
Q Do you recogni ze Exhibit 9?
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A. Yes.

Q And what is Exhibit 9?

A Exhibit 9 is Dr. Chanbers' response to ny
letter in regards to Patient C

Q What is the date of letter?

A March 17th, 2022.

Q And what makes you believe it is from
Dr. Chanbers?

A It's on Chanbers and Associates |etterhead, and
it's signed by Dr. Chanbers.

Q And that, Exhibit 9, is a true and conplete
copy of the letter you received?

A Yes.

MS. MOONEYHAN: Move to admt Exhibit 9.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?
DR CHAMBERS: | have no objections.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: 1 C s Exhibit 9 is
admtted into evidence.
(1Cs Exhibit 9 was admtted.)
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q Ms. LaRue, in Exhibit 9, in Dr. Chanbers'
response, did he admt to offering Patient C $1,000 to
t ake nude paragraphs of her?

A Yes.

Q Coul d you turn to exhibit 107?
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(Wtness conplied).

Do you recogni ze Exhibit 107?
Yes.

And what is it Exhibit 107?

> O > O >

These are Patient C s nedical records.
Q How did you conme into possession of those
records?
A Dr. Chanbers included themw th his response in
regards to Patient C
Q That appears to be a true and conpl ete copy of
the records that Dr. Chanbers sent to you?
A Yes.
MS. MOONEYHAN: Move to admt Exhibit 10.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?
DR CHAMBERS: | have no objections.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: I C s Exhibit 10 is
admtted into evidence.
(1Cs Exhibit 10 was admitted.)
BY M5, MOONEYHAN:
Q Ms. LaRue, did Dr. Chanbers' ex-w fe have any
I nput into your investigation of Patient C?
A No.
M5. MOONEYHAN: May | have a nonent, Your
Honor ?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes. Thank you.
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1 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Thank you. rage 59
2 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Maybe 1'Ill take a

3 quick nonent too.

4 M. Wiite, | checked into those in the roomin
5 the south end, but in the north end, anybody here that is
6 a wtness?

7 MR WH TE: No, they're not.

8 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Okay. Thank you.

9 M5. MOONEYHAN: | have no further questions of
10 M. LaRue at this tine.

11 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you,

12 Ms. Mboneyhan.

13 Dr. Chanbers, any questions for Ms. LaRue?

14 DR CHAMBERS: | do.

15 CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

16 BY DR CHAMBERS:

17 Q Ms. LaRue, good afternoon. You said that, in
18 questioning, that it appears that | fisted Patient A?

19 M5. MOONEYHAN: (ojection. Your Honor, that is
20 not what Ms. LaRue testified to. She said that it
21 appeared.
22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: I f you rephrase your
23 question, Dr. Chambers.
24 DR. CHAMBERS. (kay.
25
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BY DR. CHAMBERS:

Q You said that it appeared that | fisted Patient
A.  \Wat makes you draw that concl usion?

A The photographs that | received fromthe
patient.

Q Ckay. Do you know what fisting is?

A Yes, | do.

Q What is the definition of fisting to you?

A Putting one's hand inside of another's --

I nside a wonman's vagi na.

Q Part of the hand? Al of the hand?

A Part of the hand -- well, nbst of the hand, |
would say. | nean, | don't know if you can do a gesture,
but four fingers or nore would be considered -- what |
woul d -- what | woul d consider personally as fisting.

Q Ckay. Thank you.

DR. CHAMBERS. | have no further questions.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ms. Mboneyhan?

MS. MOONEYHAN: No redirect, Your Honor.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

Thank you, M. LaRue.

| s she subject to recall, M. Moneyhan?
M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes, Your Honor.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  kay. Thank you.

Next w tness, please.
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M5. MOONEYHAN: | would like to cal

Dr. Chanbers.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  Woul d you like himup
at the table?

MS. MOONEYHAN: Yes. Pl ease.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. Dr. Chanbers,
pl ease.

And let's take a quick ook at the tine. |It's
2 0'clock straight up. Does anyone need a break when
we're an hour into it or can you go a little bit farther?

M5. MOONEYHAN: | think we're okay down here.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Are you good?

THE REPORTER | wouldn't mnd taking five
m nut es.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Let's take a
qui ck break. Thank you

MS. MOONEYHAN: Five to ten m nutes, Your
Honor ?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes. No nore.

(Recess from2:02 PPM to 2:11 P.M)

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Back on the record.
M. Mooneyhan, Dr. Chanbers, can you hear ne?

DR CHAMBERS: | can.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Perfect.

We're back on the record in the nmatter of

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

1 Dr. Chanmbers, who is ready to testify at this pointI.Dage >
2 Just that -- we were just tal king up here about
3 what it looked like the rest of afternoon, Ms. Mooneyhan.
4 And the first thing is | would probably |ike a break

5 every hour at an opportune nonent, not in the mddle of

6 testinony or anything.

7 And if we're good to go to 5:00 to help us out
8 tonorrow, great, even if -- we'll take a | ook when you're
9 finishing up with your witness. W nmay just clearly go
10 to 5 o'clock at this point. Okay?

11 M5. MOONEYHAN: Ckay. Thank you.

12 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Thank you.

13 MS. MOONEYHAN: May | proceed, Your Honor?

14 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Dr. Chanbers, you

15 haven't been sworn in yet?

16 DR. CHAMBERS: | have not.

17 (The oath was adm ni stered.)

18 THE WTNESS: | do.

19 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.
20 Ms. Mooneyhan?
21 DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
22 BY M5, MOONEYHAN:
23 Q Sir, can you please state your full name and
24 spell your |ast nane for the record?
25 A George Peter Chanbers, Jr., GHA-MB-E-RS.
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1 Q And are you a |licensee of the Nevada State
2 Board of Medical Exam ners?
3 A | am
4 Q How | ong have you been so |icensed?
5 A Since April of 2003.
6 Q Have you ever been |licensed in another
7 jurisdiction?
8 A Yes.
9 Q And where was that?
10 A Col orado and New Yor k.
11 Q When were you |icensed Col orado?
12 A | believe 2003 to 2008. | mght be off by a
13 year or two.
14 Q Wiy are you no |onger licensed in Col orado?
15 A | decided that | was not going to live in
16 Colorado, so | didn't continue paying for the
17 menbership -- the |license.
18 Q And when were you |icensed New York?
19 A 1998 through, | believe, 2008 or '10.
20 Q And why are you no |longer licensed in New York?
21 A | decided I was not going to nove back to New
22 York, so there was no point in maintaining the |icense.
23 Q Can you please turn to Exhibit A It's marked
24 as nunber 1 behind the blue sheet of paper.
25 A Yes.
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1 Q Is this your CV? rage 59

2 A It is a portion of ny CV. | do have a current

3 wversion if you'd |like a copy.

4 Q Is this the version that you submtted as an

5 exhibit?

6 A Yes, it is.

7 Q What has changed since this CV?

8 A | was fired fromInternountain Healthcare.

9 It's not listed here as former -- | don't think it's on

10 here. It was not listed on here that | worked for them

11 in this version.

12 Q So is this a current version?

13 A The current version | have. It feels like it.

14 Q Ckay. You said you submitted this version?

15 A Correct.

16 Q The only thing that's different --

17 A I nternountain is not |isted.

18 Q And you said it's not listed --

19 A Her e.

20 Q This is not --

21 A It's not the current version. |It's accurate

22 wth the exception of I|nternountain.

23 Q Who you no | onger work for?

24 A Correct.

25 Q In this docunent, on the first page, Chanber's
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page 1, you listed your board certifications under one

headi ng; correct?

A Correct.

Q |s says you're a fellow of the American Col |l ege
of Obstetricians and Gynecol ogists. Can you expl ai n what
t hat nmeans?

A It means that after you conplete a witten
exam nation as well as an oral exam nation after the
conpl etion of four years of training, you get the take
t hose exam nations, and if you passed, you're
certified -- you're board certified.

And it has to be naintained every year through
a continui ng nmedi cal education.

Q Ckay. And you've been a fellow since July of
20087

A No. |'ve been a fellow -- yes. Yes. Yes.

Q kay. It also lists that you' re a diplomate of
the Anerican Board of Cbstetrics and Gynecol ogy?

A Yes.

Q Can you explain what this neans?

A Once you take the test and you' ve passed -- the
test is adm nistered by the American Board of Obstetrics
and Gynecol ogy, and once you pass that test, you're a
di pl omate, which also neans you are a fellow

You cannot becone a fell ow without being a
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di pl omat e.

Q Ckay. You're currently a diplonmate?

A Yes.

Q To your know edge, is the Anerican Board of
obstetrics and Gynecol ogy a nenber of the Anerican Board
of Medi cal Specialties?

A It is.

Q Your CV has a separate section above your board
certification wth a heading "Post-residency Training."
The first itemthere said that you were certified in
sexual health and treatnent by the Anerican Acadeny of
Ant i agi ng.

Does this correspond with the certificate and
information that you submitted as Exhibit C which is
behind tab 37?

A Yes.

Q Was that training conpleted online?

A No. They started the online course in 2014.

Q How di d you conpl ete the course?

A Went to four different [ocations during the
training. | believe San Diego; Atlanta, Georgia;
Decenber of 2013 was here in Vegas; and | can't renenber
where the fourth | ocation was.

But there are four nodul es, four |ocations.

Q Four nodul es?
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Yes.

A

Q And how | ong was each nodule in terms of tine?

A | believe there were four to five days each

Q That certificate represents 16 to 20 days of
traini ng?

A Correct.

Q | s the American Acadeny of Antiaging recognized
by the Anmerican Board of Medical Specialties?

A | cannot speak to that. |'mnot sure.

Q | s the American Acadeny of Antiaging recognized
by the Anmerican Medi cal Association?

A It probably is.

Q Do you know if it is?

A No.

Q Al so under your headi ng of post-residency
training, you' ve listed certificate of conpletion, fenale
genital plastic cosnetic surgery nmaster's course.

Does that correspond with your certificate of
conpl etion behind tab 2, Exhibit B?

A Yes.

Q And how many hours of training does that
certificate represent?

A Si xt een hours.

Q And was it -- the certificate was awarded by

t he person who taught the 16-hour course?
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A. Yes.

Q On page 3 of your CV, you have anot her headi ng
“"Professional Affiliations.” It says you're affiliated
wth the National Society of Cosnetic Physicians from
2012 to 2015.

A Correct.

Q Are you board certified in plastic surgery?

A No.

Q How woul d you describe the National Society of
Cosneti c Physici ans?

A It's for doctors who do cosnetic procedures.

It includes plastic surgeons as well. One of the
pi oneers in cosnetic GYN, he's on that --

Q Thank you. | just had a question about what it
represents. Thank you.

Can you descri be your current nedical practice?

A VWll, | practice the whole scope of obstetrics
and gynecology. | also practice cosnetic GYN surgery, as
| said, for alnost ten years. And | al so practice sexua
health nmedicine for alnost ten years, as they go hand in
hand.

Q How do you descri be sexual health nedicine?

A Sexual health nedicine is for wonen who are
havi ng problens with any form of sexual dysfunctions.

Anorgasm a, for exanple, nmeaning inability to achieve an
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orgasm Wonen with pai nful sexual experiences. Wnen

who are in the hornonal problemleading to sexua
dysfunction. Wnen who have had history of psychiatric
probl ens | eading to a condition known as --

Q Do you have training in psychiatry?

A No. But we all -- all doctors --

Q Thank you, sir. | just asked if you had
psychi atric training.

A Ckay.

Q | s sexual health nedicine recognized by the
American Board of Medical Specialties?

A | do not know.

Q What training do you have do you think that
qualifies you to say that you practice in sexual health
medi ci ne?

A The training that | just mentioned through the
Anerican Acadeny of Antiagi ng Medicine, which
suppl ement ed what we were not taught in medical school
nor in OB-GYN residency training.

Q So to clarify, the four-nodul e class, you
believe qualifies to call yourself certified in sexua
heal t h nmedi ci ne?

A Correct. | received a certification.

Q Coul d you descri be your practice in terns of

where you practice?
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A | now subl ease. |s that what you nean? rage b4
Q Yes, where the location is.

A | now subl ease from anot her OB- GYN.

Q And what is that OB-GYN s nane?

A Hs nane is Dr. Craig Hartman. H A R T-MA-N
Q You're not partners with Dr. Hartnman?

A | am not .

Q | n your words, how does cosnetic gynecol ogy

di ffer than regul ar gynecol ogy?

A Wll, it differs in the sense that, in general,
gynecol ogy, when we do surgery for, let's say,
i ncontinence, we're taught to reduce bulk in the hernia
and restore function.

Cosnetic gynecol ogy teaches us to sculp, to
make the tissue aesthetically pleasing, while reducing
the barrel of the vagina so that it's not just
functional, but enhances the woman's sexual function.

It allows us to address things |ike anorgasm a.
It allows us to address things |ike sexual pain. Howto
exam ne the patient properly and how to treat her

For exanple, when you see a general OB-GYN
regardi ng pelvic pain or sexual pain, everything is
| unped. The exam consists of two fingers in the vagina,
you go by manual exam you m ght send for ultrasound.

Wien you see soneone that does sexual health
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1 medicine and cosnetic gynecology, you use a QTip to

2 palpate areas around the patient's external genitalia,

3 specific points to see if you could elicit pain. |If

4 there's alittle lunp, the diagnosis, we break it up. |Is

5 it penetration or pain? So, this QTip will help.

6 Then you want to know is pain in the vagina, so

7 you palpate different areas inside of vagina.

8 Q Is it your testinony that a |licensed

9 gynecologist cannot find the area of pain in the

10 patient's vagi nal area?

11 A That is not ny testinony.

12 My testinony is that as a general OB-GYN, we're

13 not trained to discern pain in different |evels,

14 penetration, vagina, or deep, the way that someone who

15 does cosnetic gynecol ogy and sexual health is trained to

16 do. And it's not by fault of our own. It's we weren't

17 taught that.

18 And, in fact, when | did the training, | was

19 appalled at how nuch | didn't know about fenale sexual

20 heal th.

21 W were not taught it in nedical school. W

22 had a one-hour lecture, and in residency, it was just

23 blown over. So none of us were practicing.

24 W trained, at the time -- | did or before

25 knows anythi ng about sexual nedicine or -- and how you go
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about eliciting a diagnosis of pain on patients with

t hose probl ens.

Q Let's tal k about your encounter with Patient A
Wiy did you believe that Patient A was consulting you?

A Was consulting nme for what?

Q Yes. Wiy was Patient A consulting with you?

A Wll, she cane in with -- she came in with a
t wo- page paper saying she was referred by Dr. Mchelle
Lewi s to address certain probl ens.

And on the list, it was a list of sexual pain
di sorders, as well as problens with sexuality, and she
had concerns about the way her vagi na | ooked and felt.

Q Before Patient A showed up with her list of
guestions, what did you believe she was there to consult
with you regarding?

A For cosnetic gynecol ogi cal surgery.

Q And what do you nean by "cosnetic gynecol ogi ca
surgery"?

A Vel l, the surgery was -- the appointnent was
schedul ed to address --

DR. CHAMBERS. | have a question for
Ms. Chusin. How tight of rope am| wal king with a H PAA
vi ol ati on depending on ny answer? | want to be as
transparent as possible wthout violating the H PAA | aws.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And, Dr. Chanbers, |
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_ _ _ Page 67
can't advise you. | don't knowif M. Wite or

Ms. Mooneyhan want to weigh in here. That would be your
own choi ce.

DR CHAMBERS: In other words, if | answer the
questions, wll the Board cone after ne for a H PAA
violation, considering that this is a public hearing?

MR WH TE: That's a federal |aw.

MS. MOONEYHAN: Yeah, the Board doesn't enforce
Hl PAA.

MR. VH TE: Yeah.

M5. MOONEYHAN: And, to ny know edge, an
exception to HIPAA is participating in state proceedings
and a nmedi cal board proceeding. That's one of the
exceptions to HI PAA

DR. CHAMBERS:. (Ckay.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Qovi ously, we want to protect
the patient's privacy and not use her nane.

DR. CHAMBERS: Cot cha.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  So your testinony
here, if your concern is would it |lead to another
conplaint being filed, it doesn't sound like that's the
case.

But let's also nention, since you brought it up
earlier in your opening, that there are not any crim nal

matters pending; is that correct?
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DR. CHAMBERS: Correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. But your
testinony here, if there had been or m ght be, could be
used in any crimnal proceeding. Do you understand that?

DR. CHAMBERS: | understand that.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Thank you,

Dr. Chanbers.

DR. CHAMBERS:. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  So you got a question
that you were answering?

DR CHAMBERS: Yeah.

BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q Do you renenber the question?
A | do.

So, | bring your attention to your Exhibit
nunber 3, NSBME 0023.

Q Sir, that is the |ist of questions that Patient
A cane to your office wth.

A Correct.

Q And ny question to you was if you know what the
I ssues was she was being referred by Dr. Lews for, and
you said cosnetic gynecol ogi cal surgery.

So before you saw this docunent that Patient A
cane in wth, | want to know what you thought she was

there to do?
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1 A | thought she was there for a vagi nal rage Y
2 rejuvenation consultation.

3 Q And why did you think that?

4 A That's how it was schedul ed, and she paid the
5 fee that was charged for that, so that was ny

6 under st andi ng.

7 So if that's your question, | don't need to

8 refer to this docunent yet.

9 Q In Exhibit 3 -- I'"'mglad you turned to that --
10 on page 16. Let's just tal k about page 16.

11 A Ckay.

12 Q | s that your handwiting?

13 A It is.

14 Q The next few pages, 17, 18, 19, are

15 typewitten?

16 A Yes.

17 Q Do you have el ectronic recordkeepi ng?

18 A | did.

19 Q You don't any |onger?
20 A | do not.
21 Q Al'l these pages got typed?
22 A Yes. No. These were typed separately.
23 By the time | saw her, | got rid of ny
24 electronic health records.
25 Q When did you quit using electronic health
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1 records? rage 7
2 A Probably 20- -- 2015, |I'mguessing. | don't
3 know for sure.

4 Q How di d these get typed?

5 A | typed them

6 Q You typed then?

7 A Yes.

8 Q When?

9 A Ei ther that afternoon or a couple days after.
10 Q You don't recall exactly?

11 A No.

12 Q Wiy did you type sone and wite others?

13 A Well, this was a consultation. She is sent by
14 Dr. Mchelle Lews.

15 So, consultations, surgical procedures,

16 anything that require a docunment to be sent out to

17 anot her provider, | type.

18 Docunents that are mainly in the office, like
19 annual exans, problemvisits, those are handwitten

20 because they're faster.

21 Q Did you conduct a physical exam nation of

22 Patient A during your encounter with her?

23 A | did.

24 Q Did you tell her to keep her personal cell

25 phone nearby so you could use it to take pictures?
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A | did.

Q Did you, indeed, use her cell phone to take
pi ctures of her body during the exam nation?

A | did.

Q Wiy did you take photos with her cell phone?

A Vel |, since nedical school, | use illustrations
to get patients to understand what |'m about to do.
Doesn't matter if it's doing a | eak procedure in the
office, discussing abnormal Pap snears, or doing a
hysterectony, | use illustrations.

And | was doing a col poscopy one day, and a
patient said to nme, "Wy don't you take a picture of ny
cervix so | can see what it |ooked |ike."

And | thought, traditional gynecol ogy use a
mrror so the patient can see. Because this was in the
back of the vagina and the Iight would not reflect there,
| thought, oh, this is a good idea. Wy not?

So | held a phone, and it was ny phone and |
didn't really know howto use it since | was an Android
person. M nedical assistant said, "If you tap the
screen, it wll focus."

And so it focused, and | said, "Well, this is
great."”

So | used it to teach her, and after | thought,

why am | wasting nmy tine drawing a vulva when | can take
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1 a picture? rage 1z
2 And then for sone point in tinme, | was using

3 the atlas that we used in medical school, but the patient
4 just didn't grasp it. And | thought it would grasp what
5 needed to be done if we used their photographs.

6 Now, generally if I'"mgoing to do the surgica

7 procedure, they will come for a second visit. W'Ill to

8 consents, a psychiatric evaluation, a depression screen,
9 the one they use in the hospital, and then | take a

10 picture wth ny canera after they' ve been consented to

11 reasons for photography.

12 But if they're just comng for a consultation,
13 and | needed to use their picture, | would say, since you
14 don't knowif I'"'mgoing to do the surgery, you haven't

15 decided, why don't | take the picture with your canmera,
16 you be in control of the pictures, you can discard it if
17 you w sh, or you can use it if you consult another

18 cosnetic surgeon or plastic surgeon, you have these

19 pictures, you can show t hem
20 That's why | nmade her do it.
21 Q Wth respect to Patient A specifically, why did
22 you take twelve photos that day?
23 A As | discussed in ny opening statement, if |
24 were to take a picture of you right now, | would do this
25 wth the canera (indicating), and then afterwards we'l|
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1 look, we'll take a picture with your eyes w de opeﬂ?ge &
2 smling, take the best picture, and we discard the rest.
3 That was ny intention.

4 Q Ckay. You've said if the patient cones back,
5 you have them execute consents?

6 A Correct.

7 Q What does that nean? Wat are these consents?
8 A. So, initially, | received a verbal consent to
9 wuse her canera. |If she had conme back, |ike other

10 patients, | have six pages of consents that has to be

11 read. The first one is preop counseling, about what

12 needs to be done before surgery, what she needs to get
13 before, what | will provide her --

14 Q l"msorry. |I'mgoing to interrupt you

15 My question is directly related to your taking
16 photos of patients intimte areas --

17 A Correct.

18 Q -- what consents do -- is it that six page --
19 A This is the six pages. It involves a preop

20 counseling, postop counseling, and the consent for

21 phot ogr aphy.

22 So, that's only given to patients who actually
23 complete the surgery with ne.

24 Q So you took pictures of the patient's vagi na
25 before she actually executed this witten consent?
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A. | had a verbal consent to do this.

Q But you did it before she executed a witten
consent ?

A Correct. And that's typically done with
pictures that are kept in ny office.

Pictures that they wal k out the door with does
not get this six-page consent, especially if they're
shoppi ng for a cosnetic surgeon.

Q What kind of steps did you take to ensure the
security of these photos?

A VWll, there's no identifying marks on them or
names or date of birth.

Q Did you have the patient text sone of the
photos to you?

A Two photos to nme, correct.

Q And those cane from her phone nunber?

A Correct. And they were immediately printed and
erased from ny phone.

Q Do you take any ot her steps? For exanple, is
your phone encrypted?

A It is not.

Q So you don't use any software to make sure that
your phone is --

A | don't. My phone does not upload to the --
what do you call it? The -- not the sky, the -- |
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1 blocked that. I'mvery -- | don't trust technologypgge &
2 lot, so ny phone does not upload to the --

3 Q Are you | ooking for the word "cl oud"?

4 A The cloud. To the cloud, |ike everyone else's
5 phone. | turn all those off so it remains on ny phone,
6 or so | believe, until | erase it, but nothing is a

7 upl oaded.

8 Q Does that phone ever |eave your office?

9 A Yes.

10 Q | s that the phone that you al so nake personal
11 phone calls on?

12 A No. | carry two phones at a tinme.

13 Q Were you famliar with Patient A s tel ephone?
14 A What do you nean?

15 Q Were you famliar with what network she was

16 wusing or if her phone ever had any encryption?

17 A No.

18 Q What did you do with the two photos she texted
19 to you?

20 A | printed them and they were put in her chart.
21 Q How did they get from your phone to the

22 printer?

23 A It went through nmy office W-Fi, which is

24 secured on own its own server, and then on to the

25 printer.
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1 Q Do you have a conpany that you use to help you

2 ensure that the W-Fi's secure?

3 A Yes.

4 Q VWhat is the nane of that conpany?

5 A The conpany was known as Agiletcit,

6 AGI-L-E-T-CI-T.

7 Q How often do they cone and service your W-Fi?

8 A They were there whenever | needed them or woul d

9 be there every four nonths.

10 Q So you used W-Fi to send the photos to your

11 printer?

12 A Correct.

13 Q Do you have a witten policy about deleting

14 photos that you have patients text you?

15 A Yes.

16 Q And where is that policy kept?

17 A Vll, it's my office in the -- you have -- we

18 have a practice guideline, it tends to deal with the

19 conputers, confidentiality, nondisclosure clauses, and

20 stuff like that.

21 Q And it includes policy about not keeping

22 phot 0s?

23 A Correct.

24 Q And what does it say about dealing --

25 A It basically has that if a picture is not going
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to be kept in the office, it needs to cone off the phone.

And typically, that's the only tinme it's used.

QG herwise, it's done with a Cannon canera,
whi ch is hooked up to what | call an "air cam iPad, it's
never been online, and it's stored there under the
patient's nane.

Q It's stored in the iPad?

A Stored and secured. It's kept in a safe.

Q And who has the conbination to the safe?

A |'mthe only one who has access because it's a
safe with a -- ny VIP patients and celebrity patients.

So it's kept in a safe that no one el se can access.

Q |'msorry. | didn't understand what you said.
| f the photos are not kept in the office, they need to
cone off the phone?

A Meaning that if they're not going to be used to
do a surgery, they have to be del eted.

Q So with respect to Patient A at that point,
you didn't know whet her she was going to have the surgery
or not?

A Vell, | printed the pictures because she gave
the i npression she was going to have the surgery. So |
printed them and they're included in her chart.

Q And so, per your policy, were they deleted off

your phone?
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A. Yes.

Q When?

A The sanme day. The mi nute they popped up on the
printer, | had no nore use of the pictures.

Q Do you still have Exhibit 3 opened?

A Yes.

Q Page 18, NSBME 0018

A Yes.

Q About half way down the page, there's a headi ng

cal |l ed "Physical Exam nation."

A Yes.

Q And there's a subheading "pelvic."

A Yes.

Q And then a few nore subheadi ngs underneath

that, there's one called "vagina," do you see that?

A | do.

Q Now, here you state that you sized the
patient's introital opening with your two exam ning
fingers; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And the vagi na opened to a width of seven
centimeters horizontally and vertically?

A Correct.

Q According to your record, is it correct to say

that you sized Patient A's opening with two fingers?
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Correct.

A
Q Can you please turn to Exhibit 2, page 9?

A ' mthere.

Q | f you would, the second paragraph there, if
you want to read that yourself. Take a mnute to read
t hat .

A To nyself. Ckay.

Q So, according to that paragraph, how many
fingers did you insert to Patient A s vagina during her
exam nation?

A Two fingers.

Q During Patient A's exam nation, did you ever
insert nore than two fingers into her vagina?

A From t he phot ographs that got that discovery,
yes.

Q Did you discuss the width of Patient A s vagina
W th her?

A Yes.

Q Did you tell her that man's penis is about two
fingers w de?

A | probably did.

Q Do you ever use non-nedical or slang ternms with
patients when describing parts of their body?

A Yes.

Q Such as?
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1 A |t depends on patient's vernacular. | hacgge o
2 sone patients who cone in and refer to the vagina as

3 "cooch" or "coochie" or "pussy," and | don't think it's

4 appropriate for me to | ook at a 35-year-old woman and say
5 the proper termis "vagina."

6 So, | roll withit, because the idea is to get
7 her trust so she listens to what you have to say to her

8 wthout being -- feeling that you' re bei ng condescendi ng
9 correcting her.

10 Q Do you ever use a non-nedical slang termif the
11 patient hasn't used it first? WII you use those terns?
12 A No. | tend to feel the patient out, and

13 depending on if the patient is speaking proper,

14 anatom cal terns and using them then |I use proper

15 anatom cal terns.

16 | tend to feel out the patient first before

17 give ny advice.

18 Q Did you ever use non-nedical or slang terns

19 wth your patients when you' re describing sexual acts?

20 A Vel |, yes.

21 Q For exanpl e?

22 A There's sone patients who, when they're trying
23 to explain positions where they have pain, nost patients
24 will not tell you that they have pain when they're in the
25 rear entry position, which is doggie. They won't tell
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you that they're spooning when their partner's |aying

behind them They won't tell you that they're practicing
yawni ng when their | egs are over the partner's shoul ders
and they're bent in half.

They don't have that term nol ogy, but whatever
terms they use, | use those terns, and then | tell them
what it is.

Q Did you use the term"fisting" with her?

A | really cannot recall because it's not part of
ny | anguage.
Q Have you ever used the term"fisting" with any

ot her patient?

A |f the patient does fisting, yes.

Q Wul d you use that termif the patient didn't
use it first?

A No. Because it's not sonething I do in ny
private life, and it's not sonething that -- it makes no
sense to nme, so it's not sonmething that | would use.

Can | ask, am| allowed to ask for a Zyrtec?
My allergies are kicking in.

MS. MOONEYHAN: Can we take a two-m nute break,
Your Honor?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Yes. W can take a
five-m nute break.

(Recess 2:51 P.M to 3:07 P.M)
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1 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Back on the record in
2 the matter of Dr. Chanbers. W have everybody here.

3 Wul d you like to continue, Ms. Moneyhan?

4 | would like to also note for the record that
5 we have new visiters in the south who are not w tnesses;
6 correct? W did a check here, and | just want to put it
7 on the record.

8 M5. MOONEYHAN: None of the IC s wtnesses are
9 in the crowd.

10 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

11 Dr. Chanbers, are you ready to go forward?

12 DR. CHAMBERS: Thank you.

13 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

14 BY M5, MOONEYHAN:

15 Q Dr. Chanbers, would you please turn to Exhibit
16 2 in the ICs exhibits.

17 A ' mthere.

18 Q Thank you. On page NSBME 6, the very first

19 page of your letter, about six lines down, it says that
20 Patient A s visit was chaperoned by your office nmanager,
21 Casey. Do you see that?
22 A | do.
23 Q Wul d pl ease describe Casey's participation in
24 Patient A's visit.
25 A Casey was present. She spoke with her before
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and after | saw her. She maintained a presence at the

door and outside of the roomduring the exam nation in
whi ch the door was kept open, and that was the extent of
participation.

Q WAs Casey in the roomwhile you were performng
your physical exam nation of Patient A?

A No.

Q Was she standing in the doorway when you were
perform ng your physical exam nation of Patient A?

A Part of the tine.
Approxi mately how | ong?
That, | can't estinmate.

Wiy -- do you know why only part of the tine?

> O > O

Wl 1, she noved back to the desk, what was in
plain view of the examtable and ne.

Q So, your testinony is fromthe desk, she could
see into the exam nation roonf

A Correct.

Q Approxi mately how far fromthe exam nation room
was the desk?

A. Probably ten feet, twelve feet.

Q Did you have any other nedical encounters with
Patient A after her visit in Novenber of 20207

A No.

Q Did you ever perform cosnetic gynecol ogi cal
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surgery on Patient A?

A No.

Q Turning to Patient B, was Patient B a regul ar
patient of your practice?

A Yes.

Q Approximately |long was Patient B a patient of

A Seven or eight years.

Q Did you ever perform cosnetic gynecol ogi cal
surgery on Patient B?

A No.

Q |'mgoing to ask you to turn to IC s exhibit
book, specifically NSBME 107, Exhibit 7.

Are you there, Dr. Chanbers?

A | am

Q |s that a record of your encounter with Patient
B in Cctober of 20187

A It is.

Q What, in your words, was the reason for Patient
B's visit to you in Cctober of 20187

A She had bl ood and ni ppl e di schar ge.

Q During Patient B's visit in October of 2018,
did you offer her noney to pose nude for photographs for
an ad?

A | probably did. | don't know the exact date.
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1 Q WIIl you please turn to Exhibit 6, NSBME page
2 45.
3 A (Wtness conplied).
4 Q You can go ahead and read the second paragraph
5 to yourself, beginning in 2012.
6 A Ckay.
7 Q So, did you place advertisenents for your
8 practice in the Adult Video Network awards cerenony
9 progranf
10 A | did.
11 Q How many tinmes?
12 A | didit three tines.
13 Q Wi ch years did you place an ad in the AVN
14 progranf
15 A It was in the "13 or '14, '15, and then we were
16 |ooking at ' 20.
17 Q So you placed ads in the AVN progranf
18 A Correct. In the awards program
19 Q At |east three tinmes?
20 A Correct.
21 Q And the last in 20207
22 A Correct. And then we also did the nmagazi ne
23 that the people in the industry would read. And that was
24 over a series of sone tine as well. | don't renenber the
25 dates.
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So, in addition to the awards program there

was al so the industry magazine that ran ads.
Q Do you know the nane of that nmagazi ne?
A Not off the top of ny head, no.
Q Do you know approximately how many tinmes you

advertised in that magazi ne?

A Probably twel ve tines.
Q Is it a nonthly nagazi ne?
A Yes.

Q Do you renenber how nuch it cost to run an ad
i n that magazi ne?

A No.

Q Were the ads for the AVN program and the
magazi ne the sane ad? Simlar to one ad?

A W interchanged them yes.

Q How many ads have you created over the years
for these two publications?

A Two.

Q Can you describe the first one?

A Wll, the first one is right here in Patient B
or Cs record. | just sawit.

It's of a wonen, nude, laying on a flat surface

in a prone position.

Q Can you see the woman's face?

A You can see a profile of her face, yes.
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Q Can you see her breasts?

A No. Well, you can see the profile of her
breasts, but you cannot see ni pple.

Q And what about the second ad that you referred
to? Can you describe that ad?

A It's with her hands up like this (indicating)
in her hair, with her head titted back, standing up, with
her ni ppl es shaded out.

Q Is it a picture of the woman?

A. Profil e.

Q Did you use the sane nodel for both of those
phot 0s?
A No.

Q Do you renenber the nodel for either one of

t henf

A Yes, | do.

Q kay. Wiere either of themfornmer patients?

A One of them was.

Q And which ad was the forner patient the node
for?

A The second one.

Q The second with -- where the one standing with

her hands in her hair?
A. Correct. Wth her face shiel ded.

Q You cannot see her face?
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Correct.

And who took the photographs for each of those

The first one, | took, and the second one was

t aken by a professional photographer.

Q
A

Q

So you took the photo of the wonman |ying down?
Correct.

And the woman with the hands in her hair was by

a professional photographer?

A

Q
A
Q
A

Correct.

What is that professional photographer's nane?
| don't have it with ne.

How did you find her?

A patient of mne knew | was | ooking for

nodel s, and she said that she was about to do pictures

for her partner and she had a friend who di d nodeling,

pi ctures,

Q

o > O »F

and would be willing to work for me to do it.
Wre you present during that photo shoot?

No. | opened the office, but I was not there.
The photos were taken at your office?

Correct.

The first ad that you took the photos for, were

t hose photos taken at your office?

A
Q

Yes.

Wio was your contact in the Adult Video Network
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for placing these ads?

A | can't renenber her nane.

Q So in Exhibit 6, regarding Patient B, that
par agraph -- that second paragraph there says that in the
fall of 2018, you were getting ready for your ad in the
2019 AVN award cerenony?

A Yes.

Q Did you do an ad in the 2019 AVN cerenony?

A Did we? W did not. W were alittle bit too

Q You called the AYN to inquire?

A Correct. | was back and forth with the
contact, and she said there were no space left.

Q Have you either taken photographs -- well, have
you take any photographs for anybody el se for any ads
t hat you have not used?

A Yes.
How many tinmes woul d you say that has happened?
It would be a guess. | don't know.
Fi ve?
Pr obabl y.

More than ten?

> O > O >

Five is nore like it.
Q And have you had a professional photographer

take pictures of nodels that you have not used?
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A Yes.

Q And what how nmany tinmes would you say that has
occurred?

A Trying to visualize the ad that was in ny
office. There are probably 12 pictures on that ad, so
probably 12 tines.

Q Those are of 12 different --

A Patients, correct.

Q They' re patients?

A Correct.

Q And that's in your office?
A Correct.

Q And those were taken by a professiona
phot ogr apher ?

A Correct.

Q Is it the same professional photographer that
took the pictures for the ad that you described with the
hands in the hair?

Yes.

And you don't renenber her nane?

> O >

| don't. Not off the top of ny head.

Q Where do you store the photos that were taken
for these ads?

A Those are kept on the sane air cami Pad and

| ocked away.
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1 Q Those 12 pictures that are in your office,

2 those taken by a professional photographer, were those
3 also taken in your office?

4 A Yes.

5 Q Over what tinme period would you say these photo
6 shoots occurred? Wat years?

7 A 2013 was when | was trained. So the training
8 included | ectures on nedical photography, so 2013 to

9 about 2018.

10 Q Your training included | ectures on nedical

11 phot ography?

12 A Correct.

13 Q Do you consider the pictures in these ads

14 medi cal phot ography?

15 A Wl |, the vaginal pictures are.

16 Q Do sone of these photos include vagi nal

17 pictures?

18 A Correct. They're depicting different types of
19 labia mnora that patients nmay choose to augnment, and
20 they were put in nmy office so that I would not have to
21 bring up the topic directly with the patients.
22 Q So, when you say they're in your office,
23 they're on the wall?
24 A They are on the wall in the lavatory, the
25 patient's lavatory, and they -- one was in the room where
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1 the consultation is done, behind the door.

2 Q Did the professional photographer that you

3 engaged have training in nedical photography?

4 A No. | explained to her what | wanted her to

5 take.

6 Q And do you have written consents fromthe

7 patients inthe -- with respect to the 12 photographs on
8 the walls in your office?

9 A Everyone who posed had to sign a consent, yes.
10 Did you pay the subjects of those photos?

11 A | did.

12 Q And how nmuch did you pay thenf

13 A One thousand dol | ars.

14 Q Each patient or each subject receive $1, 000?
15 A Yes.

16 Q You never paid any |ess than that or any nore
17 than that?

18 A | never paid any less than that, no. So,

19 1, 000.
20 Q How di d you nake that paynent?
21 A It depends. | think the vast majority were
22 paid in cash.
23 Q O these patient that posed for the ads within
24 your office and/or the AVN magazi ne, did you take boudoir
25 phot ogr aphy?

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112

www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

1 A Vell, that's what it is. | call it boudor??e >
2 but it's the nude pics.

3 Q Ckay. So how do you define boudoir

4 phot ography? Does that include the patient's genitals?

5 A Vell, yes. Sonme, like in one of the ads, m ght
6 have partial lingerie.

7 Q Did all of those patients who did pose for you
8 ads, did they receive a copy of the photos?

9 A Yes.

10 Q Do you use an advertising agency to help you

11 put these ads together?

12 A No.

13 Q In terms of conpiling the ads, though, do you
14 do that yourself?

15 A No. | used -- professionally done. It was

16 professionally done by a young woman who hel ped design ny
17 website, the conpany that |'ve used to design any website
18 before.

19 What's the nane of that conpany?
20 A |'d have to ook it up and tell you.
21 Q Do you renenber the woman's nane?
22 A No.
23 Q And just to clarify, that woman put together
24 the ad for the AVN progranf
25 A That one was done through AVN. They directed
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me to the conpany that designed the ads for their pages

because they had to neet certain specifications.

So she did the ones that were in the office.

Q She did the ones in the office?

A Yes.

Q What about the nmagazi ne?

A The ad peopl e.

Q Regardi ng Patient C, was she a regul ar patient

of your practice?

A Yes. She had been there, | think, two or three
times. | can't renenber

Q Did patient C ever receive cosnetic
gynecol ogi cal surgery fromyou?

A No.

Q Did you offer Patient C an arrangenent simlar
to what you offered to Patient Bin terns of posing for
an ad?

A | did.

Q Were you famliar with Patient C s financial

si tuati on.
A. | was.
Q How so?

A She told me she was having financial problens.
| -- | don't knowif was in relation to sonething I

needed to do, if it was regarding the tests | had to
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order on her and she couldn't do it.

| don't recall how the conversation cane up

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, if may | have a
nmonment ?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Go ahead.

M5. MOONEYHAN: | have no further questions for
Dr. Chanbers at this tine.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you,

Ms. Mooneyhan

Dr. Chanbers, it's a little unusual, as you're
representing yourself. Since you' re going to have your
case in chief, you can testify as cross-exam nation with
respect to Ms. Mdoneyhan's questions, or you can j ust
wait until your own case in chief. It's your call

Do you have any questions for ne about that?

DR. CHAMBERS: No. But I'll wait.

May | point Ms. Mooneyhan's attention to
sonething in her exhibit?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Wl |, you can't ask
guestions of Ms. Moneyhan. You can -- | know you can't
cross-exam ne yourself, but you can clarify sonething.

DR CHAMBERS: kay. |It's the one of the
advertisement, if you look in the section ten, Exhibit
10, NSBME' s 0144, that's one of the ads.

MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, may | redirect?
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1 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Are you done, rage 99
2 Dr. Chanbers?

3 DR CHAMBERS: | am | am

4 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Okay. |'msorry.
5 WII you tell nme -- oh, the picture. Ckay.

6 And | et nme correct nyself. That wouldn't be
7 cross-exam nation, since that would be |later on.

8 kay. Go ahead, Ms. Mooneyhan.

9 M5. MOONEYHAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

10 REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

11 BY M5, MOONEYHAN:

12 Q Dr. Chanbers, just to clarify, this is the
13 first photo that you described?

14 A Correct.

15 Q And this is the photo that you took?

16 A Correct.

17 Q And this nodel is not a forner patient?
18 A Correct.

19 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Thank you, Your Honor. No
20 further questions.

21 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | have a quick

22 question, Dr. Chanbers.

23 DR. CHAMBERS: Yes.

24

25
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1 EXAM NATI ON BY THE HEARI NG OFFI CER rage o7
2 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:

3 Q Wiy did you pay in cash?

4 A | had cash, and a | ot of patients wanted cash,
5 sol just didit.

6 Q Ckay.

7 A | wanted to do checks for ny tax wite off, --
8 Q That was ny question.

9 A -- but they insisted on cash paynents, so |
10 just didit.

11 Q Ckay. Yeah. That crossed ny m nd about the
12 deduction, if you had a record of it.

13 So, thank you for answering ny question.

14 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Any fol | ow up,

15 M. Moneyhan?

16 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes.

17 FOLLOW UP EXAM NATI ON

18 BY Ms. MOONEYHAN:

19 Q Dr. Chanbers, did you keep records of those
20 paynents to the patients?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Ckay. Thank you.

23 M5. MOONEYHAN: No further questions.

24 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you,

25 Dr. Chanmbers. You may go back to your seat.
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So, Ms. Mboneyhan, we have time for your next

W t nesses.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And let nme throw in
here while we're waiting is we need to wap it up by five
o' clock up here. W can't go over.

So if there's a natural -- I'mfine going to
five o'clock, but if there's a natural stopping point a
little bit before that, we'll take it. OCkay?

MS. MOONEYHAN: Ckay. Thank you, Your Honor.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

MS. MOONEYHAN: |I'd like to call Patient A

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: |'s soneone bringi ng
her in?

M5. MOONEYHAN: Yes. Soneone will get her.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

And you understand, Dr. Chanbers, that you can
cross-examne the 1C s w tnesses; correct?

DR CHAMBERS: | do. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Gkay. Thank you. Do
you have any ot her questions about the process?

DR CHAMBERS: | do not.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. Thank you.

DR. CHAMBERS. Thank you.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  And, your Honor, before Patient
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1 Aisswornin-- "Il wait until she gets into the f%%%]gg
2 but | wanted to -- | have a representation to nake before
3 she's sworn in.

4 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N. Okay. Thank you for

5 the heads-up.

6 And a rem nder about the order that's in

7 effect; correct?

8 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Thank you.

9 (The witness was seated.)

10 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Good afternoon.

11 THE W TNESS: Good afternoon

12 MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, before Patient Ais
13 sworn in, as you just noted of course, we have the --

14 your order protecting the patient |ikenesses and

15 identity.

16 So, as an officer of the court, I wuld like to
17 represent that | know the person sitting here testifying
18 as Patient Ais the person identified as Patient Ain the
19 patient designation filed under seal on Septenber 21st,
20 2022.

21 Based on that representation, | would ask that
22 she be sworn in on the record as Patient A and that ny
23 first few questions will establish her identity by using
24 that patient designation.

25 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Thank you very
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nmuch.

Dr. Chanbers, do you understand the
representation?

DR CHAMBERS: | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:.  Ckay. Do you have any
obj ecti ons?

DR CHAMBERS: | don't.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

In that case, we're ready to swear her in as
Patient A

(The oath was adm nistered.)

THE W TNESS: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Thank you. Are you
confortable there? Do you have sone water?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Okay. So we all have
allergies. The Kleenex is there.

Ms. Mooneyhan, go ahead.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, |'m handi ng Pati ent
A the patient designation that was filed on Septenber
21st, 2022. The other patients nanes have been redact ed,
but Patient A's nanme is not redacted, and I'mgoing to
give Dr. Chanbers a copy as well.

DR. CHAMBERS. Thank you.
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DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q Ma'am if you'll look at the patient

designation in front of you, it shows the true patient

identity of Patient Ain this matter. |s that your nane?
A Yes.
Q And is that your date of birth?
A Yes.
Q Thank you.

M5. MOONEYHAN: Can the court reporter hear the
patient?
THE REPORTER |'m okay right now. Yes.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes. Thank you.
M5. MOONEYHAN:  Thank you.
BY MS. MOONEYHAN:
Q Thank you, Patient A
Ma'am did you ever interact with the
respondent, Dr. CGeorge Chanbers, as a patient?
A Yes.
Q Approxi mately how many tinmes?
A (1 naudi bl e).
THE REPORTER: | can't hear her.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Excuse nme. [|'m going
to interrupt because we cannot hear up here, Patient A

|f you could speak up a little bit, please.
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MS. MOONEYHAN: Look --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yeah, let's | ook --

M5. MOONEYHAN: Can you nove cl oser?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. Okay. |'mgoing to
wave. Can you see ne?

THE WTNESS: Yeah, | can see you

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. |'mthe hearing
officer. Ckay?

THE W TNESS: (kay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: N ce to neet you. And
we have a court reporter here who's taking down what is
happening in it is hearing. Gkay? And we just need to
hear what you're saying.

| f you have any questions, | want to make sure
you're confortable. M. Moneyhan is right there to
answer any questions, but we need to hear so we could get
this transcribed. GCkay?

THE W TNESS: Ckay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. So, that's who
we are up here.

THE W TNESS:. Ckay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Just a little bit
| ouder. Ckay?

THE WTNESS: | will try.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. Thank you.
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M5. MOONEYHAN: Thank you, Patient A,

| just |earned the m crophones are towards the
canera, so speak up as loud as you can so that they can
hear in Reno.

Did you hear those first few questions,
Ms. Ghusin?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Let's go ahead and
repeat them please.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Okay.
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q Patient A did you ever interact wth the

respondent, Dr. Ceorge Chanbers, as a patient?

A Yes.

Q And how many tinmes?

A One.

Q Do you renenber approxi mately when?
A Novenmber 17th, 2020.

Q And what was that purpose of your appointnment
with Dr. Chanbers on that day?

A | was referred to Dr. Chanbers by ny long-tine
OB-GYN, Dr. Mchelle Lewis, for a repair of nmy perineum

Q And was your primary concern regardi ng your
peri neum cosneti c?

A No.

Q What was your primary concern regardi ng your
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2 A Pain and disconfort in the area and just having
3 it repaired properly.

4 Q When you say "repaired properly,” had it been
5 repaired inproperly in the past?

6 A Yeah. It had been torn open fromchildbirth

7 and was not repaired properly.

8 And | had had disconfort and pain fromthat for
9 12 years until that tine.

10 Q Ckay. And you discussed that perineal pain

11 wth your regular gynecol ogist, Dr. Lew s?

12 A Yes.

13 And what was her reconmmendation?

14 A Havi ng a perineopl asty.

15 Q And she wasn't able to performthat?

16 A She coul d.

17 Q Do you know why she referred her to Dr.

18 Chanbers?

19 THE REPORTER |'m struggling to hear her.

20 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Excuse ne,

21 Ms. Mooneyhan. | think we didn't catch a word or two.

22 THE REPORTER  When she faces this way | can
23 hear her, but when she turns around, | can't hear what

24 she's saying.

25 THE WTNESS: Gkay. So, Dr. Lewi s does do
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1 perineoplasty. | had called her office to schedulga?%elo5
2 surgery, and she had -- her office person told me that

3 she was referring ne to Dr. Chanbers or Dr. Shae, who was
4 a urogynecol ogist, as they were nore specialized in that
5 kind of surgery.

6 | think also part of reason that they didn't do
7 it was because | had asked her if, like, having

8 labiaplasty would help with the disconfort | was having.
9 And she knew that that wasn't her specialty, | guess.

10 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

11 BY M. MOONEYHAN:

12 Q Did you prepare for your appointnent with

13 Dr. Chanbers in any way?

14 A Yes, | did. I'ma very thorough person.

15 | researched -- | |ooked on his website.

16 researched. | was also concerned | mght have sonething
17 <called a "rectocele,"” which | had researched online.

18 | saw on Dr. Chanbers' website that he does

19 vagi nopl asty, perineoplasty, |abiaplasty, all of which

20 would help with these issues | was concerned about.

21 And I'm |ike, a super-thorough person, and

22 also tend to get very, very nervous at the doctor and

23 forget what I"'mcomng in for, so | took notes wth,

24 |ike, ny synptons and any questions | had for the doctor
25 with ne to the exam

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

1 Q Thank you. Do you recall if you were segﬁggtIOG
2 your schedul ed appoi ntnment tine?

3 A No. | mean, you never really are. Wen | got
4 there, they said that Dr. Chanbers was at the hospital

5 delivering a baby.

6 My appoi ntnment was in the norning, sonetine

7 around 9:00, and he arrived sonetine around 10: 30i sh.

8 Q And after Dr. Chanbers arrived, were you called
9 back for your appointnent?

10 A Yeah. Well, | heard himcone in the office.

11 There was only one other person in the office that worked
12 there, and he called nme up to the desk, and she said,

13 "Even though you aren't the first schedul ed patient,

14 Dr. Chanbers wants to see you first."

15 And | unconfortable -- | felt bad because

16 didn't want soneone else to wait |onger.

17 Q When you went back, did you have a conversation
18 with Dr. Chanbers?

19 A Yes. He -- | mean, | renmenber he was kind of
20 still trying to get sorted because he just arrived at the
21 office for the day, |I'm assum ng.
22 And, you know, he had -- | don't know. He was
23 westling around a little bit in the back, and I sat in
24 the examroomin the chair next to the counter and he sat
25 alsoin a chair next to the counter. W had a
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conversation regarding ny synptons and the reason | was

t here.

Q You described your synptons, do you renenber
approxi mately how |l ong that conversation took?

A This was two-and-a-half years ago, so, | think
| probably was thorough, as | usually am and
Dr. Chanbers was thorough, and it probably took 15, 20
m nut es.

Q Ckay. After your initial conversation, did
Dr. Chanbers perform a physical exan?

A After our initial -- you know, went over ny
synptons and the reason | was there, and then | said -- |
got to, like, ny notes, the questions | had. He said to
wait for nme to ask questions until after the diagnosis
and treatment, |ike, what he thought | should have, and
then I woul d know whi ch questions to ask from whatever he
told ne.

So, did | answer your question?

Q Yeah, you did.

Did Dr. Chanbers ask you to undress?

A. He rolled over -- he had, like, a rolling stool
that he was sitting on, he went to pull out a paper gown,
and he said, "Because |I'ma gynecol ogist, | always do a
breast exam™

And | rem nded himthat just seen ny regular
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OB-GYN, so | didn't need a breast exam or anything.

Q Ckay. Did he tell you keep anything nearby
after you changed?

A Yes. He just told ne to keep ny phone near by
because he would use it to take photos.

Q And what did you think about him asking you to

keep your phone nearby?

A | thought it was unusual. | wasn't surprised
about photos; | was surprised that he used ny phone to
take photos. | just thought it was unusual.

Q Okay. But you did what he said, kept your

phone near by?

A Yeah.

Q Ckay.

A | nean, he was a doctor, and | didn't realize
at the time that it was -- | thought, | net the doctor,

|'m here for health care, and this is what he needs to do
to take care of ny health, even though it's odd.
Q So, you changed into the paper gown and kept

your phone nearby, and then Dr. Chanbers returned; is

that right?
A | went -- you know, sat on the exam ning table,
he cane back in. He said, "lIs it okay if |I |eave the

door open?"

| expressed sone hesitation, and he said,
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“"Don't worry. Nobody else is back here and the doors are

| ocked. "
So, | conceded to | eave the door ajar.
Q Was he acconpani ed by anybody?
A No.
Q Was anybody else in the roomat any tinme during
your exanf
A. No one else was in the roomat any tine, other
than the office girl, the one and only enpl oyee that |
knew of that was there, at one point cane to the room and
said that another patient has to leave in -- | don't know
if she said 30, 40 mnutes, and is wondering if he'll be
done in tinme to see her
And Dr. Chanbers acted irritated and said,
“"Well, what is she here for?"
And the office girl said, "An issue."
And he said, "Tell her she'll be seen.”
And that's all. That was the only time | saw
any other person in the examroom
Q Did Dr. Chanbers take your bl ood pressure?
A (1 naudi bl e).
THE REPORTER WAs that a no? Bl ood pressure
-- I"'msorry.
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q Did he weigh you?
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Hol d on just one

noment, pl ease.

THE REPORTER. Did Dr. Chanbers take your bl ood
pressure, what was the response?

THE WTNESS: No, he did not take ny bl ood
pressure.

THE REPORTER  Thank you.

THE WTNESS: O weigh ne. O take any vitals.
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q So, how did the exam begi n?

A. He asked ne to, you know, |ay down. He asked
me to -- he told ne he was going to -- well, before, you
know, | was undressed, he told nme the examwas -- during

t he exam he woul d assess for nerve damage because -- |
coul d have sustai ned nerve damage and that's what coul d
be causing the problem

When | was undressed, he asked ne to |ay down.
He told nme that he was going to be feeling around for
nerve damage, trying to assess where the pain and
di sconfort was comng from And he, you know, told nme
to, like, put ny feet together, spread ny legs as far as
| can.

And | gave himny phone to take photos, that he
said he woul d be taking photos.

Q Did you see Q Tips or sonething simlar to
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Q Tips on a tray nearby?

A No, not that | renenber.

Q Did Dr. Chanbers use a speculumat all?

A No.

Q Ckay. Do you recall whether -- so he said he
was feeling around for the pain. Do you renenber if he

did that first or took photos first?

A. | think he did feel around, you know, and asked
me you know, if things were -- where the pain was.
| couldn't say, | nean, it's been

two- and-a-half years, so I'mnot going to say definitely
t hat happened first and then the photos, but that's the
best of ny recollection.

Q So you do renenber that he did --

A He did feel around --

Q -- pal pate?

A -- alittle bit wth his fingers.

Q Ckay. And asked you if there was pain?

A Um hum

Q And then at sone point -- and you're not sure

of the order, but he al so took photos of your vagi nal
rectal area with your phone?

A Yes. He took photos just of my vulva from
di fferent angles and took photos with fingers inserted.

Q Wien he was asking you about the pain -- did
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you feel pain while he was pal pating different parts of

your vul va?

A No.

Q Did you feel any pressure or anything unusual
during the exanf

A Wien he began to do a vaginal exam yes, | felt
a lot of pressure, a lot of stretching. | felt as though
| was being stretched as far as | could be stretched and
beyond.

He was asking ne if it was painful. | said,

“I't was unconfortable."

You know, |'mthinking nerve pain, it's going
to be like a zinger pain. It was not a zinger pain; it
was pressure and stretching.

Then at one point, | felt his knuckles inserted
into ny vagina, and | told him | said, "This is very
unconfortable.” And then he pulled his hand out.

Q Did he touch anywhere besides your vulva and

vagi na?
A He did a rectal exam where he put a finger into
ny rectumand tried -- like, pushed the rectumthrough

t he vagi na and took a photograph of that.
Wien he took that photograph, he asked nme to
renove the soiled glove off of his hand so that he could

use the same hand to hold the phone to take a photograph,
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1 which | did.

2 Q Just to clarify, that was soiled fromyour exam

3 to that point?

4 A | don't know. \Whatever he had done up to that

5 point.

6 Q Ckay. Thank you.

7 After that rectal exam was the physical

8 exam nation over?

9 A Yes.

10 Q Did Dr. Chanbers | eave you alone to dress?

11 A He asked ne to show hi mthe photos which he had

12 taken, and selected two of the photos and asked ne to

13 text themto his phone.

14 Q And how did you feel when he asked you to text

15 himthe two photos?

16 A | thought it was unusual. | was not really

17 <confortable with it.

18 But, again, | thought | was here for nedical

19 care, and | believed that what he was doing was for ny

20 nedical care, so | didit.

21 Q Wiy -- if you can just explain, why were you

22 unconfortable. Wre you concerned --

23 A | mean, | didn't know who woul d see the phot os.

24 | nean, being on a phone, | didn't knowif it was a

25 personal phone. | didn't know who woul d see the phot os.
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If | was texting them could they, like, be texted to
sonebody else. | didn't feel like it was a very secure
way to exchange, |ike, something really personal to ne

and hum | i ati ng.

Q Did Dr. Chanbers give any reassurances that the
phot os woul d be confidential?

A | don't think I asked.

Q So, did he give you a phone nunber to text them
to?

A Yes. He told me to be careful to put in the
nunber exactly because he had anot her patient who put in
number in wong, and she got a text back saying, "Wat
bitch is sending ny husband pictures,” or sonmething |ike
t hat .

Q Ckay. So you texted himthe two photos to the
number he told you to. Then did he |eave you alone to
dress?

A Yes, | believe so.

Q And did he return to the roomafter you were
dressed?

A Yes. And while he was gone, on | texted ny
husband, | said, "This is weird. The doctor took
pi ctures on ny phone and asked nme to text themto him"

“Probably okay, but," you know, "you could ask

himif you' re worried about it."
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2 | still trusted that | was there for my medica
3 care and getting nedical care.

4 Q When Dr. Chanbers returned to the room did he
5 speak to you?

6 A The first that thing happened when he canme back
7 tothe room | was just sitting back in the chair next to
8 the counter, and he was standing in front of here

9 (indicating), he said, "Wat happened during the examis
10 called fisting, and that's where | try to insert ny

11 entire first into your vagina. | was only able to get it
12 this far."

13 He showed nme with his hand (indicating) how far
14 he got his fist in, and then he said -- he said, "A man's
15 penis is only this big." And he showed ne two fingers

16 about the size of two fingers.

17 | took that to nmean ny vagina was too |arge for
18 a penis.

19 Q |'msorry, Patient A, but for clarification,
20 when Dr. Chanbers said that he was only able get his hand
21 this far, you touched your hand at -- approxinmately where
22 on his hand was he pointing to? Did it include four
23 fingers?
24 A Above his knuckl es and bel ow his wrist.
25 Q Bet ween hi s knuckles and his wist?
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A. Yes.

Q Then he imedi ately followed it with a comment
about a man's penis being approximately two fingers w de?

A Yes.

Q What affect did that exchange have on you?

A The affect was very profound, and, you know, |
had never considered what had been told to nme. | was
hum | i ated and enbarrassed.

| didn't want my husband to know. Like, |
just -- | didn't know what to tell ny husband about what
had happened because | didn't want himto know about ny
body, what was supposedly wong with it.

And, you know, it had a profound affect on ny
confidence and ny sexual confidence and

Q Thank you.

Have you ever heard the term"fisting" before
t hat ?

A No.

Q Did Dr. Chanbers use any other non-nedical
ternms during your neeting?

A. | nmean, he tends to speak in lay terns, and he
-- sorry. Can you say it again?

Q Yes.

| was curious if during your experience with

Dr. Chanbers if he used any other non-nedical, slang
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terns simlar to fisting or sonething else to describe --

A Generally, yeah. | just -- | remenber him
calling labia "lips." He said that when he does
| abi apl asty, he "kisses the |lips together."

And just used, like, | nean, he's just very
unformal, used other -- | don't renenber specifically.

Q Do you renenber if you had referred to | abia as
l'ips before that?

A No. | only use anatomical terns for
everyt hi ng.

Q kay. Can you please turn to Exhibit 4?

A (Wtness conplied).

Q Can you confirmthat those are the photos that
Dr. Chanbers took of you on your cell phone?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. Would those -- what did Dr. Chanbers
tell you to do with the ten photos that you did not text
hi n®?

A He told he would need them-- you know, if we
did the surgery, he would need themlater on, so keep
themin a secured folder in nmy phone.

He also told me to nmake sure they're secure so
ny husband woul dn't see them because if he did, they
woul d mess with his head.

Q How did you feel after the exam nation

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

1 physically? rage 118
2 A | was in a lot of pain. | had swelling. | had
3 what felt like my mcro tears all around ny vagi na

4 opening.

5 | mean, | had sone, like, hard lunps in ny

6 labia, and |I remenber nmy husband going to the store to

7 get me Epsomsalts so | can soak for the pain. It was

8 painful.

9 Q Approxi mately how |l ong did that pain |last?

10 A Pain, you know, | nean, if you're saying pain,
11 swelling, disconfort, a couple of weeks, honestly.

12 You know, by the tinme I -- | was worried about
13 the pain. | was worried about if there was damage, so |
14 made an appointnment with ny OB-GYN, Dr. Lewis. | think
15 <called her, like, four days after, and she got nme in six
16 days after the examw th Dr. Chanbers.

17 And | remenber we took a trip for Thanksgi ving
18 so that | could go see her. At the time when | went in
19 to see her, | renenber feeling better than | did at the
20 tinme | nmade the appoi ntment.

21 Q Did you ever talk to Dr. Lewi s about the

22 fisting comrent ?

23 A | was concerned that it wasn't a nedical term
24 | had never heard it before, so | was hoping she would
25 wverify, yeah, that's a nedical term This is a norma
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2 She said, "No, |'ve never heard that term

3 before.”

4 And | al so asked her -- Dr. Chanbers was

5 discussing surgery with me. He had said during surgery,
6 he doesn't do the surgery under a local -- or a general
7 anesthetic, he does a |ocal anesthetic.

8 And he said during the surgery, he would be

9 stinmulating nmy clitoris, and that he wanted nme to not
10 hold back and it would okay if | cone, and | was

11 concerned about that.

12 | had asked Dr. Chanbers about it, "Wy would
13 you need to do that? | don't understand why that's

14 necessary."”

15 He said, "lIt's to make sure that |'m not

16 cutting any of nerve fibers attached to the clitoris."
17 And | had said, "But you al ready assured ne
18 that there would be no clitoral sensation |ost with the
19 surgery."”
20 He just brushed it off. So | brought it up
21 with Dr. Lewis, and she said, "There was no reason to
22 ever do that during surgery."”
23 Q What -- if you renenber, what surgery did he
24 propose to performon you?
25 A | mean, the perineoplasty, the vagi nopl asty,
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1 the rectocele, and also he believed that ny vagi na needed
2 to be smaller. And |abiaplasty.

3 Q Wien you -- just to confirm when you first net
4 with him it was not for cosnetic reasons at all?

5 A No. | did ask about |abiaplasty. It was in

6 relation to the disconfort and -- that | was

7 experiencing.

8 | asked himif that would help. He said, "It

9 could."

10 And asked hi m what were the chances of |osing
11 any, like, feeling or sexual sensation, and | can't

12 renenber for sure, | know it was a high incidence that

13 you -- | think said, like, 50/50 percent you could |ose
14 feeling.

15 And at that tinme, | was |ike, not doing

16 | abiaplasty. Not worth the risk.

17 Q Did he al so propose to you doing surgery of

18 your clitoral hood?

19 A Honestly, | just remenber him saying your
20 clitoris -- | didn't express any concern about ny
21 clitoris. Never had any concern about it. | just
22 renmenber himshowi ng nme the picture and sayi ng, "Wnen
23 would kill for a clitoris Iike yours."
24 | do have, kind of like, ny |abia bent on one
25 side. | think |I renmenber himsaying that he woul d excise
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2 Q How di d you feel after this encounter

3 psychol ogi cal | y?

4 A It was kind of an unfolding -- honestly, really

5 enbarrassing and humliating. | didn't want to tell ny

6 husband everything, what happened.

7 | didn't fully -- howdid | feel after when?

8 Like, right after? The day after?

9 Q How woul d you describe the affect? You know,
10 you said it was unfolding, so a couple of nonths |ater,
11 how did you feel about what had happened that day?

12 A Well, it was -- | nean, | knew what had

13 happened was wong. | knew what had happened was sexual

14 assault. | knew what had happened was not for ny nedical

15 care.

16 | had profound affect. | believed -- despite

17 all reason and despite everything in ny real life, |

18 believed sonething was wong with ny vagina. | believed

19 ny body was disgusting. | believed -- | remenber feeling

20 for the longest tinme like |I cannot exist in this body,

21 it's too disgusting.

22 | suffer frompost-traunmatic stress disorder.

23 | nean, the effects have been profound.

24 | have four little kids. Living with anxiety,

25 just the post-traumatic stress, | nean, it didn't feel
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good.

Q Did you seek assistance froma nental health

pr of essi onal ?

A | did. | had counseling through the Rape
Crisis Center.
Q You -- since this encounter in Novenber of

2020, have you had any surgery to address your perenni al
pai n?

A No.

Q And is the delay in that care a result of this

encounter with Dr. Chanbers?

A Absolutely. | nean, | was ready to have it
repai red as soon as possible. | was very anxious to have
it repaired.

And, you know, afterwards, | thought | have to
get this surgery. | have to -- need surgery to repair ny
body so | can heal. |If | heal physically, |I can hea

enotional ly.

But | haven't been able to go through with
surgery. | did find a really good doctor at UCLA, and at
sone point, I will have the surgery.

Q You never went back to Dr. Chanbers after this
encounter in Novenmber of 2020?

A No.

Q Do you know Dr. Chanmbers ex-w fe?
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2 Q Thank you very much, Patient A. | have no

3 further questions.

4 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Al right. Let's take
5 a quick ook at our tinme and what's next.

6 And that would be, Dr. Chanbers, do you intend
7 to cross-exam ne Patient A?

8 DR CHAMBERS: | do.

9 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Okay. Not going to

10 hold you to -- how long do you think it would take?

11 Should we call it a day now, or are we good to go unti

12 five o' clock?

13 DR CHAMBERS: | would like to continue, if

14 that's possible.

15 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Let nme ask Patient A
16 Are you willing to --

17 THE WTNESS: Yes. Thank you

18 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  You' d like to continue
19 today?
20 THE W TNESS:  Yes.
21 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. It may spill over
22 until tonorrow anyway. Do you understand that?
23 M5. MOONEYHAN: | --
24 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N
25 Do you understand that?
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THE WTNESS: Yes. That's okay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

Everyone good? W don't need anot her break.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  No, Your Honor.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Okay. | think we're
good to go until 5:00. Thank you, everyone.

Ckay, Dr. Chanbers.

DR CHAMBERS. Wuld you like to take a m nute,
Patient A?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N  Yes.

THE W TNESS: No.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY DR. CHAMBERS:
Q |'mgoing to start with sonething said. You

did an interviewwith the Daily Beast --

M5. MOONEYHAN: (njection. Rel evance.

DR CHAMBERS: It points to sonething she said
here that contradicted what said in the article.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Do you have t hat
i ntervi ew?

DR. CHAMBERS:. | have it on ny phone. | don't
have it printed with ne.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Because that's
sonet hi ng you shoul d probably offer that into evidence if

you intend to cross-exam ne her about it.
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1 DR CHAMBERS: GCkay. Al right. 1"l tf@ge e
2 anot her way.

3 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Thank you.

4 BY DR CHAMBERS:

5 Q At any point after the examnation, did you say
6 to anyone, including the police, that you did not know
7 what | inserted into your vagi na?

8 A Did | say that to anybody?

9 Q Yes. O to the police?

10 A | -- | (inaudible) what | said to the police.
11 THE REPORTER:

12 | can't hear her.

13 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Patient A, |'m going
14 to ask you to speak up again. The court reporter's

15 having a little bit of trouble.

16 Thank you.

17 THE WTNESS: |'mjust trying to remenber what
18 | said to the police.

19 MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, | have a
20 question -- | have an objection, really.
21 ' mnot sure that Patient A on direct,
22 testified that she did know She said she felt
23 stretching, then what he told her.
24 | don't think she ever said she knew what was
25 inserted into her.
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DR. CHAMBERS: Your Honor, she said, "I Fg?? +20
hi s knuckles."

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  COverrule it.

DR. CHAMBERS. You're overruling the question
or --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  COverrul e the
obj ecti on.

DR. CHAMBERS. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE WTNESS: | felt his knuckles during -- at
the tinme exactly during the exam | couldn't inmagine --
you know, during the exam | couldn't inmagine what he
could be -- | never -- had no concept that he woul d be
inserting his hand into nmy vagi na.

Wien he cane and told nme he had put his fist in
the vagina, that's exactly what it felt like. | didn't
see it with nmy eyes.

BY DR. CHAMBERS
Q Did you screamduring the exam nation?
A No.

Did you see how | prepared ny hands to exam ne

you?
A No.
Did you see how many gloves | put on to exam ne
you?
A No.
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Q Did you see how many packets of |ubrication I

used to exam ne you?
A No.

DR. CHAMBERS: Your Honor, 1'd like to
i ntroduce Exhibit A -- or 1, the packet of l|ubrication I
used.

MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, exhibit -- what's
energed as Exhibit Ais Dr. Chanbers' CV, and there are
exhi bits behind that. | believe he's trying to introduce
a packet of lubrication that is not the exact one that
you used that day.

DR CHAMBERS: Well, it cane fromthe sane
packet | used.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Where are --

DR. CHAMBERS: And this is --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  |I'msorry. \Were are
we as far as his exhibits?

M5. MOONEYHAN: He's trying to introduce it now
as an exhibit. None admtted, but they have been | abel ed

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

M5. MOONEYHAN: -- A through T.

DR CHAMBERS: Your Honor, in preparing this
case, | realized that we're tal king about fisting, and as

ny witness tonorrow will testify, when you fist soneone,
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you need a ton of l|ubrications.

And the purpose of this introduction is to show
the only packet of lubrication that | use on every single
patient | exam ne, to show that there's no possible way
to lubricate ny entire fist --

MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, | would submt that
Dr. Chanbers is currently testifying.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | agree.

Dr. Chanbers, you can testify on your case in
chi ef about this.

DR. CHAMBERS. (kay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  You coul d ask her --

MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, the w tness has
answered the question that she did not see what
| ubrication had been used.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Di d she answer that
guestion, counsel?

DR CHAMBERS: She did. She did.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. Then let's nove
on, Dr. Chanmbers. You'll have an opportunity to discuss
t hat .

DR CHAMBERS: kay. All right.

BY DR. CHAMBERS:
Q You said used the term"lips" instead of |abia;

is that correct?
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A. Yes.

Q Are you aware that in nmultiple medica
t ext books, journals, also seen in nmedical witings on the
internet, labia mnora is often referred to as the inner
lips the abia majora --

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, I'mgoing to
object. | would say that this question is argunentative,
but if the witness has stated --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Overrul | ed, counsel .

Counsel, ask a sinple question of the w tness,
pl ease.

DR CHAMBERS: Ckay.

BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q Have you ever heard the term"inner |abia
m nora" referred to as inner |ip?

A Probabl y.

Q You al so --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And |'msorry to
interrupt again, and I know this is difficult for Patient
A

|'mgoing to ask you to answer audibly so the
court reporter can pick it up

THE WTNESS: | said probably.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you very nuch
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BY DR. CHAMBERS:

Q You al so nentioned that | said "kissing the
lips." Wien | -- do you remenber when | did or said when
| mentioned the term"kissing the Iips"?

A You put the | abia together so that you can
excise or cut themto match

Q Ckay. Thank you.

You conplained to the Medical Board and | ater
repeated the same statenent that | asked you about
intimate nonments with your husband --

M5. MOONEYHAN: Objection. Beyond the scope of
direct exam nation

HEARI NG CFFI CER GHUSIN. It is allowed in
adm ni strative hearings under the relaxed rul es of
evi dence.

But keep it sinple, please, Dr. Chanbers. [|'m
not going to allow you to go too far afield. She's
absolutely right. That was outside the scope of direct,
but we're not in a courtroomeither.

DR CHAMBERS. (kay.

BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q You said you cane to the office for pain in
your perineal. But during the consultation, you handed
me -- Exhibit nunber 2, if you turn to that please. You

see a 2 on the tab.
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1 A (Wtness conplied).

2 Q | f you go to NSBME 0023, then 24.

3 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  |'m sorry,

4 Dr. Chanbers. WII you repeat that? Wat?

5 DR CHAMBERS: Exhibit 2, pages NSBVE 0024.

6 MS. MOONEYHAN: That's in exhibit 3.

7 DR CHAMBERS: Exhibit 3. Sorry.

8 BY DR CHAMBERS:

9 Q Qther than ny witing your first initial, your
10 last nanme, ny signature, the word "noted,” as well as the
11 date, is everything else on that formwhat it was when
12 you gave it to ne?

13 A |'massumng so. | didn't have tinme to read
14 the whol e thing.
15 Q | s that your handwiting on both pages?
16 A Yes.
17 Q Ckay. What is title of that docunent?
18 A “Vagi na Repair Consultation.”
19 Q Ckay. |If you go down to where it says
20 "sentence" on page 23, can you read what it said, the
21 first thing that it says there, starting with pain?
22 A It says:
23 "Pain and disconfort around the
24 openi ng of ny vagi na for al nost
25 12 years."
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Q kay. And if you go down to the | ast

subsection of that paragraph, where it starts with "sex

can be," would you please read that for ne?

A It says:
"It can be painful if not
| ubri cated. My husband has
| earned some areas not to touch.
Lubricant is used to be an
occasional thing that we didn't
use very often. Nowit's
necessary."

Q Ckay. Keep going, please.

MS. MOONEYHAN: |'mjust wondering what the
poi nt of the --

DR CHAMBERS: The point of this question is,
part of the conplaint was that | discussed sexual matters
W th her.

THE WTNESS: | never conplained that you
di scussed matters wth ne.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Okay. Hold on Patient
A let us settle this.

THE WTNESS: In general

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Hol d on.

DR. CHAMBERS: Am | not allowed to discuss her

conplaint to the Board?
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Yes, sir, you are.

DR CHAMBERS: GCkay. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  Ms. Mooneyhan, did you
have a response?

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yeah. Your Honor, | would just
like to point out that that was not a part of the
conplaint as filed by the Investigative Comittee,.

The I nvestigative Commttee is focused on the
t aki ng of the photographs and the using of the term
"fisting." It did not --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N Correct.

M5. MOONEYHAN: -- (inaudible) any issues
related to discussing the patient's sex |ife, questions
t hat she had about her sex life.

DR. CHAMBERS: Wis it not the basis for that
conpl ai nt ?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N Yeah, Ms. Mboneyhan,
is that correct? 1Isn't that the basis for everything is
t he exam nation and what she came to see himfor?

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Correct.

And | believe the patient stated that the main
reason she was there was for pain.

DR CHAMBERS: Yes. She said she inquired
about cosnetic gynecol ogi ¢ procedures.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Again, |I'm
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going to allow this to go forward.

Let's keep it very sinple, Dr. Chanbers.

| believe he has the right to question on the
basis of her comng to see him and --

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, just --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  -- the conmmuni cati on
bet ween t hem

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Just -- Your Honor, just maybe
to forestall any other further objections, maybe
Dr. Chanmbers can focus on aski ng non-conpound questions,
one question at that tine?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  COkay. And as | said,
let's keep it sinple.

And it is challenging, Dr. Chanbers, | know, as
you're not represented by counsel, and this is not your
wheel house, but let's keep the questions sinple. Again,
| agree with Ms. Mooneyhan. Okay?

And al t hough I have sonme latitude in an
adm ni strative hearing regarding the admssibility of
evi dence, anything that m ght actually help me or -- but
let's not go too afield, please.

DR CHAMBERS: W'l do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

DR CHAMBERS: | know what |'ll do. [|'ll have

her read the statenents to herself, as to not create any
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embarrassnent.

BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q Wul d you pl ease read the follow ng section
that says "feels like" to yourself, please.

A (Wtness conplied).

Q Ckay. Continue on to page 24, the next
sent ence.

A (Wtness conplied).

Q And if you go down to four nore dots where it
says "it takes nore.”

A Um hum

Q And if we go down to the questions about
surgery, if you go down six dots down where it says "how
will this change,” and if you go to the second from
bottom of that section "I saw," and then "okay."

Wien gi ven those questions, which | addressed
individually with you, do you think it was fair that you
conplained to the Board that | asked you about sexual
matters?

A | don't recall conplaining that you asked about
sexual matters in general. 1've always been very open
about the fact that | came in with sone questions about
sexual matters, and there may have been specific things
that | wasn't confortable with, but, in general,

di scussi ng sexual matters wasn't a problemfor ne.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS - 05/02/2023

Page 136

1 | had seen on your website that you are a

2 certified sexual health doctor, and that's the reason

3 that | even thought to discuss it with you.

4 And | was hoping to get help. | was hoping

5 that -- like, what | was hoping for was we could check ny

6 hornones, see if everything was good. | nean, things had

7 changed since ny last childbirth, and that was what |

8 cane in -- those were the expectations | canme in wth.

9 Q Ckay. Well, the public was made to believe

10 that | was naking inappropriate inquiries, and so |

11 wanted to clear that, that | didn't just out of the blue

12 ask you about that.

13 MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, does Dr. Chanbers

14 have a question or is he testifying?

15 DR CHAMBERS: |'mnoving on to ny question.

16 BY DR CHAMBERS:

17 Q Did you expect ne to address any sexual

18 dysfunctions you nentioned during the concl usion?

19 A | wouldn't call it "sexual dysfunction," but,

20 yes, | expected you to address questions that | had about

21 sexual function.

22 Q Ckay. Did you ask nme about Dr. Red Alinsod

23 during the consultation?

24 A. | -- | don't renenber, honestly, but what | do

25 renmenber is that we didn't -- | didn't ask you any of ny
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guestions until after the exam nation because | didn't

want -- | didn't knowif |I had a rectocele, so | didn't
even want to discuss surgery for a rectocele since
hadn't been diagnosed with it.

Q Can you recall when you, as witten here on
page 24, when you asked me how many of these procedures
|'ve done, if | have heard of Red Alisod' s technique that

you listed on that same page on the questions about

surgery?

A | don't recall. | may have.

Q Ckay.

A | wote | down here, so | probably did if |I was
still concerned about it.

Q How did you |earn of Dr. Alinsod?

A Just a Googl e search about vagi nopl asty,
rectocele repair.

Q Did you visit his website?

A |''massumng | did because I had a question
about what he called "the surgery.”

Q kay. Do you recall looking at his photo
gallery of before and after photos?

A | don't know.

DR CHAMBERS: Your Honor, is it appropriate

for me to introduce an exhibit that 1'd like for her to

conpare what's on Dr. Alinsod' s website with the pictures
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| took of her?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ms. Moneyhan?

M5. MOONEYHAN: Well, Your Honor, my question
isif it's appropriate for Patient Ato testify on
conparing photos of different vagina -- pictures of
vagi nal areas.

|f Dr. Chanbers wants to attenpt to admt such
evi dence | ater for Your Honor to do, but | don't think
Patient A has testified about the photos that were on her
phone. That's what she had know edge about, and | don't
t hi nk she shoul d be asked to conpare that to --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Let ne ask you,

Dr. Chanbers, | tend to agree with Ms. Mdoneyhan

DR. CHAMBERS:. But | thought --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  What is the purpose of
this?

DR. CHAMBERS:. |'m not asking her to conpare
vagi nas.

The purpose of the conparison is to show how
t he doctor who taught cosnetic GYN surgeons how to size a
patient's vagina, how his website displays pictures of
hi m si zing patients vaginas using two, three, and four
fingers.

It's not neant for her to critique the vagina,

how they look; it's about the measuring techni que that he
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tells us and teaches all of us to --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  Ckay. Let ne junp in
here, and, again, since you're not represented, we all
have to be careful here.

But I will make a suggestion. Perhaps, m ght
it be nore appropriate -- | could see where you' re going
with this and that it may be rel evant, but this may not
be the right |ist of questions about it.

Perhaps, if it's sonmething you want to argue in
your case, you should talk to your expert about it.

DR. CHAMBERS. C(Ckay. That's fair

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: M. Moneyhan, what do
you thi nk?

M5. MOONEYHAN: That's it exactly it, Your
Honor. | believe there may be other --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yeah.

MS. MOONEYHAN: Dr. Chanmbers will have the
opportunity to put on his case in chief and/or there may
be other witnesses, even in the IC s case, that he can
di scuss this with if his witness is not qualified to now
to neasure --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | agree that.

MS. MOONEYHAN:. -- the opening of a patient.

DR. CHAMBERS. Ckay. My | continue, Your

Honor ?
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Pl ease.

BY DR. CHAMBERS:

Q Patient A | point you to Exhibit 4, page 0030.

A (Wtness conplied).

Q Is it my fingers or fist that is in your vagi na
in that photograph?

A Your fingers.

Q | f you | ook at ny hand, can you say how far ny
fingers are inserted when you conpare it to the gl oves?

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, she already
answered this question.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Okay. And |I'msorry.
| actually didn't hear that answer.

THE WTNESS: His fingers.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Thank you.

DR CHAMBERS: GCkay. And | showed her ny hand
to see if she was able to discern fromthat photograph
how far was ny finger was inserted by |ooking at ny hand
in the pictures to discern --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  If you could ask a
qguestion, Dr. Chanbers, do you renmenber, don't testify,
pl ease.

DR CHAMBERS: (kay.

BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q From t he phot ograph, can you see whether or not
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1 nmy entire fingers were inside your vagi ha or just rage 4t
2 partially inside the vagina? Are you able to tell?

3 A How much of your fingers are in ny vagi na?

4 Q Yes.

5 A Yesish. | nmean, you had a gl ove on.

6 Q Ckay. |Is it partial or the full length of ny
7 fingers?

8 A It's partial.

9 Q Thank you.

10 After | have done the QTip testing on the

11 outside of your vagina, | then proceed to insert two

12 fingers into your vagina.

13 Do you recall what | asked you as | touched
14 each points inside the vagina?

15 | first pushed up agai nst your bl adder, then
16 pushed on each side wall, and then | pushed down on the
17 rectum Do you recall what | asked and what your

18 response was?

19 A | don't recall a QTip being inserted.

20 Q kay. For the record --

21 A | recall you asking if there was pain.

22 Q Ckay. Thank you.

23 For the record, the QTip test, which is done

24 by sonme OB-GYNs, is part of the standard workup for pain.

25 | then did a rectal vaginal examin which
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1 inserted one finger into your vagina and one into your
2 rectum is that correct?
3 MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, | don't have an
4 objection, but the patient has testified she couldn't see
5 what was going on --
6 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.
7 MS. MOONEYHAN: -- things going on. She saw
8 photos, and she testified as to what she was told.
9 DR CHAMBERS: She could not feel ny finger in
10 her anus?
11 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:. Okay. |I'mgoing to
12 sustain the objection.
13 And, Dr. Chanbers, again, question, answer,
14 question, answer.
15 DR CHAMBERS: (xay.
16 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  No testinony.
17 BY DR CHAMBERS:
18 Q Were you able to discern whether or not | had
19 one finger in your vagina and one in your anus?
20 A | definitely discerned your finger in ny anus.
21 Q Gkay. Thank you.
22 For the record, a rectal vagi nal exam --
23 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor --
24 DR. CHAMBERS:. Ckay. | get it. |It's not a
25 question. | get it.
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BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q Did | refer you to a urogynecol ogi st?
A Yes. Dr. Wasser man.

Q Did you go?

A Yes.

Q A mnute ago, you said you went to Dr. Lew s,
but you've not gone to deal with these issues because of
your alleged PTSD from ny exam

So you did go to Dr. Wassernman --

A | said --

Did he exam ne you?

A -- (inaudi ble) surgery because --
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. |'mdoing to
junmp in here, folks. I'msorry. Just to keep it clean,

and we're going to try not speak over each other as the
court reporter has difficulty getting it down. Okay?
Please, try to wait until someone finishes
before you start to answer.
Thank you.
BY DR. CHAMBERS:
Q Did he exam ne you?
A Yes.
Q And what did he recommend?
A Same. Surgery. Only he doesn't do

| abi apl asty, so he recommended the perineal repair and a
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1 posterior repair -- I'mtrying to remenber. | havgﬁg$ e
2 thought about this in -- it was over two years ago.

3 Q Do you renenber why | recomend that you see
4 Dr. Wassernman?

5 A So that | could have insurance pay for the

6 procedures.

7 Q Ckay. And then the plan was that you woul d

8 return to ne for outer stuff; is that correct?

9 A No. Because | didn't want to have -- | didn't
10 want to have |abiaplasty if | was going to |ose

11 sensation.

12 Q Ckay. At the end of the consultation, after
13 you paid, did you |leave right away?

14 A No. | talked to the front-desk person.

15 believe her nane was Casey.

16 Q How | ong were you there?

17 A | don't recall how long. How long did I talk
18 to Casey?

19 Q Yes.

20 A | don't recall. | renenber asking her if

21 people were happy with the surgery, if she thought you
22 were a good surgeon. | don't renenber.

23 Q Was | standing there with the two of you during
24 this?

25 A When | was asking if you were a good surgeon?
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2 A | don't think so.

3 Q Wien we were standing at the back desk, did you
4 see ne standing next to you at the back desk, the patient
5 desk, after the procedure? After the procedure?

6 A The after exam yes, we were standing near the
7 back desk. Yes.

8 Q Did you at any tine say to ne that you were in
9 pain fromthe exam| just perfornmed on you?

10 A VWl |, other than when | told it was very

11 unconfortable, that's the only thing | ever said to you.
12 Q Was the conversation between the three of us
13 jovial?

14 A Probabl y.

15 Q Did you express your excitenent to do the

16 procedure?

17 A | don't renenber.

18 Q  Okay.

19 DR CHAMBERS: | have no further questions for
20 Patient A, Your Honor.
21 Thank you very nuch.
22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you
23 Dr. Chanbers.
24 Ms. Mooneyhan, any redirect?
25 MS. MOONEYHAN: Yes. Thank you. | have a few
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guesti ons.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:
Q Thank you, Patient A
Just now, Dr. Chanmbers asked about a photograph
with four fingers inserted. Just to clarify, the photo

-- when he took the photos of the exam when he

(i naudi bl e).
THE REPORTER | didn't understand her.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  |'m sorry,

Ms. Mooneyhan. We're having sone connectivity issues, soO
we didn't hear the question and answer. And we're
probably going to go -- | don't knowif -- it |ooks |ike
we're going to wap this up. Let's do ten nore m nutes
anyway, and let's try it again.

And I"'msorry if | have to interrupt again,
everybody.

M5. MOONEYHAN: Can you hear nme now?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | can now. |If you
coul d ask that question again. | didn't get it either.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Sure.
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q Dr. Chanbers asked you about the photo with his

four fingers inserted in your vagina, and just to

clarify, the series of photographs at the exam you said
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1 you were incredibly unconfortable, were those the sane

2 event or were those separate --

3 A It was two separate events.

4 Q Those were two separate instances during that
5 encounter?

6 A Yes.

7 Q You al so stated that this -- the list, the

8 two-page list that you had typed before you went in, you
9 discussed all of those questions after your exan?

10 A Yeah. We discussed the questions, which | felt
11 were still relevant, after the examand after he had told
12 me his diagnosis and treatnent recommendations.

13 Q So, some of these questions about, you know,
14 changes to your sex life and those questions he had you
15 read, you hadn't discussed those before he performed the
16 exam is that correct?

17 A Whi ch questions? Like about ny sex life?

18 Q Yeah. Had you nentioned any questions about,
19 vyou know, lubrication, sex, that sort of thing, before
20 the exan?
21 A | don't renmenber, honestly. [|I'mtrying to
22 think. If you give nme a mnute.
23 MR VWH TE: She said had or had not discussed
24 before the exan? Was it clear for you?
25 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  |1'm going to junp
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1 quickly. D d you say had or had not discussed before the
2 exam Ms. Mooneyhan?
3 M5. MOONEYHAN: Well, that's -- | was asking if
4 they had -- had discussed these questions before the
5 exam If there had been any nention of these questions
6 before the exam
7 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Okay. Thank you.
8 THE WTNESS: | can't renenber. | can't say
9 for sure yes or no.
10 But | would expect, that, yes, if | had a
11 synptomor a concern, that would have been di scussed
12 before the exam
13 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And you don't have to
14 speculate. If you don't renenber, it's okay.
15 THE WTNESS: | don't.
16 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: It's okay. It's fine.
17 | think everyone's getting a little tired too. |If you
18 don't renenber, it's okay.
19 THE W TNESS: Ckay.
20 M5. MOONEYHAN: | have no further questions.
21 Thank you.
22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Any recross,
23 Dr. Chanbers?
24 DR CHAMBERS. Yes. Please. | just one
25 question.
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RECRCSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY DR. CHAMBERS:

Q At what point during the encounter did you give
me this fornf

A At the very begi nning.

DR CHAMBERS: Thank you very nuch.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: One nonent.

DR. CHAMBERS: |'m finished, Your Honor.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

Ms. Mooneyhan, any fol | omup?

MS. MOONEYHAN: No, Your Honor.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Okay. Gve nme just a
moment .

First, Patient A | just want to thank you
for -- | knowthis is difficult, but I would like a
little clarification.

EXAM NATI ON BY THE HEARI NG OFFI CER

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:

Q I'ma little fuzzy about when you went back to
your owmn GYN, Dr. Lewi s, and you went to Dr. Wassernman,
in the scope of tinme, did you go to themfor different
t hi ngs?

| know those are two questions.
A | went to Dr. Lewis because of the pain | was

experiencing fromthe examwth Dr. Chanbers.
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1 Q And that was soon after --

2 A That was six days after the exam --

3 Q Thank you.

4 A -- with Dr. Chanbers.

5 | don't recall the exact date of ny visit to

6 Dr. Wasserman, but that was just for -- not concerning

7 the pain, it was concerning ny initial gynecol ogi cal

8 1ssues.

9 Q So you are still seeking sone treatnent for

10 original your concerns?

11 A.  Right.

12 Q kay. And you went to Dr. Wassernan on Dr.

13 Chanbers' recommendation. Did | get that right?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Okay. And to nake sure | understand, my notes

16 say because he reconmended the sanme surgery, but he does

17 not performthat surgery.

18 So, he recommended t he sane surgery that

19 Dr. Chanbers reconmended; is that right?

20 A Yes. | said to Dr. Chanmbers, "Wy won't ny

21 insurance pay for this procedure?"

22 And he said, "It's because | do it in ny

23 office. There's no way for ne to bill insurance, but if

24 you go see Dr. Wasserman, he'll do the exact" --

25 And | renmenber | said, "lIs it the exact sane
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surgery?"

He said, "Yes, it's the exact sanme surgery,
only he'll bill your insurance."

So, Dr. Wasserman is partnered -- | nmean sane
practice as Dr. Shae, who was the other doctor Dr. Lews
had originally reconmended that | go see.

Q kay. So, Dr. Chanbers said to go to Dr.
Wasserman, he'll do the sane surgery and insurance would
cover it.

But Dr. Wassernman said, "l don't do that
surgery"; is that right?

A No. Wasserman does do the surgery.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ch, okay. See ny
notes are wong then.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Go ahead,

Ms. Mboneyhan.
M5. MOONEYHAN:. Can | ask a followup? | --
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Pl ease.
FOLLOW UP EXAM NATI ON
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q Patient A, when you're tal king about the
surgery that Dr. Chanbers recomended and what
Dr. Wasserman was going to do, you said he did sonething

to other parts. Wre you tal king about the rectocele
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repair?

A Right. So, the only thing -- fromwhat |
remenber, the only thing Dr. Wassernman didn't do woul d be
a | abi apl astYy.

If | wanted to to have a | abi apl asty, that
woul d need to be Dr. Chanbers.

Q So Dr. Wasserman didn't do the cosnetic
portions, but he would do the rectocele repair and the

perineal repair?

A Correct.
Which, just to clarify, | did actually discuss
also -- | did -- like the I abiaplasty, | never went --

you say "cosnetic,” ny intention wasn't to have a
cosnetic fix to ny labia; ny intention was to dea
what ever was causi ng di sconfort and pain.

| had asked Dr. Chanbers if a | abiaplasty would
help with that.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you for the
clarification.

Any foll owup, Ms. Moneyhan? Any nore?

M5. MOONEYHAN: No. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, any
fol |l ow up?

DR. CHAMBERS: Yes.
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1 BY DR CHAMBERS:

2 Q W go back to --

3 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And I'mjust going to

4 forewarn you that we have to wap this up in five mnutes

5 today.

6 DR CHAMBERS: Correct. Correct.

7 BY DR CHAMBERS:

8 Q | f we go back to the docunents that you gave ne

9 on page 23 and 24, section 3.

10 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Wi ch exhibit?

11 DR. CHAMBERS: Section 3, Exhibit 23 and 24.

12 So docunent entitled "Vagina Repair Consultation.”

13 "Il try not to say it out |oud, Your Honor.

14 BY DR CHAMBERS:

15 Q Go on to page 24, the top of the page where it

16 says "the inner," can you read that statenent, the

17 three-line statenent to yourself.

18 A Okay.

19 Q Wth specific attention to the word "often

20 have," to the end of sentence, and then the next

21 sentence.

22 A (Wtness conplied).

23 Q Do you recall us discussing how | abi apl asty

24 mght prevent that problenf

25 A | don't recall a |lot about that, but, yes, |I'm
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1 sure we discussed it. rage o4
2 And that's -- | just said that the concerns |
3 had for ny |abia were for pain and disconfort. That's
4 what we addressed. Yes.

5 DR. CHAMBERS:. Thank you. No further

6 questions.

7 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

8 Ms. Mooneyhan?

9 M5. MOONEYHAN: No nore questions, Your Honor.
10 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. Are you going
11 to keep this witness on recall for tonorrow, or is she
12 excused?

13 M5. MOONEYHAN:  She's excused.

14 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you, Patient A,
15 for being here today. GCkay?

16 THE WTNESS: Yes.

17 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  And good | uck.

18 Al'l right. So, |ooking ahead, | assune,

19 M. Mooneyhan, Patient B tonorrow norning?

20 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes, Your Honor. W intend to
21 call Patient B and Dr. Rafael tonorrow

22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  In that order?

23 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes.

24 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:. Ckay. At 9 o'clock?
25 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes, nm'am
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. And Dr. Rafael

I's here?

MR WHTE: He's in Reno.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:. Okay. He's going to
be in Reno. Al right.

Any other matters?

DR CHAMBERS: Ms. Ghusin, | have a question.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes.

DR CHAMBERS: | told my expert wi tness we
woul dn't need himuntil the afternoon. Should | adjust
that tinme?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | think we're probably
going to stick to it.

| guess if there's a chance that we're done
early and he's available, we could address it at that
time. Right now, | don't know.

DR CHAMBERS. (kay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | nean, we have a
time, it's a certain time, we could stick with that tinme.

But if we're done at, say, ten o'clock or 10:30
and he's available and we're willing to do that, we could
tal k about it then

DR CHAMBERS: GCkay. Thank you very much.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Any obj ection to that,
Ms. Mooneyhan?
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MS. MOONEYHAN: No, Your Honor.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  COkay. O herw se we
may have -- what? -- |like a three-hour break in the
m ddl e, possibly.

So, let's just deal with it when cones up.

Q
Q
<

N

Perfect. Al right.
Thank you all. See you in the norning.

(Proceedi ngs ended at 4:55 P.M)
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STATE OF NEVADA )

) Ss.
COUNTY OF WASHOE )

I, BRANDI ANN VI ANNEY SM TH, do hereby certify:

That | was present on May 2, 2023, at the Nevada
State Board of Medical Exam ners, 9600 Gateway Drive, Reno,
Nevada, and took stenotype notes of the proceedings entitled
herein, and thereafter transcribed the same into typewiting
as herein appears.

That the foregoing transcript is a full, true, and
correct transcription of nmy stenotype notes of said
proceedi ngs consi sting of 157 pages.

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this 10th day of My,
2023.

/'s/ Brandi Ann Vianney Smith

BRANDI ANN VI ANNEY SM TH
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HEALTH | NFORVATI ON PRI VACY & SECURI TY: CAUTI ONARY NOTI CE
Litigation Services is committed to conmpliance with applicable federal
and state |aws and regul ations (“Privacy Laws”) governing the
protection andsecurity of patient health information.Notice is
herebygiven to all parties that transcripts of depositions and |ega
proceedings, and transcript exhibits, may contain patient health
information that is protected from unauthorized access, use and
disclosure by Privacy Laws. Litigation Services requires that access,
mai nt enance, use, and disclosure (including but not Iimted to
el ectroni c database maintenance and access, storage, distribution/

di ssem nation and communication) of transcripts/exhibits containing
patient information be performed in conpliance with Privacy Laws.

No transcript or exhibit containing protected patient health
information may be further disclosed except as permtted by Privacy
Laws. Litigation Services expects that all parties, parties’
attorneys, and their H PAA Business Associates and Subcontractors will
make every reasonable effort to protect and secure patient health
information, and to conply with applicable Privacy Law mandat es
including but not limted to restrictions on access, storage, use, and
disclosure (sharing) of transcripts and transcript exhibits, and
applying “m ni num necessary” standards where appropriate. It is
recommended that your office reviewits policies regarding sharing of
transcripts and exhibits - including access, storage, use, and
disclosure - for conpliance with Privacy Laws.
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RENO, NEVADA -- MAY 3, 2023 -- 9:00 A M

- 00o0-

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Back on the record in
the matter of Dr. CGeorge Chanbers. This is day two of
the adm nistrative hearing.

W have a coupl e housekeeping matters that we'd
like to put on the record. Dr. Chanbers had requested a
si debar di scussion, and we discussed a couple of other
itenms al so.

Let nme start with the first itemregarding
public spectators and the entrances, and I'lIl ask
Ms. Mooneyhan to address that matter, please.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

Yes, as we discussed, there is the door that |
believe | just can see on the video behind ne, that's the
primary entrance for the public. |In, also, the corner of
the roomis a door that Medical Board personnel used to
access the back offices.

' mnot sure you were aware that yesterday,
Patient A came through that door, and today Patient B
wi Il cone through that door, through that staff door.

They're at a conference table in the back area
for their confort.

And Dr. Chanbers expressed a concern that a
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_ Page 6
menber of public had accessed to that door, and we were

going to ensure today that the only persons going through
t hat door are Board staff nmenbers or w tnesses, IC
W t ness.

And as an officer of the court, | make a
representation that a nmenber of public that did access
t hat door had no affect on the prosecution of this matter
or on the witness testinony.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

And, Dr. Chanbers, as | had expressed, we
cannot even see that door fromup here, so | was not even
aware of that.

Are you satisfied with this a result, sir?

DR. CHAMBERS:. | am

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. Thank you very
much for bringing it to our attention.

The next item again -- good norning, nedia,
and just a rem nder again that that order is in affect.
And wel come, good norning, and just a rem nder.

And | also nentioned in your sidebar, and I'd
like to put it on the record, | amaware that there is
press on this matter, and there has been for sonetine. |
had divul ged that | had not read anything, so what | know
is what | hear in the hearing.

And if people around ne have read anything, |
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Page /
have asked themnot to discuss what they read with me to

protect the integrity of this hearing process and the
rights of all those involved. And | just wanted to put
that on the record.

The third itemis with respect to our court
reporter up here. She will interrupt if she needs to
have sonet hing that we stated, that she doesn't catch
sonet hi ng

A few of us up here were exchangi ng glances if
we didn't get sonething. She's just going to speak up
and interrupt today if she needs to get sonething so we
have a pristine record.

And | think you just heard that too,

Dr. Chanbers -- correct? -- and Ms. Mooneyhan.

DR CHAMBERS: | did.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Al right. W' ve
di scussed it here, and she's just going do it on her own.
So she's not going to wait for ne, I'mnot going to | ook
at M. Wiite, she's just going to speak up, and | wll
too if | don't get sonething. Al right?

Any other prelimnary matters before we dive in
t hi s norni ng?

M5. MOONEYHAN: | just wanted to confirm Your

Honor, that any rebuttal witnesses will be testifying on
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_ _ Page 8
July 1st, the third day of the hearing.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And we all agreed to

that as well in our sidebar. So, yeah, it's on the
record, and we'll just how it conmes out at the end of the
day.

M5. MOONEYHAN:. Thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Anyt hi ng el se,
Ms. Mboneyhan?
MS. MOONEYHAN: Nothing fromme. Thank you
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Dr. Chanbers, anything

el se?

DR CHAMBERS: Nothing from me too.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Okay. Perfect. All
ri ght.

So, Ms. Mboneyhan, you're up.

M5. MOONEYHAN: Thank you. 1'd like to call
Patient B.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, |ike yesterday,
before Patient Bis swornin, | would [ike to take a
nmonent just -- in order to protect her identity, |

represent that Patient B that's identified in the patient
designation filed on of Septenmber 1st, 2022, under seal,
so I'd ask that she be sworn in as Patient B, and then ny

first few questions wll address her establishing that
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1 she is Patient B. rage ®
2 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you,

3 M. Mooneyhan. That's what we'll do. Go ahead.

4 (The oath was adm ni stered.)

) THE W TNESS:  Yes.

6 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

7 DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

8 BY M5, MOONEYHAN:

9 Q Patient B, prelimnarily, | just want to |et

10 you know that they are having trouble a little bit with

11 hearing in the Reno office.

12 So, when you -- it is going a little awkward, but
13 when | ask you a question, when you answer it, if you could
14 | ook at that canmera on the wall, that seens to help them
15 hear a little bit better. Because the court reporter is
16 reporting --

17 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  We'll wll you know if
18 we can't hear. |If you need to adjust.

19 THE W TNESS: Ckay.

20 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Thank you.

21 BY Ms. MOONEYHAN:

22 Q Thank you. 1'd like the record to reflect that
23 1've handed Patient B the patient designation with all

24 the patient nanmes redacted, except for her nane.

25 |'ve al so given Dr. Chanbers a copy.
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ltemtwo on that docunent, Patient B, it E?%?e%so
Patient B, the name of Patient B. |Is that your nanme?
A Yes.
Q | s that your date of birth?
A Yes.
Q Thank you.

Do you know the respondent, Dr. Chanbers?

A Yes. He was ny doctor for over seven years.

Q In that -- in those seven years, do you
remenber approxinmately how many tinmes you saw
Dr. Chanbers?

A Not really. | saw himfor ny yearly exanms. |
did see hima lot when | was pregnant with nmy son. | saw
hima couple of times after | delivered ny son. That was
about it.

Q And what time span did your relationship with
Dr. Chanbers cover?

A Over seven years.

Q Do you know the tine span, |ike, when it began
and when it approxi mately ended?

A | think I began when -- | think he was born in
2013, and | had seen himbefore |I got pregnant.

Q And when was your |ast visit with hin?

A Oct ober of 2018.

Q Were you aware that Dr. Chanbers does cosnetic
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1 gynecol ogi cal surgery? rage 2
2 A Yes, | was aware because there were posters in

3 his office.

4 Q D d you ever inquire about having cosnetic

5 gynecol ogi cal surgery?

6 A Absol utely not.

7 Q Did Dr. Chanbers perform any other surgeries on

8 you?

9 No.

10 Q Wiy did you stop seeing hinf Wiy was your | ast

11 wvisit in Cctober of 2018? Wy did you discontinue using

12 himas your primary gynecol ogi st?

13 A | discontinued using Dr. Chanbers because

14 Dbelieved that over the seven years that we had a

15 doctor-patient relationship, he had tried very hard to

16 earn ny trust. He had asked ne a | ot of questions about

17 ny chil dhood, about my past experiences, about any sexual

18 abuse, rape, things like that.

19 And because he was nmy doctor, and such an intinmate
20 one, | did feel that it was inportant for me to answer those
21 questions, as unconfortable as it was to answer them
22 And so -- but it was the last visit that | did see
23 himfor a second opinion on a breast lunp. | needed sone
24 scans ordered, and he was friendly as usual, he greeted ne
25 when he first came in, he had a nurse with him he had two
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student doctors.

H's introduction was himtelling that I was his
patient who was ganged raped. | definitely did not feel
okay about that because these were student doctors that |
had never net and that was sonething that | had told himin
confidence, and I told himabout that in detail too.

It had been years ago, but it was sonething that |
had trusted himthinking that it was inportant for himto
know for ny sexual health, but also because he asked.

And then in the exam | was asked to undress
conpl etely, even though that | knew that | was only there
for a breast exam | was told to undress fromthe wai st down
as well.

So | just assuned that naybe it was -- that maybe
| was due for my Pap snear. | wasn't really sure, but this
was a doctor's office, and | tried to conply as nuch as |
al ways do when | see a doctor

So, | undressed, | had a paper gown over my waist,
my legs, and then | had anot her one of those
paper-gown-shirt things that went over ny chest.

Q Let me stop you there just to clarify a few
things. Wwo told you to get undressed?

A The nurse. The nurse told ne to undress.

Q And that visit in Cctober of 2018, your primary

reason for visiting was because you had concerns about a
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2 A Yes. And | needed a second opinion -- | needed

3 scans to be ordered.

4 Q And there were -- so you undressed, you put on

5 paper gowns, you were al one when you undressed and put on

6 the paper gowns; is that correct?

7 A Yes.

8 Q And then Dr. Chanmbers entered the roomwth --

9 being acconpani ed by three other people?

10 A A nurse and two student doctors, all fenale.

11 Q Ckay. And then how did the exam proceed? D d

12 you explain to himwhy you were there?

13 A Yes. And so he did a breast exam He did a

14 Dbreast exam and he was just his, you know, usual

15 friendly, chatty self. | don't renenber exactly what he

16 was tal king about during the exam

17 When he was giving ne the exam he had asked

18 about -- | had had inplants since the last | saw him so he

19 was asking ne who was ny doctor, how do | |ike them and

20 told himsome of concerns that | had about them

21 He said, "Sit up so | can see them"

22 And the two student doctors were definitely in the

23 room At this point, | don't renenber if the nurse had

24 already left, but the two student doctors were still there.

25 And he sat on the chair. He had ne sit up. | was
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naked under the paper gown, and he was giving nme his opinion

on ny breasts, what he thought about them

And after that, he asked -- so by this tine, there
were only the two student doctors remaining, and he
specifically said, "Could you | eave so | could speak with
Angel a privately."

So they left. And | didn't object in that nonent
because, you know, this was ny doctor. | truly did trust
him and | thought that he always had ny best interest in
m nd.

They left and | thought just naybe he wanted to
talk to me about something that was nore private, maybe
sonething that did have to do with ny past. Unlike how he,
you know, inmmediately told themthat | was raped, | thought
that maybe this time he wanted to, you know, keep ny

confidence and talk to me in private.

So, it was awkward being naked, but | just went
withit. It was -- it's a very awkward situation to be in.
Q Patient B, let ne interrupt. So the gown had
not been pulled back down at this point when he asked the

student doctors to | eave the room is that correct?

A The wai st, yeah, the gown that was over ny
wai st. | was exposed fromthe waist up, but the waist --
| still had the paper gown frommnmy waist covering the
| ower part of ny body.
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Q Ckay. Thank you

A And after the student doctors |left, he asked ne
if | had ever posed nude before. | told himthat I
hadn't and was wondering why he would ask such a question
| i ke that.
And then he told nme about his patients, himasking
sone of his patients to be nodels for him and that this was
for his ads. He said that | wouldn't need to show ny face,

that was up to ne.

And | knew right off the bat that it was
incredibly inappropriate. It was crossing so many ethica
boundari es.

But, you know, when you're in that situation, it's
very -- it's very difficult to find the right words. And
al so, | was naked. |It's a very unconfortable situation to

be in.

And he told me that he could pay $25 per stock
photo. You could do that for his ads. But why woul dn't you
do that because he wants a real woman. He wanted wonmen who
had been through so nuch, just like | had been.

He knew that | had sone chil dhood trauma, he knew
that | had been raped as a teenager, he knew that | had
struggl ed sexually in my own intimate |ife because of the
rape, because of the trauma, because of the PTSD

He knew all of that, and he proceeded to tel
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me -- to actually go on and on how, because of mny past, this

woul d be very enpowering for ne. This would be the thing
that could heal me because so many nmen have treated ne a
certain way growi ng up, and then, of course, the rape.

So this, with him would be enpowering for me to
do.

| tried to steer the conversation away. | don't
remenber everything | said, but | just remenber how
unconfortable | felt.

He pul | ed out his phone, he showed ne a picture of
a nodel that he clains was one of his patients. It was
filtered, the image that he showed ne, nuch like the ones
that he has on his Instagram and --

Q Patient B, what was -- do you renenber what the
picture was of? Was it --

A It was a woman who was naked, she was in a
squatting position, and kind of |ooking back |ike that
(indicating), but she was naked and she was squatting
and, you know, that's the best way | can describe it.

Q Ckay. Thank you

A And he told ne that if | do this project, that
| could not tell ny husband. He said | -- he would give
me copi es of photos, because he said, "Wat wonman
woul dn't want to have professional nude photos to give to

their husband. But you cannot tell your husband who was
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t he photographer. You cannot tell himwhere it was

taken," and rem nded me of that quite a few tines.

And, you know, again, it was just a very -- you
know, | knew since | had seen himlast -- | nean, here he
was saying he wanted real wonan, and | knew that since | had
seen himlast, he did not know that | had |aser hair
removal , and sonehow t hat just popped in ny head as to kind
of, you know, | had |laser hair renoval down there anyway.

And he said, "Stand up. Let ne see."”

So, | stood up and the gown that was covering ny
wai st dropped, and | just stood there like this
(indicating). And he sat right there in the chair
(indicating), his little black chair, and he | ooked ny body
up and down. He |ooked right there at nmy vagina, but from
that view, and he said, "Perfect. Even nore perfect."

And the conversation went on, it went on about the
enmpower nent, and agai n about how | couldn't tell ny husband.
And, you know, | never repeated everything he was saying.

And then he told me that his other patients really
enjoy it, and they get very seductive when he tells themto
fuck the canera.

| renmenber at this point, he was not sitting. |
was sitting on the bed, he was standing right here
(indicating), and | renmenber himdoing the notions of fuck

the camera. You know, | really felt that his point was, you
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know, ot her wonen have done this, and this has been

empowering for them therefore, it should be enpowering for
you because you have been through so nuch.

Q Patient B, you said that part of -- he told you
that you can't tell your husband who the photographer is.
And | believe you may have answered this question, but
did he tell you who the photographer would be?

A He told ne that he was the photographer. He
told ne that he took the pictures of patients. He told
me he tells themto fuck the canmera, and he said they get
really intoit, whichis fine, if other patients want to
do it, but not for ne.

Q Did he offer you anything in exchange for
participating in this project?

A Yes. He did say, "The gig pays $1, 000."

Q What did you tell himabout -- how did you
respond to this offer?

A | just renenber responding in the way that |
respond when |I'm nervous and unconfortable, just kind of
trying to -- | didn't know what to do. | was naked. |
certainly didn't say yes. | just kept saying ha, ha, ha,
you know.

| just wanted it to be over, and the only way the
conversation finally ended -- and I would say this was a

fairly long conversation. The way it ended was he told ne
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1 totext himwith ny answer, but he made it very clear, he
2 said, "Do not text me with any details. Just say, yes, I'm
3 interested in doing the project, or, no, | amnot interested
4 in doing the project.”" And again made it very clear, do not
5 put any details in the text.
6 Q So when the conversation was through, did
7 Dr. Chanbers |eave the roonf
8 A The conversation was through after we agreed
9 that | would text himny answer. He left the room
10 Q And did -- so what happened then? Did you
11 dress?
12 A Then | got dressed, and | remenber |eaving --
13 wal king out of the room | saw Chanbers on ny right,
14 standing at the counter in the back of the nmedica
15 office. He was -- | would assunme he was making notes in
16 my chart. And it was a very friendly goodbye. | left.
17 And goi ng down the elevator and out to ny car,
18 knew exactly what happened. | knew what happened while the
19 conversation was going on. And there's so many things |
20 wish | would have done or said instead.
21 But it's a situation that's very hard to dea
22 wth, even for nyself, as a 35-year-old wonan at that tine,
23 knowing that it was inappropriate.
24 This was nmy doctor that | trusted. | nean, |
25 shared sone of the nost intimate details with him | talked
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1 to himabout ny sex life -- | answered questions abod?a%% e
2 sex life, nore like, but, you know, and just talking to him
3 about things that |'ve gone through as a child. | did. |
4 trusted himwith a lot.

5 Q Did you subsequently text himyour decision?

6 A Yes. | was so disturbed that, not only did I

7 call ny sisters and a couple good friends right after it

8 happened, | was in shock, | couldn't -- and it was

9 disappointing to ne too because | felt incredibly

10 betrayed and violated, and | did feel that, you know,

11 this was ny doctor of seven years.

12 Now not only did | have to find another doctor, |
13 -- who can | trust, there were a lot of feelings going

14 through ny head.

15 So, | saw nmy therapist, | and discussed it with
16 her. And, of course, we discussed, and she agreed, that it
17 was incredibly inappropriate. It was violating. It was --
18 and | while | was in the therapist's office, | sent himthe
19 text that | sent him while | was in her office.
20 And as | was |eaving and going back out to my car
21 is when | received his response.
22 Q And what did your text to himsay, if you can
23 renenber or paraphrase?
24 A Sonet hi ng about how doing -- | feel that doing
25 this project would be highly unethical and that |' m not
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interested and that | would be seeing anot her

gynecol ogi st.

Q And do you remember -- can you summarize his
response?

A He said sonething along the Iines that he
didn't feel that it crossed patient boundaries, and that
this is his only way that recruit nodels for his ads.
Sonet hing along the lines of that. And then he w shed
for continued good health and best w shes.

He said that he was worried that he would | ose
some patients over this.

Q Have you had ot her text discussions with
Dr. Chanbers since then or prior?

A Yeah. Prior, yes.

The reason | got that number from himwas because
there was an appointment -- | don't renenber if it was for
birth control or ny yearly Pap exam | don't remenber, but
it wasn't a sexual consultation

But in that appointnent, in response to questions
t hat he had asked, | was honest about having |ow |ibido, and
he prescri bed sone nedicine for ne.

And he did message ne -- or | don't renmenber if it
was that day or the next day, but just -- it only had to do
w th the medication. There was nothing inappropriate.

And then he messaged nme on anot her occasion before
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1 this last experience with himasking nme to vote for himfor

2 the top doctor awards, which | did, and this was before all

3 of that happened.

4 And then after -- after his |ast nessage to ne

5 where he said that he didn't think it was violating the

6 professional boundaries, | did receive a nessage shortly

7 after that when ny scans came back, and he told ne that he

8 received ny scans and he told nme the results of them and

9 asked me what | wanted himto do with them

10 And | responded, basically, just saying somnething

11 along the Iines of, I picked up ny scans, and |'mseeing a

12 different gynecol ogi st.

13 Q Thank you. Are you -- do you -- have you ever

14 et Dr. Chanbers's ex-w fe?

15 A |'ve never net Dr. Chanber's ex-wfe.

16 Q Thank you.

17 M5. MOONEYHAN:. | have no further questions.

18 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

19 Dr. Chanbers?

20 CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

21 BY DR CHAMBERS:

22 Q Good nmorning. You said | asked you to take

23 pictures for ny ad. Did | ask you or did you ask ne

24 about the ad yourself?

25 A Ch, you asked ne, and you know that. |[If there
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1 ever was such an ad.

2 Q You said | repeatedly asked you about sexual

3 issues, your childhood, and rape. Ws there a basis for
4 that?

5 A You didn't ask it -- in that particular exam
6 you were asking nme about ny orgasns, how strong they

7 were, favorite sex positions, were ny orgasns clitoral,
8 were they vaginal, but --

9 Q Wiy would | --

10 A -- prior to that, years back, yes, you did ask
11 ne about ny past, and | answered thinking that nmaybe this
12 was inportant for you to know because you were taking

13 care of such an intimte, you know, part of nme, | guess.
14 Q Wiy would I, just out of blue, ask you that?
15 Did you see nme or --

16 M5. MOONEYHAN: (ojection, Your Honor. Calls
17 for specul ation.

18 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Let him finish asking
19 the question.
20 BY DR CHAMBERS:
21 Q WAs there a reason why | asked that question?
22 A Wi ch question?
23 About you orgasns and --
24 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Dr. Chanbers,
25 1'mgoing to sustain the objection. It does call for
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specul ati on.

Unl ess Patient B knows the answer to that, it's
not specul ation.
DR CHAMBERS: Okay. |I'Il try it another way.
BY DR CHAMBERS:
Q Did you ever see me for a sexual health
consul tation?
A Never .
Q Never ?
A No. Was it brought up in exans? Yes. You
would bring it up.

And when you woul d ask nme, how about this, how

about that, | would respond honestly because | trusted you
and would tell you. | would give you answers to it.
And that's -- there was a creamthat was

prescribed to ne, for nmy sex life.
Q Wul d you please turn to section 7.
M5. MOONEYHAN: Patient B, there's the binder.
BY DR CHAMBERS:
Q There's a binder, section 7, NSBME 0105.
Section 7, page nunber 0105.
(Wtness conplied).

Q Can you read the date on that page?
A April (inaudible), 2015.
Q And what does the chief conplaint say?
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1 THE REPORTER. |'msorry, Ms. Wtness. | rage &>
2 didn't catch your answer.

3 THE WTNESS: April 27th, 2015.

4 THE REPORTER.  Thank you.

5 BY DR CHAMBERS

6 Q And what does the chief conplaint say?

7 A Vel l, you wote "sexual health,” but |I'm not

8 saying that wasn't discussed, but | never nade an

9 appointnent just for sexual health.

10 That doesn't nean that | -- that you hadn't run
11 sonme blood work or things |ike that.

12 Wy woul d | make an appoi ntment for sexual health?
13 Q Al right.

14 DR. CHAMBERS: Ms. Chusin, is it okay if | read
15 the history of present illness fromthis visit?

16 MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor, | just question the
17 rel evance.

18 DR CHAMBERS: The relevance is she has accused
19 me of sone salacious things. She's denied seeing nme for
20 sexual health consultation, and there's a note here that
21 clearly shows that.

22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  |'mgoing to allowit.
23 DR. CHAMBERS: Thank you. Ckay.

24 MS. MOONEYHAN: So just to clarify, he's going
25 toread this into the record? |Is that --
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. In fact,

Dr. Chanbers, why don't you have Patient B read to
hersel f, and then you could question her about that.
BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q You able to read it? M witing?

A Your handwiting is atrocious. No.

Ckay.

DR. CHAMBERS:. Do you have a copy of notion
where | objected to their identities being kept
confidential ?

M5. MOONEYHAN: | do not.

DR. CHAMBERS: Because that was submitted in
that notion, this entire paragraph. It was typed, and
she would be able to read it nore clearly.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ms. Mooneyhan --

THE WTNESS: | don't mnd --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. -- do you see a way
around this?

M5. MOONEYHAN: | can get a copy of the notion.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Let nme see if | have
it here.

M5. FUENTES: It should be in the pleadings
bi nder .

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Ckay.

THE W TNESS: Watever this is, |'mnot denying
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this. You would always talk to ne about mnmy sexua

health. You would talk to me about all those things.
And in response, | was honest with you.
BY DR CHAMBERS:
Q Vell, don't deny it. | want you to read it and
fully understand it to show the --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ckay. Hold on,
everyone.

Ckay, Patient B, you don't have to read it out
loud. Let's see if we could get this to work. Did you
al ready read the whole thing out |oud, Patient B?

THE WTNESS: Did | read what he wote?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yeah. Because we're
trying to keep it confidential.

DR. CHAMBERS: She read what she coul d
identify, but didn't read everything.

THE WTNESS: Um --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Hold on.

MR WH TE: She's trying to refresh her
recol l ection; right?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Ckay. And he's not
famliar, of course, wth the rules of evidence.

MR WH TE: Yeah.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, we're

having a little discussion about the purpose of your
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- _ . Page 28
guestioning, and are you just trying to refresh her

recol | ection?

DR CHAMBERS: Correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N. Okay. Let's see if we
could find it just so she can take a quick look at it,
and you can ask questions about it. Ckay?

DR CHAMBERS: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Okay. One nonent.

Dr. Chanmbers, do you specifically remenber
where we may find it?

DR. CHAMBERS. |'m actually |ooking right now.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

DR CHAMBERS: It was in the notion to -- the
notion that | wote to suppress maintaining their
confidentiality, as they were giving nedia interviews,
one of them wth their real first nane and last initial.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

M5. MOONEYHAN: WI I you state the date that
that was fil ed?

DR. CHAMBERS: It was the |ast one before
Ms. Ghusin rendered her deci sion.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: It's right here. [It's
27, page 3 of the case file pleadings. Tab 27, page 3.

|f we could put that in front of Patient B

MS. MOONEYHAN: We don't a copy of all the
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1 pleadings, but | believe Dr. Chanbers has a copy.

2 DR CHAMBERS: | can't find it.

3 MS. MOONEYHAN: Can we take a five-mnute

4 Dbreak, and | can access the docunent?

5 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Sound good. Thank

6 you.

7 (Recess from10:17 AM to 10:26 A M)

8 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Back on the record in
9 the matter of Dr. George Chanbers. W took a brief

10 Dbreak.

11 Ms. Mooneyhan?

12 M5. MOONEYHAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

13 | believe that Dr. Chanbers was referring to a
14 docunent that was filed in this matter on April 17th,

15 2023, that was titled "Reply to the IC s Qpposition to
16 Respondent's Mtion"

17 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Agr ee.

18 M5. MOONEYHAN: -- and the Investigative

19 Commttee's Mdotion to Protect Patient Likenesses.
20 | printed a copy, and Dr. Chanbers did | ook at
21 it. It does appear to be the docunent that he was
22 tal king about.
23 |'mgoing to hand it to Patient B, but | would
24 ask -- | would just like to nake it clear for the record
25 that Patient B -- | believe she can read this to herself
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2 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes.

3 M5. MOONEYHAN: -- not |oud, and we -- he can
4 ask her if it refreshes her recollection.

5 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | totally agree.

6 That's why -- the whol e purpose of this exercise.

7 BY DR CHAMBERS:

8 Q Pl ease | ook at page 3, line nunber 9, and read
9 that paragraph, please, to yourself.

10 A Page 3, nunber 9?

11 Q Yes. Line 9.

12 A | can read it.

13 Q Ckay. Is that what we di scussed?

14 A You know, it was a long tinme ago, but | can't
15 say there's not truth to this.

16 We woul d discuss a |ot of things about ny sexual
17 health, and | would answer honestly.

18 Q  Ckay.

19 A And | don't think there's anything wong with
20 that. | was your patient.

21 Q Ckay. Your nenory is very good a mnute ago,
22 but you're telling ne you don't renenber making these
23 statenments?

24 A [''mnot --

25 MS. MOONEYHAN:  Your Honor --
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1 THE WTNESS: -- | just said --

2 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: One at a tinme please.
3 THE WTNESS: -- there isn't any untruth to

4 this.

5 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Hold on,

6 please.

7 Ms. Mooneyhan, did you say sonething?

8 M5. MOONEYHAN: Yes. | believe that m sstates
9 the patient's testinony.

10 DR CHAMBERS: (kay.

11 BY DR CHAMBERS:

12 Q You had a vivid nenory about ten m nutes ago
13 but you're saying you cannot |ook at this statenent and
14 say that we had this discussion?

15 M5. MOONEYHAN: Sane obj ection, Your Honor.

16 She answer the question to the extent --

17 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ckay. I'mgoing to
18 sustain it.

19 l"mgoing to allow a little latitude. Patient
20 B seens willing to have this discussion. It's upto
21 Patient B.
22 Ms. Mooneyhan, | know you've tried to run
23 interference little bit.
24 Patient B, if you could just answer the
25 question. | know it sounds |like you have things to say.
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1 That's your personal choice. Ckay? rage 5z
2 Dr. Chanbers, | know you're not an attorney, do
3 the best you can with phrasing the question.

4 DR. CHAMBERS. (kay.

5 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And we'll try to get

6 through this, Ms. Moneyhan. ay?

7 BY DR CHAMBERS:

8 Q Does that | ook |ike an accurate assessnent of

9 what we had tal ked about ?

10 A It looks |like sonmething that | would have said,
11 because when | read it, it's the truth.

12 Q Ckay.

13 A | know that this is how!l feel. This is how
14 feel about ny sexual struggles.

15 Q  Okay.

16 A This is not -- there's -- | would have not not
17 said any of this, just like I"'msaying this now. So,

18 this is the truth | trusted you with

19 Q So, you said you didn't have a sexual health

20 consult, yet on that date, | reported an entire paragraph
21 full of those statenents.

22 You were diagnosed. | prescribed nedications,
23 which you subsequently took.

24 You tal k about the concept of m ndful ness,

25 self-esteem and acknow edgenent of your strong sense of
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1 sexuality. rage s9
2 Do you disagree with that?

3 A | agree that a wonman shoul d have a strong sense
4 of her sexuality and high self-esteem and you nade it

5 all worse.

6 Q Ckay. You did a -- you did a video interview
7 for a nmedia outlet, which I ran across on Ti kTok, and you
8 said sonething to the effect that other doctors would ask
9 about your |ibido, but that was not good enough for

10 Dr. Chanbers. Wat do you nean by that?

11 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Obj ection, Your Honor. This is
12 beyond the scope of what we're tal king about in this

13 proceedi ng.

14 W are were tal king about the treatnment this

15 patient received fromDr. Chanbers, not her alleged

16 participation in any nedia.

17 DR. CHAMBERS. Well, it goes to ability and

18 what we are discussing. She stated that other doctors

19 would not go into what was di scussed or wouldn't ask nore
20 details.

21 She saw ne for a sexual health consultation --
22 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Okay. I'mgoing to

23 sustain the objection. | will allow you to ask limted
24 question/answer w thout in-depth discussion about this.
25 kay?
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DR CHAMBERS: Can | rephrase the question?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N  Yes.

BY DR CHAMBERS:

Q Have you di scussed with anyone ny questioni ng
about your libido in a detailed fashion?

A What do you nean have | discussed it with
anyone?

Q Have you had a discussion with anybody about ne
aski ng about you about your [ibido?

A About how you woul d ask what ny favorite
posi tion was?

Q Correct.

A About you would ask if | preferred clitoral or
vagi nal orgasns?

Q Correct.

A Al of that?

Q Correct.

A Have | discussed that with anyone el se?
Absolutely. It's the truth

Q kay. So when you -- did you nake any attenpts

to say that | questioned you about your sexuality w thout

basi s?
A You would not wait until | asked a question.
You were just firing these questions -- | renenber how

awkward | felt sitting there, feeling like | had to
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1 answer these questions.

2 They were not just sinple questions, such as how s

3 your sex |life? How s your |ibido? They were very, very

4 detailed questions.

5 And, again, that -- at the end of the day, isn't

6 that why you wanted me to pose nude for you to enpower ne?

7 Q You' re maki ng assertions and you're making

8 specul ations.

9 On April 27th, 2015, when we tal ked about your
10 sexual health, what was the reason for me to go into your
11 sex life in details the way | did?

12 MS. MOONEYHAN:. (Cbjection, Your Honor. |
13 believe the patient as already answered this question,
14 repeatedly.
15 DR CHAMBERS: Your Honor, she's --
16 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Let's ask a yes or no
17 question and nove on
18 DR CHAMBERS: Ckay.
19 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN.  So I'mgoing to
20 overrule it.
21 And Patient B, go ahead and just answer yes or
22 no, and we can get on to the next question.
23 BY DR CHAMBERS:
24 Q Dd | have a reason to ask you those detailed
25 questions?
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1 A In that -- rage b
2 Q In reference to why you saw ne? Yes or no.
3 A | believe that you asked me those questions
4 Dbecause --
5 DR. CHAMBERS. Your Honor, wound you pl ease
6 advise her to answer yes or no --
7 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Ms. Mboneyhan - -
8 DR CHAMBERS. -- instead of specul ating.
9 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ms. Mboneyhan, do you
10 have anything to add?
11 M5. MOONEYHAN:  Well, Your Honor, she's trying
12 to answer his question, and --
13 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. | know. She is
14 expounding on it, and it is a tenuious situation because
15 Patient B has nore to offer.
16 M5. MOONEYHAN: And it wasn't a yes or no
17 question; he's asking her to speculate on his reason for
18 why he did sonething.
19 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, go ahead
20 and ask your question again, please.
21 BY DR CHAMBERS:
22 Q Did I have a reason to ask you nore about your
23 sexual preferences and your sex life and your |ibido on
24  April 27, 20157
25 A Did you? Wat was the reason?
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DR. CHAMBERS: Your Honor --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Patient B, that
IS a yes or no question.

THE WTNESS: | nean, | don't know what his
reason woul d have been.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Ckay.

DR CHAMBERS: (kay.

THE WTNESS: | nean, | could tell you what |
t hink his reason was.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  kay. Hold on. So
we're at a di sadvantage since he's not represented.

Ms. Mooneyhan, your witness wants to vol unteer
nore; correct?

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Well, --

DR CHAMBERS: Well, the problemhere is she
cannot publicly read that paragraph, and | amtrying ny
best to respect her privacy and pose a question, but
i nstead of answering, she's grandstanding and --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ckay. Let's not
characterize, Dr. Chanbers. GCkay?

DR. CHAMBERS: Yeah, but it seens |like that is
what she's doing, to ne.

And | understand |I'mwal king a very fine |line.
She's wonman. |'mnman. | cannot appear aggressive. |'m

wal king a very tight rope here.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Let's just nobve ahead,

Dr. Chanbers.

Ms. Mooneyhan, let's see what we can do noving
forward. And if Patient B, she seens unconfortable in
answering a question, you nake an objection.

Let's keep it within the scope of this hearing,
not what's out there, beyond the scope of this hearing.
Ckay?

DR CHAMBERS: (kay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: | think we're starting
to slob through right now.

So, Dr. Chanbers, you need to be able to put
your case on, and | want you to do that. Go ahead and
ask your question, and let's try to get through this.

DR CHAMBERS: Tell you what. This is going to
be an adversarial wtness, and | don't want to argue wth
her. 1t's going to become a he said/she said situation.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, you
coul d make your argunent |ater about this. This let's go
ahead and question Patient B.

DR. CHAMBERS. GCkay. So with that said, | have
no further questions for this wtness.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: At this point?

DR, CHAMBERS:. At this point.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: COkay. Are you --
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DR. CHAMBERS: But | would |ike her back on

June 1st, if necessary. |If that's okay wth,
Ms. Mooneyhan

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, |I'm
going to ask you if you're sure. You don't have any nore
questions?

DR CHAMBERS: |'mgoing to rest the questions
of her at this point, because it's becom ng argunentative
and, again, it's going into a he said/she said, and given
the tight rope | have to walk, | don't want to wal k that
rope today.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Ms. Mboneyhan?

MS. MOONEYHAN: May | ask questions on
redirect, Your Honor?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: O cour se.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY M5. MOONEYHAN:

Q Patient B, with respect to the record that the
respondent asked you to | ook at of a visit on April 27th,
2015, have you ever seen that record before today?

A No.

Q Did Dr. Chanbers ask you to read it and verify
at that time?

A At the tinme of ny appointnent, no.

Q Did you have any control about how he
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_ _. Page 40
characterized your visit?

A No control.
M5. MOONEYHAN: No further questions, Your
Honor .
DR CHAMBERS: |1'd like to redirect.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N You may.
RECRCSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY DR CHAMBERS:
Q Have you been to any physician's office where
they let your read the notes at the end of the visit?
A A couple. A couple notes, but I"'mnot sure if
t hose notes are their personal notes or -- do you nean

wth the diagnosis and --

Q Yes.

A Yes.

Q | have never seen that.
A | could list --

Q Nunber two, of all the visits that you had with
me, have you ever |ooked at any of the docunents |'ve
made about you at the end?

A No.

DR CHAMBERS: Thank you very nuch.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Just one nonent.
For clarification, Ms. Mooneyhan, as far as the

conplaint goes with respect to Patient B. 1t seens very
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NRS 630. 301, sub 7, engaging in conduct that
violates the trust of a patient -- and correct ne if |I'm
wong -- it's limted to the alleged solicitation of

phot ogr aphs for noney?
MS. MOONEYHAN: That's correct, Your Honor.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  And that's it for
Patient B?

M5. MOONEYHAN:  Correct.

Your Honor, | would point out that there's also
a charge -- Count VII also regards a continual failure to
practice nedicine properly, and Count VIII is regarding

engagi ng i n disreputabl e conduct, and those do
enconpass - -

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: A, B, and C

M5. MOONEYHAN: -- the counts alleged with al
three patients. So --

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ri ght.

M5. MOONEYHAN: -- Patient B is enconpassed in
t hat .

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

I n considering the scope of the question. Just
hang in there. | may ask a couple of questions.

| * m good.

Thank you very much for your time, Patient B.
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THE W TNESS: Thank you

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. And,

Ms. Mooneyhan, you heard Dr. Chanbers's request that she
be avail able for recall on June 1st; correct?

MS. MOONEYHAN: | did hear that, and | would
just like to -- if you would, you know, if we could nake
it clear to Dr. Chanbers that any rebuttal evidence needs
to rebut evidence that was presented today. No new
matters may be explored on June 1st with this patient.

DR CHAMBERS: That's correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Perfect. Thank you
al l.

You' re excused and have a good rest of your
day, Patient B.

THE WTNESS: Thank you. 1Is it okay if | just
add sonet hi ng?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N: Ms. Mboneyhan and
Dr. Chanbers --

Hol d on a second.

-- you may need a si debar.

In the context of what? You have nore to say?

THE W TNESS: Because --

MS. MOONEYHAN: |If you have any clarification
of the areas that we've explored today, what area do you

| ook expl ore?
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1 THE WTNESS: Well, it's because Dr. Charr‘lz;ggr](?s,43
2 | know wants ne to read this out |oud, and what this is
3 discussing is that -- is ny issues with having sex.

4 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Patient B, |'m going

5 to cut you off here, because if there are any ot her

6 questions and answers, that woul d be acceptable.

7 But just to have Patient B discuss the

8 situation or testify w thout any questions is not

9 appropriate.

10 MS. MOONEYHAN: Understood. Thank you.

11 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay.

12 Thank you, Patient B.

13 Al right. | know we just took a break. It's
14 a quarter to eleven, are we good to nove forward with the
15 next witness or would you Iike a break at this tinme?

16 M5. MOONEYHAN: |'mokay to continue. | defer
17 to M. Wiite, who will be questioning our next wtness.
18 MR WHTE I|I'mready to go.

19 (Sotto voce di scussion between Hearing

20 Oficer Giusin and Dr. Rafael.)

21 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  As di scussed before,
22 Dr. Rafael indicated that he may know ne, and | indicated
23 that | recognized his name, as | think expressed earlier
24 in this case, possibly because we live in Reno, possibly
25 because of nutual friends, and possibly because of ny
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2 And it is because of that. It was many years

3 ago.

4 And, Dr. Chanbers, you had indicated that you

5 are fine with that and that is divul ged?

6 DR. CHAMBERS: | am

7 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Do you waive -- |

8 don't believe there is any conflict, but do you waive any

9 potential conflict?

10 DR CHAMBERS: | do.

11 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Ckay. Thank you very

12 nmuch.

13 MR VWH TE: Thank you.

14 (The oath was adm ni stered.)

15 THE WTNESS: | do.

16 DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

17 BY MR VH TE:

18 Q Pl ease state your first and |ast nane and

19 spell --

20 A Ri chard Rafael, R A-F-A-E-L.

21 Q kay. |I'mjust going to ask you to let ne

22 finish ny question, and then you can answer. The court

23 reporter can only --

24 A. Yes, sSir.

25 Q -- take down one of us at tine. O take down
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1 one of our voices. Mke sense? rage 4
2 A Absol utely.
3 Thanks. Are you currently enpl oyed?
4 A | amcurrently enpl oyed, yes.
5 Q kay. What do you do?
6 A | ama -- | review charts for peer review for
7 the Nevada State Board of Medical Examners. | also
8 wvolunteer, for which I'mnot paid, at the Student
9 CQutreach dinic at UNR, so | teach nedical students.
10 Q |'mgoing to stop you there. What do you teach
11 then®
12 A | ama clinical professor of obstetrics and
13 gynecological. W see patients in clinical studies, so |
14 review their cases with them review the wite-ups.
15 Q Are you retired now al so?
16 A Yes, | amretired from 32 years of practice of
17 an OB- GYN.
18 Q Ckay. When did you retire?
19 A | retired in Decenber 31st, 2018.
20 Q | s that when you started working for UNR
21 Medical ?
22 A It was approximately six nmonths later, |
23 believe, | started working for them
24 Q And what was your profession when you had your
25 practice?
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A. | am a board-certified

obstetrician-gynecol ogist. |'ma nenber of ACOG
Anerican Col |l ege of Cbstetricians and Gynecol ogi sts. |
had my own private solo practice for the 32 years.
Previous to that, | did ny residency in New Engl and, at
Mount Sinai Hospital in Hartford, Connecticut.

Q Are you licensed in Nevada?

A. Yes, sSir.

Q How | ong have been licensed in Nevada?

A | was |icensed from 1986 until 2018, which I

believe is 32 years.
Q Are you still currently |icensed?
A. Yes, sSir.

Q kay. So you didn't let your license go in

A No, sir.

Q Ckay. You just nentioned that you're certified
al so by the American Board of -- and that's the Anmerican
Board of Cbstetrics and Gynecol ogi cal ?

Yes, sir.
kay. |Is that what we also refer to as ABOG?
Correct.

o > O »F

What is the difference between ABOG and ACOG
which is the Anerican Coll ege?

A Correct. They changed their name. But the
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Anmerican College is the probably prem ere congress of

obstetricians and gynecol ogi sts and principally used for
teaching and up-to-date infornmation
Q Ckay. Is it fair to say that is the

prestigi ous professional association?

A Yes.

Q And it contains nmenbers?

A Yes, Sir.

Q So ACOG -- are you a nmenber of ACOG?
A Yes, sir.

Q Ckay. Now, do you have other inportant
certifications or qualifications related to practice of
gynecol ogi cal ?

A Vell, you if you reviewny CV, you'll see that
| have approximately 190 various courses that |'ve taken.

Q W will get to that. Are you a fellow?

A Yes, I'"'ma fellowin the Arerican Congress of
Cbstetricians and Gynecol ogi sts.

Q Prior to your retirenent, describe your
practice.

A | initiated ny practice in 1986. | did
obstetrics and gynecological. | was part of the
community here in Reno.

| delivered babies both at St. Mary's and at

Washoe, and did major and mnor surgeries at both St. Mry's
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1 and Washoe, which becane Renown. rage 48
2 During that time, | was the president of Washoe

3 County Medical Society, and served in a nunber of aspects

4 wth the Washoe County Medi cal Society.

5 | also sat on the board of HAWC, which becane the
6 Comunity Health Alliance, in various commttees on HAWC

7 Q Just for clarification, HAWC is H A-WC?

8 A Yes. Correct.

9 Q Ckay.

10 A Heal t h Access Washoe County, federally funded

11 and, it's mssion is to serve underserved patients in the
12 area.

13 Q How | ong did you work w th HAWC?

14 A Good question. 1'd have to check that, but I'm
15 sure it was for a nunber of years. | started their main

16 charity and that continues throughout today.

17 Q Did you work with other OB-GYNs, and in what

18 aspect?

19 A Well, | would say the obstetrics and

20 gynecol ogi cal comunity, it's a very collegial comunity.
21 So, during those 32 years, you have call groups,
22 sone were |large, sone were snall, sone would change. So we
23 woul d see each other at neetings, college neetings. W

24 would review charts. | had good, collegial acquaintances.
25 | valued ny fellow OB-GYNs. We hel ped each ot her.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS, VOLUME Il - 05/03/2023

© 00 N oo o1~ w NP

N N NN NN PR PR PR R R PR,k
g A W N P O © © N o o ~ wWw N P O

) , Page 49
When | started, if soneone cane in | abor and

delivery, each one of us was on call every night, we would
do deliveries without pay. That was part of our conmunity
duty.

So all inall, I valued ny relationship with ny
fellow OB-GYNs. W had a good naternal fetal nedicine
specialists. W had wonderful, fantastic GYN oncol ogi sts.
We had terrific reproductive endocrinol ogists, so we all
work cl osely together, help each other out. If you're
wal ki ng down the halls in |abor and delivery, you would do
that for free, which would be not charged, we were there to
take care of patients to the best of our abilities.

Q Did you have -- you were in a group -- or you

said a "call group,” let ne specify.
Were you part of a group or did you have a solo

practice?

A | had a solo practice. | started my practice
solo, and | ended ny practice solo.

Q And how did you become -- describe to us what a
call group is and how did you becone a part of it?

A Vell, for exanple, the first call you m ght
have with two other OB-GYNs, and we had simlar
practices, we would deliver approximately 15 to 20

patients.

Cobvi ously, you need sone tine off or you need to
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go out of town to a neeting, so we would share weekend

calls. | would be on one weekend; the other two woul d be on
ot her weekends. W would call each other for C sections or
GYN assi st ance.
Q How di d you becone a nenber of the call group?
A | think it's just you are obviously attracted
to other people that have simlar practices, and over
time, some people would retire, so you would pick up new
individuals. O soneone would retire fromobstetrics,
so, you know, generally people you enjoyed working with
and had sim|lar philosophies.
Q Was there some trust involved too?
A Absol ut el y.
Q Can you briefly describe what a typical work
week m ght | ook |ike when you were practicing?
A Ckay. | would probably be up at six o' clock,
you know, and at seven o'clock, do rounds.
Oten Mondays and Tuesdays are general surgery, so
you woul d book surgery, say, at 7:30.
Prior to that, you would do a thorough history and
physical, that would be dictated to the hospital.
You woul d neet your patient in preop, go over any
questions they had, confirmed informed consent, identify the
surgery, see if there there's anything that has changed

since the time you had seen them | ast.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS, VOLUME Il - 05/03/2023

Page 51

1 You take the patient into surgery, performthe

2 surgery, take the chart, dictate the chart, check with them
3 in post-op care.

4 Then if you had a second surgery or third surgery,
5 that would generally follow. |If not, you would be over at

6 the office seeing schedul ed patients. And those patients

7 coul d be obstetrics.

8 On a real busy day, you m ght see 30 obstetrics
9 patients. That's a big day -- was a big day for nme. You
10 woul d see cases for GYN, gynecol ogy surgery, sonme annual s.
11 And ny practice, it included adol escence, |adies

12 in their mdlife, pre-nenopausal, post-nmenopausal, and
13 elderly patients.
14 | accepted TRICARE, | accepted all governmnent
15 insurances, | accepted Medicaid, as well as private
16 insurances.
17 Q Thank you. Do you keep up to date with all the
18 materials out there regarding obstetrics and gynecol ogy?
19 A Yes, | do. | find retirement pretty boring.
20 My usual day is to get up at 6:30 or 7:00, have
21 Dbreakfast, and this has afforded ne a great tine to read.
22 So, when you're practicing all the time, it's
23 difficult to keep up with literature. So | enjoy reading.
24 When you' re doing a peer review, you're also
25 learning in --
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Q Where do you get your information fron Is it

ACOG mai nl y?

A Mstly it's ACOG

Q Ol i ne?

A Online. Yeah. Plus they have the G een
Journal. So, ACOG clinical prologue, I do the prologue,
whi ch is a book, maybe, 180 questions. They have
clinical questions, and it covers obstetrics, gynecol ogy,
endocrinology. |'ve done all the prologues for them
| m doing one in obstetrics in order to teach students at
UNR Medi cal School .

| have to keep up with famly practice issues, and
an obstetrician gynecologist is a famly practitioner, in a
sense, for wonen, so we're reading about thyroid disease,
hypertensi on, diabetes.

Q Ckay. Prologue, I"'mnot famliar with that.
Do you read about sonething and then take an exam t hat
tests you on clinical issues?

A Correct. You do, and it's generally worth
about 25 CMEs.

So, they'll have a scenario, a clinical scenario,
you know, hornonal replacenent therapy, you will read the
case history, then will have five choices, you nake the
choi ce.

And it can be an open book test or closed book,
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what ever you prefer, and then that is sent in for CMVE

credit.

Q And you sai d about 257

A Twenty-five, yeah. About 180 questions.

Q |'d like you to take a | ook at what's been
mar ked as Exhibit 16, please.

A (Wtness conplied).

Q Are you famliar wth what Exhibit 16
represents?

A Yes. This is nmy CV.

Q You' ve seen it?

A Yes, sSir.

Q And are you the one who sent us this?

A Yes, | did.

Q To the IC?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Now, you had -- is this a true and

correct copy of your CV that you provided to the Board?
A Let me take a | ook.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Counsel, | mght be in
the wong place. Exhibit 167?
MR WH TE: Oh, unfortunately, we don't have
letters for Dr. Chanbers' part of the binder. So it's
the first nunber 16 that we have.

M5. FUENTES: Yeah. \Were the blue slip is,
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1 that goes into the respondent's. Unfortunately, | 5?%%'?4
2 have exhibits tabs that were A, B, and C

3 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: That's okay. Thank

4 you.

5 THE WTNESS: This is not conplete, and | did
6 wupdate this with a nunber of nore CVEs, which | did send.
7 BY MR WH TE

8 Q kay. |I'mgoing to | show you what you've sent
9 in.

10 A Correct. So thereis -- in addition -- this
11 stops at 185, and there's an addition of 186 through 192,
12 if | my --

13 Q And the other stuff hasn't changed as far as
14 awards?

15 A |'msorry, sir?

16 Q The awards has not changed -- right? -- those
17 are the sane.

18 A Vell, there's one nore addition to that.

19 Q  Okay.
20 A And | don't think it's in there. Do you want
21 nme to tell you about it?
22 Q Sure. What is your extra award that you
23 received?
24 A So, in three days, I'"'mgoing to be honored as
25 outstanding clinical community physician for the
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1 University of Nevada, Reno. rage S
2 Q Congrat ul ati ons.

3 A And if | can say two things about this?

4 Q What |'ve handed you?

5 A Yes, sir.

6 Q Let me ask a question first. So, you said it
7 extends from 1857

8 A Correct.

9 Q VWhich was where it ended before. And now we
10 have -- it goes up to 192; is that correct?

11 A. Yes, sSir.

12 Q Ckay. \What el se changed, possibly, that you
13 may able to help us with?

14 A Vell, | think it's interesting to note that |
15 recently have taken nedical ethics for physicians,

16 wupdated that, sexual assault through Med CE, sexual

17 harassment prevention, California | aw

18 Q This is the last page | handed you?

19 A It's actually -- this page? Yes. Yes. That's
20 a confirmation that those were taken.

21 Q Ckay.

22 M5. MOONEYHAN: | hate to interrupt, Your

23 Honor, but | wanted to note for the record, | want it to
24 reflect that | handed Dr. Chanbers those additional

25 pages.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you,

Ms. Mboneyhan.

DR. CHAMBERS:. Thank you

MR. WH TE: Thank you, Ms. Mboneyhan.

Dr. Chanbers, have you had a nonment to review
t hose?

DR. CHAMBERS:. | have.

MR. VWH TE: Thank you.

|'mgoing to nove to admt Exhibit 16,
I ncl udi ng the addendum that we just received a few days
ago.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Dr. Chanbers, any
obj ection?

DR CHAMBERS: | have none.

MR. WHI TE: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Exhibit -- ICs
Exhibit 16, with the additional three pages -- three
pages addendumw || be admitted into evidence.

(I1Cs Exhibit 16 was admtted.)
BY MR VH TE:

Q Dr. Rafael, | think you already kind of went
over your education, and underneath the headi ng "Summary
of Experience,"” also I'd like to highlight -- did you
say -- did you nention you were chief resident in

resi dency?
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A | don't believe we have gone over ny education.

Q Okay. Let's do that a little bit.

Why don't you explain to us about -- where did you
go to nedi cal school ?

A | went to St. George's University School of
Medi ci ne.

Q And then where did you do your residency?

A | did ny residency at the Munt Sinai Hospital
in Hartford, Connecticut.

Q And for that entire time, you weren't chief
resident, but you did becone chief resident at one point,
did you?

A That last six nmonths | did. Yep, it would have
been the last six nonths fromJune to Decenber of --
can't remenber what year -- '86, | think it is.

Q Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Let me just interject
as far as what year. A quick correction here. Your
eduction here, 1892 to 19867

THE WTNESS: Typo. 1982. | think I corrected
that and sent another copy, so | think you' ve got the old
copy.

BY MR VH TE:
Q So do |

When you becane chief resident, did you take that
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as a pretty high honor and take it seriously?

A Absol ut el y.

Q Now, you al so have listed here that you're a
menmber of ProAssurance Indemity Co. clainms underwiting
conmttee. Describe alittle bit what that entails.

A Just as a little background, in Nevada, we were
undergoing a medi cal nalpractice crisis, and at that
time, I was working with the Washoe County Medica
Society, | believe in 2000, 2001.

And everyone was |eaving the state. Al nedica
mal practice conpanies were leaving the state. And | recal
we had a meeting with Saint Paul's and they prom sed, we
will never |eave you, and two nonths later, they were gone.

So the nedical state insurance cane to M. Bob
Berg, who had a nedical nal practice conpany, Nevada Medica
Liability, and they asked himif he could create a Nevada
liability conpany, which was called MLN. So, | became -- he
asked ne to join the board.

And subsequently, that conpany grew -- | was not
reimbursed for this, it was purely voluntary.

Q Let me stop up you for a second. What did you

do there?
A | was on the board and just offered opinions as
far as need. | wasn't particularly involved in any

mar keting. But they woul d ask, what do physicians in
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Nevada need in order to stay in Nevada?

So, the idea was to keep physicians in Nevada, not
| eave because of |ack of nedical malpractice, starting,
actually, in Las Vegas when the trauma surgeons refused to
see patients that were in nmotor vehicle accidents because
the cost of nedical mal practice was so high

So the conpany grew and ki nd of became the main
medi cal mal practice for the State of Nevada. And we were at
a certain point where we either had to be sold or we needed
to grow.

So we were approached by M. Berg from
ProAssurance, and ProAssurance bought the conpany.

They then asked nme to stay on a commttee, which
met quarterly in Las Vegas, still the underwiting
conmttee, and we revi ewed mal practi ce cases.

It was a fabulous commttee. Fabul ous doctors
fromLas Vegas. Topnotch doctors fromthe north.

W would fly out on a quarterly basis, day in day
out. In other words, flewin and out that night.

We woul d review six to eight nalpractice cases.
Initially, it started froml ooking at Nevada cases, but it
grew to reviewi ng mal practice cases fromthe Wst Coast and
the western states.

Then in June of 2020, that indemity clains

understood witing commttee was di shanded.
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So | had been with themfor seven years, and

probably reviewed, conservatively, 165 to 200 cases.

Q Thank you. You have a |ist here of continuing
medi cal education, CVEs, it looks |ike they go back to
1984.

Is this a fair and accurate depiction of what
you' ve done for CMES over the year?

A Yes, it's a fairly thorough CME

As you can see, | took courses at Boston
Uni versity, Johns Hopkins, Chicago, Mayo, University of
California, which is a common thing for obstetricians and
gynecol ogi st s.

Q Are there any that stand out to you that you
want to tal k about?

A | recall that a conference at the University of
Chicago with reconstructive gynecol ogi cal pelvic surgery.
Al so top nanes, Brewbaker, Delancey; Dr Chanbers woul d be
aware of all these people.

And there's a fabul ous course every year in Las
Vegas cal | ed PAGS, pelvic gynecol ogical anatonmy -- pelvic
and gynecol ogi cal, and that was started by ny chief, a
gentl eman by the name of M ckey Baggi sh, who subsequently
went to SUNY Upstate, and he nay actually had been the chief
at SUNY Upstate when Dr. Chanbers was up there.

DR CHAMBERS: He had left when | arrived.
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THE W TNESS: Fabul ous man

DR CHAMBERS: Yes, he was.
BY MR VH TE:

Q So in nedical school, as you're going through
and you' ve decided your specialty was going to be OB- GYN,
do you learn certain surgeries there that you nust keep
up with in CVES?

A Vel |, when you're going -- the first two years
of nmedi cal school is general theoretical. The third and
fourth years of medical school is nore clinical.

So, during the third and fourth year, you really
get an idea, are you a medical personality or surgica
personality?

| was attracted to obstetrics and gynecol ogy
because | enjoyed famly practice, and you are a famly
practitioner for |adies, but | also enjoyed doing surgery,
so there's limted surgery in a sense.

So it was really the conbination of those two
things that appealed to me, plus endocrinology, infertility,
and, you know, what's better than delivering a heal thy baby?
That gets nme charged.

Q In your practice -- I'mgoing to kind of nove
away fromyour CV now.

I n your practice, did patients ever ask you

questions related to their sexual health?
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1 A Yes, sir.
2 Q Okay. \Wat would you typically do if a patient
3 conpl ai ned about, say, decreased |ibido?
4 A Vell, I would take a thorough history and
5 physical. | would ask her what nedicati ons she was
6 taking because nedications will affect the |ibido. |
7 woul d ask her about her relationship with her husband,
8 because decreased libido is a very conplex situation
9 Human sexual ity was pronoted -- | think the first
10 researchers were Masters and Johnson into human sexuality in
11 the 1960s. So they tal ked about a continuumat that tineg,
12 but subsequently, it's becone even nore conpl ex.
13 So, things that affect human sexuality, certainly
14 your relationship with your spouse, physiologically,
15 infectious problens, and neurol ogi cal problens, psychiatric
16 problens, in an elderly | ady, hornonal replacenent therapy.
17 So, it's a very conplex, interrelated situation
18 Q So, very much on a case-by-case basis, is that
19 fair to say?
20 A Yes, | would say that's a true statenent.
21 Q So if | were to ask you what would be a proper
22 treatnent, in your opinion, for decreased |ibido, that
23 coul d be anything based on the patient?
24 A Vel |, once again, | would do a thorough history
25 and physical.
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So, if this lady was elderly, she may be

post - nenopausal . W woul d have a di scussi on of hornonal
repl acenent therapy, whether or not she had her uterus or no
uterus.

|f one has a uterus and you wanted to place her on
hormonal repl acenent therapy, you could do it orally,
transdermal |y by avail abl e hornmones, rings, patches. |[If one
has a uterus, you nust -- you should use both estrogen and
progest erone.

The Wonen's Health Initiative, which I believe was
in 2001, was a study that cane out. In those days,
principally Premarin, which was an equi ne estrogen, was
used.

Subsequently, we've |learned that Estradiol is
probably a better estrogen to use. Mcronized progesterone
is probably better to use than hydroxyprogesterone.

So a wth woman with a uterus, you woul d use
estrogen and progesterone, and a woman W thout a uterus, you
woul d use estrogen al one, and again, | can tell you various
formns.

Wth the Wnen's Health Initiative, originally and
previous to that, we thought that it was -- hornones were
beneficial in a cardiac situation.

And subsequent to that study, it was suggested no.

There have been changes as those studies have been | ooked
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at. Some people would consider a short dose of testosterone

for |ibido.

Again, it's age related. Usually if you initiate
hornonal replacement therapy at age 50 -- | feel very
confortable treating from50 to 55 -- you discuss the risk
benefits of hornone replacenent. It would increase risk
whi ch include potential increase in breast cancer, potential
deepeni ng thronbosis, and that depends on what type of
hor mone you' re doing and how you're giving it also.

We woul d tal k about her relationship with her
partner. |If she's on any particular nedications that woul d
be deleterious to the libido, we would try to get her off
t hose nedi cati ons.

|f she had |ichen sclerosus et atrophicus or a
vagi nal infection, we would treat the vaginal infection and
appropriately treat whatever secondary nedical problens,
neurol ogi cal problens, refer her for psychol ogy or
psychiatry, and tal k about things, such as her sexual
desire, her fantasies, her -- if those have changed, and
there's a chart that you check off those various things. |If
she has any body dysnorphic probl ens.

So it's a very conplex eval uation

Q Is it fair to say that sexual health, as it's
been sonewhat defined, is not a new field?

A No. It goes back 2,000 years.
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1 Q You had mentioned partner's spouses. |If a

2 patient cane in and started asking questions or telling
3 you about decreased |ibido or other sexual health issues,
4 would you ask themif they wanted to have their partner
5 at the appointnment?

6 A Partners are always wel cone at an appoi nt nment.
7 Q Al ways wel conme?

8 A Al ways wel cone.

9 Q Do you feel that having a specialty of sone
10 sort in sexual health, if it can be defined that way,

11 does that require any kind of certification?

12 A Well, it's interesting because the Anerican
13 College of Cbstetrics and Gynecol ogy does not have a

14 specialty in sexual health.

15 Q Okay. Do you feel it be sufficient to attend
16 some two-day courses to get sone CMES and now you're

17 certified in that?

18 A The American Board of Specialties Societies
19 also has no special specialized certification.
20 So, | think if you do this surgery, yes, it's
21 inportant to attend courses, conferences in order to
22 increase your skill with that -- those particular surgeries.
23 Q VWi ch particular surgeries are you referring
24 to0?
25 A Vell, | think we went through this case, it
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woul d be | abi aplasty, clitoral reduction, clitoral hood

reduction, vagi nopl asty.

DR CHAMBERS: Ms. Ghusin?

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes, Dr. Chanbers.

DR CHAMBERS: | don't really want to offer an
obj ection, but he's not answering the question that was
asked.

He's -- the question was about sexual health.
He's answering cosnetic gynecol ogi c surgery questions.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: M. Wite?

MR VWHTE Oay. |'ll rephrase.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N.  Thank you.

BY MR VWH TE:

Q s there a -- | think your answered that, but
let's just clarify it for the record, is there a specific
speci alty recogni zed by the American Board of Medica
Specialties called sexual health?

A The only -- no.

Q Ckay.

A No. Can | say sonmething? |If you're going to
be a sexual therapist, it's usually a two-years naster's
degree at various universities.

Q Wuld you -- in your practice, did you ever
refer soneone to a sexual therapist because you felt it

was out si de your scope?
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1 A Yes. rage of
2 Q | " mgoing to ask you a question about fenale

3 genital plastic surgery, |abiaplasty, vaginoplasty. |Is

4 that sonething that can be done by a gynecol ogi st, or

5 would it be sonething that would be nore suited to

6 soneone's who's got -- their specialty is plastic

7 surgery?

8 A Vell, | think, certainly, a gynecol ogist or

9 OB-GYN or reconstructive surgeon or a urogynecol ogi st can
10 absolutely do these things if they' re appropriately

11 trained.

12 Q Let's talk a little bit about how you nmarketed

13 your practice. How did you do that?

14 A Vell, | didn't -- my practice was narket ed,

15 principally, by word of nouth.

16 My phil osophy was the needs of a patient come

17 first. If | take good care of the patient, one patient wll
18 talk to eight other patients, and that would pronote ny

19 practice.

20 | did have a website after a nunber years. Mstly
21 that website stated ny phil osophy, ny training, and what

22 services | offered.

23 Q D d you ever have any nodels in there?

24 A No, sir.

25 Q D d you ever put ads on bat hroom doors?
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1 A No, sir. rage o8

2 Q | do want to tal k about chaperons for a nonent.

3 Did you have chaperons?

4 A Yes.

5 Q How many did you have?

6 A | woul d have one chaperone in the room \en

7 began ny practice, the Amrerican College had kind of an

8 opt-in, opt-out situation. In other words, they

9 recomended that a chaperone be present.

10 As time went on, they then said, we think you --

11 we believe you should have a chaperon in the roomat al

12 times when you're doing a physical exam Not necessarily

13 during the history. You're taking part -- you took their

14 history in the room But their reconmendati on was to have a

15 chaperon all the tine in the roomat the bedside.

16 Q Let me stop you for one nonent. | mght have

17 mssed it. You said "they recomended,” who was that?

18 A That woul d be the American Col | ege of

19 ostetrics and Gynecol ogy.

20 Q ACOG.  And you just nentioned you had a

21 chaperon?

22 A Yes, sir.

23 Q Were there any times when you did not have a

24 chaperon?

25 A Well, | had three people in ny office: front
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1 desk, nedical assistant, and an insurance person.

2 There are tinmes where, say, someone was sick or

3 becane ill and went out, so if that situation occurred, |

4 would ask a patient -- and | would pick ny patients. |If

5 it's ayoung patient, if it's sonmebody in their 80s, | m ght

6 not have a chaperon in the room But only after | said,

7 "l'msorry, but ny assistant has gone home ill, it is

8 acceptable to you not to have sonmeone? And we can al so

9 always rescheduled this visit if you feel unconfortable in

10 any way."

11 Q |f they were okay with no chaperon present, was

12 it documented?

13 A Yes. And sone people -- | recall a lady who

14 was a |eshian, and she did not wish a female in the room

15 So | would have her sign an informed declination that she

16 did not wish to have a chaperone in the room

17 Q | want you to take a | ook at what's, just at

18 this point, been narked as Exhibit 11.

19 A (Wtness conplied).

20 Q Are you -- what is that we're | ooking at?

21 A This is an ACOG Conmi ttee Opinion, Number 373,

22 August 2007, Conmittee on Ethics and Sexual M sconduct.

23 Q Actual ly, does it replace sonething that was

24 done in August of 2007?

25 A Oh, excuse ne. You're correct. |t does say
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1 "replaces the Commttee Qpinion of 2007." This is rage 10
2 January of 2020.

3 Q Ckay. | see at the bottom|left-hand side of
4 page 3. GCkay. Have you seen this before?

) A Yes.

6 Q Is this sonething -- this opinion, did you rely
7 on this when you were reviewing this matter?

8 A Yes. This was part of ny bibliography in ny
9 peer review.

10 Q And is this a fair and accurate depiction of
11 what you sent to the Board?

12 A Yes.

13 Q O what you used to review the case?

14 A Yes.

15 MR VWHTE |'d nove to admt Exhibit 11.

16 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?

17 DR. CHAMBERS. | have no probl ens.

18 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: I C s Exhibit 11 is

19 admtted into evidence.

20 (1Cs Exhibit 11 was adm tted.)

21 BY MR VH TE:

22 Q |'d |ike you to take a | ook at page 160.

23 A Um hum

24 Q | f you | ook at the top-right paragraph. | do
25 want you to start where it says "exceptions being nmade, "
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1 and just read that to yourself. 1'll ask you questionzage &
2 when you're done.

3 A (Wtness review ng docunent).

4 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers, you have

5 this exhibit in front of you?

6 DR. CHAMBERS: | do. | have ny own copy of it

7 and the one in the book, yes.

8 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

9 THE W TNESS:  Yes.

10 BY MR WH TE:

11 Q Thank you.

12 Does that kind of sumup what we tal ked about? |If
13 sonebody doesn't want a chaperon, sonmebody needs to document
14 it, and they need to sign sonething?

15 A Correct. | believe that's an accurate

16 accounting.

17 Q Ckay. Thank you.

18 | also want you to take a | ook at the box on page
19 158?

20 A There are two boxes there.

21 Q Yeah. The one on the top left.

22 A Um hum

23 Q Wul d you read "sexual inpropriety” to

24 yourself.

25 A Yes.
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1 Q Now, you have reviewed all three matters, a

2 three cases for Patients A B, and C?

3 A Correct, | did.

4 Q |"mgoing to ask you again |ater, but as you

5 sit here now with what you renenber, do you feel -- it is

6 your opinion fromwhat you saw -- we're going to go

7 through taking the pictures, we're going to go through

8 Patient A's, their treatnent during the visit.

9 Do you feel, in your opinion, that there was

10 sexuality inpropriety in all three matters?

11 A I n ny professional opinion to reasonabl e degree

12 of medical certainty, | do feel that there was

13 inpropriety --

14 Q And we'll go through it all. | just wanted to

15 get that --

16 A -- in those three cases.

17 Q Is this -- again, this comes from ACOG so is

18 this sonmething that just about every OB-GYN in the United

19 States is going to adhere to?

20 A | don't understand your question.

21 Q |s this -- does this opinion -- along with the

22 other opinions that we're going to get to, does this

23 opinion fromACOG does this set the rules that you

24 shoul d abide by as an OB- GYN?

25 A | would say this would be accepted and is
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1 standard of care regarding this subject.

2 Q |'d like you to turn to Exhibit 12.

3 A (Wtness conplied).

4 Q What is that?

5 A This is an ACOG Practice Bulletin regarding
6 pelvic organ prol apse, put out by the American Col |l ege of
7 (Obstetrics and Gynecol ogi sts, dated Novenber of 2019.

8 Q Sane question as before, is this sonmething you
9 relied on when doing your review of this case?
10 A Yes, it was.
11 Q And does it appear to be a fair and accurate
12 representation of what you | ooked at when you were
13 reviewing this case?

14 A Yes, it is.

15 MR VWHTE |'d nove to admt Exhibit 12.

16 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN:  Dr. Chanbers?

17 DR. CHAMBERS. | have no objections.

18 THE HEARING OFFICER: I C s exhibit 12 is

19 admtted into evidence.
20 (1Cs Exhibit 12 was adm tted.)
21 BY MR VH TE:
22 Q Ckay. |I'mgoing to ask you to take a | ook at
23 what's marked and admtted as Exhibit 3.
24 A Exhibit 3?
25 Q Thr ee.
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Yes, sir.

Ckay. Have you seen these records before?

> O >

Yes, | have.

Q Wt hout saying the patient's nanme, do you
remenber what patient this is for?

A This is Patient A

Q Did you review these records as part of your
review of this nmatter?

A Yes, | did.

Q Do you recall what your review of those record
showed regarding Patient A's interaction with
Dr. Chanbers?

A Well, first 1'd like to state that this is a
t horough history and physical performed by Dr. Chanbers.

Do you wish ne to sunmarize this? 1Is that your
questi on.

Q "Il stop you and ask you questions, but if you
coul d just answer that one.

A Okay. Well, fundanmentally, Patient Ais a
36-year-old, married, white femal e whose | ast nenstrual
period was two weeks prior to seeing Dr. Chanbers.

Her chief conplaint was pain, dyspareunia, and she
noted that 12 years prior to seeing Dr. Chanbers, she had a
third-degree perineal laceration during the delivery of her

first baby, which it stated was ei ght pounds, and anot her

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS, VOLUME Il - 05/03/2023

© o0 ~N o o B~ O w NP

N D RN N NN PR R R R R R R R R
g A W N P O © 0O N O O N~ w N kB O

_ . . Page 75
was seven pounds, eight ounces, but, certainly, eight pounds

is alarge infant.

She cane in with a two-page questionnaire, she
gave it to Dr. Chanbers. She had noted she had seen three
previous physicians, | think, Dr. Parker, Dr. WIson, and
Dr. Mchelle Lew s.

Dr. Lewis was her OB-GYN, and she referred Patient
A to Dr. Chanbers because he was nore specialized in this
particular surgery than Dr. Lew s was.

Q Let me stop you. Sone of the things she
conpl ai ned about were disconfort wearing tight clothes?

A Correct.

Q Perineal pain?

A Correct.

Q Okay. \Wat do some of -- in |ooking at those
records, what does those indicate to you?

A Perineal pain is nost |ikely secondary to her
traumatic delivery. So she probably has sone scar
tissue, which also makes sexual intercourse painful.

What was the first part of your question?

Q What does -- also disconfort fromwearing tight
cl ot hes?

A Yes. That woul d speak to the |abial situation.
In other words, with extended [abia -- or enlarged,

Dr. Chanbers, | believe, noted hypertrophy vulva, and I
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what he's suggesting is that the labia are a little bit

enl arged, and therefore one of his recomendations was to
do a | abi apl asty.

She said that she was unconfortable and didn't
wear pants, didn't wear a thong, she had to buy underwear
that was two sizes too big, and she also had -- she was
unconfortable in a bathing suit, so she would buy a bathing
suit that was two sizes to |arge.

Q Now, have you done | abi aplasty in your career?
A Yes, | have.

Q How many, do you think?

A Very few, actually, | did no |abiaplasties in
ny residency. | had two cases wth people who wanted it.
The first case, | referred to ny one of ny

col | eagues, who was a big fan of Red Alisod, she had taken
many of his courses. W did that together.
The second one, she assisted. W did a
| abi apl asty in which the patient was satisfied.
But | did not have | abiaplasty -- not too many
peopl e thought -- cane to nme for that who w shed that.
Q When you did the few you did, did you do them
for cosmetic purposes or for other reasons?
A No. They were because patients had abnorm
synptons. So, it wasn't for cosnesis; it was for

functi onal reason.
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Q Did you ever do a | abiaplasty for, say, an

athl ete or sonebody |ike that who needed it?

A No. There were a few that | thought that could
benefit fromit, but they weren't interested.

Q Wuld a -- would a | abiaplasty that is --
providing it is giving a patient disconfort, if you do a
| abi apl asty, can you ease sone of that disconfort?

A Yes.

Q |f painis involved ina-- if painis their
reason to do a | abiaplasty surgery, if you know t he
answer to this question, would that nore than likely be
covered by insurance?

A Yes, it woul d.

Q Okay. \What about cosnetic | abiapl asty?

A | don't think I'maqualified to answer that.
don't know.

Q Are there any other things fromreading this,
Patient A s records, that you woul d have done for her
ot her than | abi apl asty possibly?

A Vell, | think I would have tal ked to her about
spironol actone, in that |I'mnot sure why she was taking
t he di phenhydram ne or hyal uronic acid, magnesi um
m noxi di |, and spironol actone.

Spi ronol actone is a potassiumsparing diuretic.

It has femnizing results, it decreases testosterone, so
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possi bly sonme of her conplaints were associated with that.

So that's something | would have tal ked to her
about .

| don't know how expansive you wish ne to be on
this.

Q Vel |, would you have done any ot her surgeries,
possi bly, or suggested thenf

A VWll, as | take a look at this case, let's |ook
on the -- take a |l ook at "Inpression.”

Q Yeah. Wuld it be helpful if you turn to page
19, or is it inpression that you want?

A | would start with page 18.

Q | mpr essi on, okay.

A Hypertrophy of the vulva, rectocele, stretching
or incontinence, dyspareunia, fenale orgasm dysfunction,
and pelvic and perineal pain.

So, if we -- and his recomendati ons for
hypertrophy of the vulva, he discussed various ways to do
the | abi aplasty. He felt she would benefit nost froma
scul pted linear resection of |abia mnora. He recommends a
clitoral hood reduction, which would be done at the sane
time.

In terms of the rectocele and cystocele, he
referred to Dr. Richard Wasserman, who is a urogynecol ogi st

at the Wnen's Cancer Center.
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In ternms of the dyspareunia and pelvic pain, he

correctly said no one can guarantee hundred-percent pain
relief because the painis nulti-factorial. | concur with
t hat .

He states that may be significantly reduced after
t he posterior col porrhaphy, and he would al so include a
perineorrhaphy. | would concur with that because | think
nost of her pain is fromscar tissue, as described in the
six o' clock position. Dr. Wasserman says fromfive to six
0' cl ock not on the posterior vagina.

So, if pain persists postop, there mght be a
hor monal conponent to the pain, and he woul d reconmend
conpounded and comnbi ned topical estrogen and testosterone
cream Gabapentin can also be used for pain or vagina
Val i um suppository. | ampersonally not famliar with
vagi nal Val i um suppository. Psychol ogy counseling m ght
al so help, given the long history of pain and physi cal
response when she is touched or penetrated vagi nally.

Q Ckay. Do any of these things involve surgery?

A Yes.

Q Ckay.

A Yes. The hypertrophy of the vulva, which would
be a | abioplasty surgery, repair of the rectocele, a
surgery, repair of stress urinary incontinence, a surgery

and/ or sonething |like a transvagi nal tape. The posterior
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col porrhaphy woul d address the rectocele.

One of the things that | probably woul d have done
is a vaginal pro ultrasound to see if there was any recta
sphincter tear, and to confirmor deny that, because your
approach to surgery maybe a little bit different.

It's interesting because various physicians who
have seen Patient A will state that this is type two
cystocele. If you take a look at in the pelvic prolapse, it
appears to be -- excuse me-- not a type two, but a stage
two. It could well be a stage one, according to
Dr. Wasserman's description.

It is interesting that Dr. WAsserman, when he's
di scussing his vaginal examor history or physical, he
states that he believes that the cosnesis is normal. In
ot her words, his statenment suggests that, perhaps, this |ady
does not need | abi apl asty.

As far as incontinence, generally, a stretch
urinary incontinence evaluation is with a urologist is
done if you have a stage two cystocele. [In my opinion,
this is a stage one.

You can do sonme conservative things at your
exam nation. So, QTip test, put in the urethra about
that far (indicating), have her bear down, once she's in
the dorsal position, if the QTip goes up greater than 20

degrees, that could suggest that she has genuine stress
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urinary 1 ncontinence.

Most of what she's speaking about is not urgent
incontinence. It appears to be stress incontinence,
possi bly from her obstetrical delivery or her tissue.

So | don't think a hundred percent you have to
do a full urodynam ¢ workup. You can fill her bl adder
with 500 ccs of saline and have her cough and then have
her pee and then you woul d catheterize the bl adder and
see how nmuch residual there is. Usually the cutoff is
200 ccs of residual urine. And that's suggestive of the
probl em

He's got -- Dr. Chanbers did a very thorough
eval uati on.

So to answer your question, what would |I have
done? | would have discussed with her whether or not she
was interested in a transvagi nal tape surgery. And the
risk and the benefits to that, if you did a cystocele
alone, the statistics are that 68.5 percent of repair of
cystoceles will take care of the problemat this, what |
would call it, stage one.

Now you can add to that pol ypropyl ene nmesh or
porci ne mesh. Most studi es suggest that the porcine nmesh
does not increase your benefit. |In other words, if
you' re unsuccessful, you m ght have to go back for

anot her attenpt.

Litigation Services | 800-330-1112
www. | i tigationservices.com| The LIT G oup 079F



http://www.litigationservices.com

TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS, VOLUME Il - 05/03/2023

1 But there is sonme data that suggests thatPage o

2 pol ypropyl ene nesh can -- it has better outcones, but you

3 have to discuss with the patient the risk, and there is

4 an increased risk of norbidity when you put pol ypropyl ene

5 mesh in there, to include erosion of pain and potenti al

6 infection.

7 So, if | was operating, | would probably woul d

8 suggest just a cystocele repair, which is the anterior

9 space, a posterior col porrhaphy and perineorrhaphy.

10 Now, no one has suggested that her cervix cones

11 down or her uterus comes down. Everyone's saying, in

12 exam nation of this lady, she has a seven centimeter

13 sized uterus, so she doesn't have that uterus come down,

14 and there is no suggestion that she has any index or

15 nmasses or variances.

16 One surgeon suggested a sacrospi nous suspensi on

17 wusing the da Vinci. | don't think that that is a

18 worthwhile recomendati on.

19 Q Thank you.

20 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Counsel, it is noon.

21 Do you want to --

22 MR WH TE: Do you want to take a break?

23 THE WTNESS: Can | add one bit to that.

24 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN. On, let's get to a

25 stopping point. | want to check with them down sout h.
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THE W TNESS: Just one sentence, in fairness.

|f the patient did want a | abiaplasty, certainly that
coul d be done too.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Need a break in the
south? Yes. [It's been awhile. Let's do a five- to
ten-m nute break.

Ms. Mooneyhan, are you good?

M5. MOONEYHAN: Yes. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Thank you.

(Recess from12: 03 P.M to 12:22 P.M)

HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Back on the record in

the matter of Dr. Ceorge Chanbers. Can you hear nme down

t here?
M5. MOONEYHAN:  Yes, Your Honor. Can you hear
us?
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Yes. Thank you.
Dr. Chanbers?
DR CHAMBERS: Yes, | can.
HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: Perfect. Al right.
M. Wite?
MR. WVH TE: Thank you.
BY MR WH TE:
Q Dr. Rafael, I'd like to refer you to page 18 of
Exhibit 3. 1Cs Exhibit 3, page 18. | want you to read

to yourself where it says "Data."
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A. Yes.

Q Wiat does that refer to?

A Dr. Chanbers had asked Patient Aif he can --
he took photographs of her vulva with Patient A's
personal nobile tel ephone.

Q Ckay. Would you do that or is that sonething
t hat ACOG woul d reconmmend?

A Well, to answer you first question, personally,
no, | would never do that.

Q Ckay. Would ACOG recomend doing it that way?

A. ACOG has rules. There are two rules, and |
bel i eve these are also H PAA rules. [I'mnot an authority
on it, though.

Two the rules are, nunber one, you de-identified
the patient, and, number two, that the phone is encrypted.
So | don't think -- you know, I'mnot a tech
genius, but I'"'mnot sure that the patient's phone was
encrypted nor when she sends that tel ephone nessage to
Dr. Chanbers, | would assume that her name woul d be on
there, and therefore deem her identified.

Q And de-identified could nmean many things;
right? You can't see their face, but it also could nmean
not identify to a phone nunmber; is that correct?

A To a phone nunber as well as a nane.

Q Did he have her -- fromwhat you read there,
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1 and it's his records, did he have her text the pictﬁ?%% o
2 to hinP
3 A "1 asked her to text the photographs to ne on
4 ny work nobile phone, should she decide to have ne
5 performthe recomended surgery." And, indeed, she did
6 text two photos to himof a -- | believe, twelve photos
7 taken.
8 Q If -- and that's correct. |If you were about to
9 do surgery on a patient during -- when you practiced,
10 woul d you take digital photos? How did you do that?
11 A No. | took no photos. | didn't want photos
12 ever to be misconstrued. Also you need to get rid of
13 photos if photos are taken for teaching purposes, you'd
14 take themfor clinical purposes, or you wite a paper.
15 But, no, | would not take photos of patients.
16 Q What did you use?
17 A | woul d use ny notes and ny recollection. But
18 you know, generally, just fromny notes, | know what
19 surgery | need to do.
20 Q Did you have pictures at your office?
21 A. No. Oh, do you nean --
22 Q |'msorry. Illustrations to show patients?
23 A Yes. Yes. W had illustrations, and | had
24 illustrations on ny desk, panphlets you could go through
25 with illustrations. So that is helpful.
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1 Q | s that how you went about describing to f%%e o
2 patient what the surgery m ght be?

3 A | woul d describe the surgery, | would use

4 illustrations to help themwth the anatony.

5 You know, you want your patient to be informed,
6 and | think that's part of the informng side of the

7 process.

8 Q And | think mssed it. D d you ever take

9 photos of a patient?

10 A No. Let ne take that back.

11 In ny day, | don't knowif they do it now, we
12 woul d have photos of babies, and those photos woul d be on
13 the wall. That, now, is a H PAA violation.

14 So all those photos of babies on the wall are
15 considered non, de-identified patients.

16 Q On what wall? Renown or Sr. Mary's?

17 A Vel |, again, when | was practicing, it was a

18 very comon, joyful event. You may have two or three or
19 a hundred fifty babies, and nonms would cone in, here's ny
20 child, and it was just a joyful thing.
21 Q |"'mgoing to ask you to turn to page 26 of the
22 sane exhibit, please.
23 A (Wtness conplied).
24 Q Wul d you read "general exam nation." Well,
25 actually, first of all, what does this say at the top?
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1 And please don't say that patient's nane. rage B
2 A Yes. | won't. Consultation notes, PCP Ceorge
3 Chanbers, dated 11/30/2020. And | believe this is

4 Dr. Wasserman's consultation, who is a urogynecol ogi st.

5 Q And so if you look, like, alnost right in the

6 mddle of page, it says "general exam nation."”

7 A General appearance?

8 Q And then general appearance, yep.

9 What does it say about -- how does it rate, |
10 guess, for lack of a better term the pelvic examright in
11 the mddle there?

12 A Ckay. Pelvic, normal; external genitalia,

13 non-tender, no nasses; small mdline uterus and cervi X,
14 seven centineters, and it's referring to the uterus;

15 inside hynmen -- oh, and cervix seven centineters inside
16 hynen, so that neans that this |ady does not have uterine
17 prolapse; rectocele, tw centineters inside hynen, so, if
18 this is the hymen, he's saying that were two centineters
19 above the hynen.

20 Q Ckay. Let nme stop you for a second.

21 A Cystocel e.

22 Q You' ve tal k about that before, possible

23 cystocele, rectocele; right?

24 A Correct.

25 Q And then junping down just a little bit it says
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1 "l spoke to patient," and then if you skip down to f%%e o

2 paragraph that says "her external vaginal," what does

3 that say?

4 A It says, "Her external vaginal has norma

5 cosnetics at this tinme."

6 Q Ckay. Thank you. [I'mgoing to ask you to --

7 so, what does that say? According to Dr. WAssernman,

8 her -- everything | ooked nornmal fromthe outside?

9 A Vell, | think what he's saying, nornal

10 cosnetics, he is not terribly inpressed with -- that he

11 thinks the cosnesis of her clitoral hood and | abia majora

12 and minora appear to himto be within normal range.

13 Q Wul d that al so suggest that Dr. Wassernman

14 doesn't agree that she needs any kind of cosnetic

15 surgery?

16 A | think what it suggests is that he doesn't

17 believe she needs | abiaplasty or a clitoral hood

18 reduction, that that is, in his opinion, normal.

19 Q Now |I'd like you to take a | ook at what's been

20 marked and admtted as Exhibit 4, and specifically page

21 337

22 A Yes.

23 Q Have you seen these photos?

24 A. Yes, | have.

25 Q Ckay. |'d ask you to, in your opinion, tell us
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1 what see on the lower left of the picture there? rage Y
2 A On the patient's right-hand side?

3 Q Ckay. Yes.

4 A OCkay. Well, obviously this is --

5 Q Wl l, what are we seeing right here, first of

6 all?

7 A Wl |, you' re seeing a photography of the vulva
8 withthe clitoris and clitoral hood framng on the

9 wurethra, the vagina, and her |abia, on the right-hand

10 side, there's a small hematoma, it [ooks like it's about
11 two centineters, that bluish area.

12 Q What coul d cause that? Let me ask | this way:
13 Can that happen during an exam nation?

14 DR CHAMBERS: (bjection. Leading the w tness.
15 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSIN: [I'msorry. | didn't
16 catch that.

17 DR CHAMBERS. (bjection. He's leading the

18 wi tness.

19 MR WHTE It's a yes or no question.
20 HEARI NG OFFI CER GHUSI N:  Overrul | ed.
21 BY MR VH TE:
22 Q Can that happen during an exam nation?
23 A Yes.
24 Q Wuld it be an exam nation that is rougher than
25 normal or rougher than it should be?
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Page 90

1 A Vell, potentially. [If you |look -- you go to
2 page 0038.
3 Q Whi ch one? 387
4 A. Yes. kay. Novenber 17th, 2020, 11:17 A M,
5 | do not see a hematonma on that. O on page 37, | see no
6 hematoma. Page 36, no hematoma. Page 35, no hemat oma
7 34, no hematoma. 33, Novenber 17th, 2020, 11:21, four
8 mnutes |ater, henatonn.
9 Q Thank you.
10 So how many photos do we see here -- and as you
11 reviewed it before, how many photos do we see here in
12 Exhibit 47
13 A Twel ve.
14 Q And how many are included in her records on
15 pages 20 and 21 of Exhibit 3?
16 A Two.
17 Q So, in your opinion, would the taking of ten
18 photographs that weren't used to illustrate the procedure
19 that may be done indicate that they were not for purposes
20 of nmedical exam nation for treatnment?
21 A. No. So just a correction, a total of fourteen.
22 Q Fourt een phot os?
23 A Yeah. One, two, and twelve on the other page.
24 | don't knowif two of themare the sane.
25 Q | think two of themare the sane.
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1 Ckay. In other words, were those other ten Sﬁgsogl
2 used for nedical purposes?

3 A | wish to be fair. Dr. Chanbers has taken a

4 course fromDr. Red Alinsod, who's a renowned -- | don't
5 know if he's a urogynecol ogist, but he's held in esteem
6 within the cosnmetic surgery comunity.

7 And Dr. Alinsod teaches nedical photography, and
8 Dr. Chanbers has taken courses to inprove his surgical

9 technique and surgery in this sexual gynecol ogical female
10 genital cosnesis.

11 And in that course, Dr. Alinsod has papers and
12 recomendations to take photos.

13 Q He doesn't recommend that they take photos wth
14 the patient's cell phone, does he?

15 A | do not know. | would be speculating if I

16 said anything other.

17 Q ' mgoing to ask your opinion on sonmething: |Is
18 it suitable -- it is acceptable to use four fingers in a
19 pelvic exanf

20 A Yes.

21 Q |'d like you to turn to page 18 of Exhibit 3,
22 about two-thirds of the way down the page, there's a

23 heading "vagina." Read that first sentence to yourself.
24 A Um hum

25 Q Ckay. Thank you.
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Did he say four fingers or two fingers in his

medi cal records there?
A He states:
"On sizing the introital opening with ny
two fingers, the vagina opened to a wdth

of seven centineters horizontal and

vertically."
Q And then if we turn the Exhibit 4, page 30 --
A Nunber 4, page 30?
Q Yes.
A Um hum
Q How many fingers is he using there?
A There are four fingers in the vagina.
Q Wul d you have docunented that you used four
fingers?
A No, | would not have.
Q You woul d not have?
A | woul d not have.
Q You woul d have docunented you only used two?
A | woul dn't document how many fingers.

Certain things are done on an everyday basis as a
gynecol ogi st. He's checking her pelvic floor, seeing if
there's -- sonetines we use the words "gaping vagina."

He knows how far that is. Sonmewhere | recal

using size 8 gloves, so he knows that that's four
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1 centineters, and this is actually abnornal. rage S
2 So, this exam in my opinion, is a perfectly

3 normal exam You put four fingers into the posterior floor
4 and push down because he's trying to evaluate the size of
5 the introitus. And a lot of her conplaints are in this

6 area.

7 Q So, in your opinion, was it sort of -- was it

8 sort of abnormal to put in here that there were -- that

9 he used two fingers to specify that?

10 A Well, | think he dictates a little bit

11 differently.

12 A normal examis done with two fingers in the

13 vagina, and if you're sizing the uterus, your left hand is
14 on the top of the uterus, and you're touching with your

15 right hand, the cervix, and you're examning the sides, if
16 there's any tenderness on the uterus.

17 But, generally, we don't -- you know, perhaps,
18 sone people use one finger. So, | don't see anything

19 abnormal with his exam
20 Q Ckay. And |'mnot saying there's anything
21 abnormal with the exam |'m saying why woul d sonebody
22 specify that they used two fingers when they used four,
23 at least in one picture.
24 A | would just say that that's what he typically
25 does. And, you know, | when | do a Pap snear, | use a
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speculum but | don't say -- well, sonetines | say |

pl aced the speculum but | don't always dictate that |
use a specul um

Some these things are so common. For us to think,
wel |, | have to docunent how many fingers | used in the
vagina, that's the way 